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P “...meeting community needs...enhancing quality of life.”

May 27, 2016

The Honorable Mayor Hanna

Chairman Plank and Members of the Common Council
City of Appleton:

Presented for your review is the Comprehenswe Annual Financial Report of the City of
Appleton for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

Management Representations

Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data, and the completeness and fairness of the
presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. To the best of our knowledge
and belief, the enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a
manner designed to present fairly the financial position and results of operations of the
City. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the City's
financial activities have been included.

Report Organization

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report is presented in four sections: Introductory,
Financial, Statistical and Single Audit. The Introductory Section includes this transmittal
letter, the City's organizational chart and a directory of officials. The Financial Section
includes the auditors’ report, management discussion and analysis, and the government-
wide and fund financial statements, along with the notes and supplementary information.
The Statistical Section includes selected financial and demographic information, generally

presented on a multi-year basis. The Single Audit Section is described in the following
paragraph.

The City is required to underge an annual single audit in accordance with Generally
Accepted Auditing Standards and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Information related to this single audit, including the schedule of federal and state financial
assistance, findings and recommendations and auditors’ reports on the internal control

structures and compliance with applicable laws and regulations, are presented under this
cover.



The Reporting Entity

The City provides a full range of services, including police and fire protection, sanitation
services, construction and maintenance of highways, streets and infrastructure, health
services, planning and development, library, recreational activities and cultural events. The
Water Utility, Wastewater Utility, Valley Transit System, Parking Ultility, Stormwater Utility.
and Reid Municipal Golf Course are reported as enterprise funds of the primary
government. The Appleton Redevelopment Authority and the Business Improvement
District component units are reported in the government-wide financial statements to
emphasize that they are legally separate from the primary government. However, the
school districts {Appleton, Menasha, Kimberly, Freedom, Hortonville), sanitary districts
(Grand Chute Sanitary District #1, Waverly Sanitary District, Darboy Sanitary District) and
Fox Valley Technical College do not meet the established criteria for inclusion in the
reporting entity and, accordingly, are excluded from this report. These entities are
independent jurisdictions with elected governing bodies and minimal financial
interdependency with the City.

Background Information

In 1634, Jean Nicolet, commissioned by Champlain to explore this region, paddied his way
up the Fox River from Green Bay. Various tribes of Indians roamed the lands of present
day Appleton, which was ceded by the Menominee [ndians to the United States in the
Treaty of 1831, During the first few years of its history, there were three villages where the
City of Appleton now stands: Lawesburgh on the east side, Grand Chute on the west end
and Appleton in the middle. The three villages were incorporated under the name of
Appleton in 1857. Very early, the Fox River improvements -- the building of dams and
canals making it possible to use the water power for industry -- gave impetus to the growth
of our City. The residents of our community are proud of Appleton's past and present; they
manifest a great confidence in its future and a dedication to its ongoing betterment.

Geographically, the City is located in northeast Wisconsin in Outagamie, Winnebago, and
Calumet Counties. Itlies 30 miles south of Green Bay and 90 miles north of Milwaukee on
Lake Winnebago. The City has a mayor/aldermanic form of government and fifteen
alderpersons. Alderpersons are elected for two-year alternating terms, while the mayoris
elected for a four-year term.

Because of its strategic location and population, the City of Appieton is the Metropolitan
Statistical Area {MSA) "central city" of the Appleton-Oshkosh-Neenah urban area as
defined by the Federal Office of Management and Budget. Thus, the City is an
"entitlement city" under the federal block grant program. Appleton is the county seat for
Outagamie County and the largest city in both Outagamie and Calumet Counties.

City service units and facilities include: police services (136 full-time equivalents (FTE's)),
fire protection (97 FTE’s), public works (97 FTE’s), administrative offices (60 FTE’s), health
services (14 FTE’s), parks and recreation (19 FTE’s), library services (46 FTE's),
transportation (54 FTE’s), facilities management (11 FTE’s) and water, wastewater,
stormwater and parking utilities (98 FTE’s). Of the City's 632 employees, 224 are
represented by the following bargaining units:
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« International Association of Firefighters, representing City firefighters;

+ Appleton Professional Policemen's Association, representing City non-supervisory
police professionals; 7

+ Teamster's Union Local 563, representing Valley Transit personnel.

Economic Condition and Outlook/Major Initiatives

The City of Appleton and the Appleton MSA has a well established labor force and is
known for its indusiry clusters of paper converting, insurance, health care, and
manufacturing. Unempioyment figures for the City continued a positive trend in 2015. The
December, 2015 unemployment rate of 3.6% represented a .4% decrease compared to the
December, 2014 rate of 4.0% and is well below the national average of 4.8%. Additionally,
City residents continued to enjoy above average earnings evidenced by the average gross
income per income tax return of $55,550 (2014 rate).

The City continued a positive trend in equalized value in 2015 experiencing a $120 million
(2.56%) increase in value to $4.8 billion as of January 1, 2015. This increase follows a
1.61% increase in 2014. Included in the increase is an additional $51 million (1.1%)
related to net new construction. The percentage increase in net new construction is a key
component in determining the allowable property tax levy for the City. The increase in this
factor allows the City fo raise property tax revenues to help offset the increasing costs of
services to its citizens and meet other ongoing obligations.

The City saw an increase in the number and doilar value of construction permits in 2015.
Much of the increase was due to Thedacare’s new cancer center and the Cancer Center of
Wisconsin's new facility. Those two projects alone comprised $55 million of the permit
activity in 2015. Appleton’s total dollar value of construction in 2015 was $144,450,267,
which is an increase of 110% from the 2014 amount of $68,559,764. A significant
contributor to this year’s high dollar value of construction is from the commercial segment.
Commercial construction permit values spiked in 2015 to $102,085,061 from 2014's
$29,704,352 in estimated value. This is a significant increase attributable to a few large
projects started in 2015 including the two cancer centers mentioned previously, an
expansion by Neenah Papers, and several multi-family projects. The total dollar value of
single family permits increased to $19,433,400 from $18,208,000. 2015 was also a record
year in terms of average permit value of new home construction of $335,059. This figure
continues the upward trend since the low in 2009 of $202,539.

The promotion of commercial and industrial development continues to remain one of the
City’s top priorities. One way this has been accomplished is through the creation of several
Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Districts, which have allowed the City to install the
infrastructure needed to stimulate development and provide an ample supply of industrial
park land. Despite an overall 1.31% decrease in TIF values in 2015, due mainly to the
change in the City’'s assessment ratio from 101.5 to 100 from 2014 to 2015, TIF District 8,
which lies along the Fox River corridor, continues to experience significant development.
In 2015, due to both residential condominiums and commercial development in the
Riverheath project, the value of the TIF district increased $1,168,100 or 7.22%. Also, the
former Foremost Farms site in TIF 8, which the City took title to in 2011, has been
remediated and the City is currently in discussions with a development firm to construct a
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multi-family senior housing complex at that location. In conjunction with the improving local
economy, businesses continue to gravitate towards the City. During 2015, 105 new
businesses opened in the City while 54 closed, resulting in a net gain of 51. This
improvement adds to the net gain of 34 businesses in the City in 2014.

In the City's south-side growth area, more than 100 acres of fully improved industrial sites
are available in the Southpoint Commerce Park, while TIF 7 continues to support the
rehabilitation and development of the urban corridor adjacent to State Highway 441. A
planned upgrade of the highway will likely increase traffic, further enhancing the area'’s
attractiveness to commercial development. In the City's north-side growth area, the City
has just under 3 acres of industrial land available in the Northeast Business Park for future
development, and privately owned land north of I-41 is available for office developments in
the same vicinity.

Combined with a large selection of residential lots in established subdivisions as well as
redevelopment in the downtown and along the riverfront, the City of Appleton is well
positioned to continue to grow and remain a leader in the Fox Cities.

Financial Information

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control
structure designed to ensure that the assets of the City are protected from loss, theft or
misuse and to ensure that adequate accounting data is compiled to allow for the
preparation of financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance
recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be
derived; and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by
management.

Single Audit

As a recipient of federal, state and county financial assistance, the City is also responsible
for establishing an adequate internal control structure to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations related to those programs. This system of internal controls is subject
to periodic evaluation by management.

As a part of the City's single audit, described earlier, tests are made to determine the
adequacy of the internal controls, including that portion related to federal and state
financial assistance programs, as well as to determine that the City has complied with
applicable laws and regulations.

Budgetary Controls

‘The City of Appleton maintains budgetary controls in order to ensure compliance with legal
provisions embodied in the annual budget approved by the Common Council. Activities of
the general fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, capital projects funds,
enterprise funds and internal service funds are included in the annual budget. In addition,
project length financial plans are adopted for most capital projects funds. The level of
budgetary control (that is, the level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed the
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appropriated amount) is at the total fund 'expenditure level. The City also maintains an
encumbrance accounting system as one technique of accomplishing budgetary control.

Encumbered amounts lapse at year-end. However, encumbrances can be re-éppropriated
as part of the following year's budget through formal Council action.

As demonstrated by the statements and schedules included in the Financial Section of this
report, the City continues to meet its responsibility for sound financial management.

Enterprise Operations

The City's enterprise operations are comprised of six separate and distinct activities: Water
Utility, Wastewater Utility, Stormwater Utility, Valley Transit, Parking Utility, and Reid
Municipal Golf Course.

Retirement Program: The City participates in the Wisconsin Retirement System, a cost-
sharing multiple-employer.defined benefit public employee system. Contribution benefit
formulas and eligibility are all determined by the system, and explained in footnote V.A. of
this report.

. Debt Administration: As of December 31, 2015, the City had 30 debt issues outstanding.
These issues included $31,535,000 of general obligation bonds and notes and
$127,940,000 of revenue bonds. The City enjoys an “Aat” rating from Moody's Investors
Service on general obligation debt and an “Aa2” on wastewater, water and stormwater
revenue bonds. Under Wisconsin statutes, general obligation debt is subject to a legal
ceiling of 5% of the total equalized value of real and personal property within the City.
However, the City's own policy limits debt outstanding to 40% of that calculated amount.
As of December 31, 2015, the City's net general obligation debt of $29,839,327 was well
below the legal limit of $240,837,740 (12.39%), and debt per capita equaled $405. The
City adheres to an aggressive repayment policy and uses capital financing to augment a
“pay as you go” philosophy.

Cash Management: Cash temporarily idle during the year was invested in demand
deposits, U.S. government and agency securities, corporate bonds, the State of Wisconsin
Local Government Investment Pool, repurchase agreements, and Government Money
Markets. The City and its proprietary funds earned investment revenue of $1,051,147 (net
of unrealized losses) on all investments for the year ended December 31, 2015.

The City’'s investment policy objective is to minimize credit and market risks while
maintaining a competitive yield on its portfolio. Deposits are insured by federal depository
insurance up to $250,000 for time and savings accounts and $250,000 for demand deposit
accounts (interest-bearing and non-interest bearing). In addition, if deposits are held in
an institution outside of the State, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000
for the combined amount of all deposits. Investments in the State of Wisconsin Local
Government Investment Pool, although unsecured, are insured and considered very safe
since the pool’s primary investment is government securities.




Risk Management: The City became a member of the Cities and Villages Mutual
Insurance Company on January 1, 1990. To join the mutual insurance company, the City
issued a $2,300,000 taxable general obligation promissory note payable to the company.
The mutual insurance company is comprised of numerous Wisconsin cities and villages
pooling their risk in the exposure areas of general liability, auto liability, workers
compensation, and police professionals’ and public officials' liability. The pool is
capitalized in excess of $25,000,000 and has experienced 27 years of better than
actuarially expected loss experience. The City anticipates substantial annual cost savings,
increased self-insured levels (as accumulated funds grow) and advances in safety
programs to further reduce our risk.

Independent Audit

City policy is in accordance with state and federal requirements to provide for an annual
audit by independent certified public accountants. The accounting firm of Baker Tilly
Virchow Krause, LLP was selected by the City. |n addition to meeting the requirements
set forth by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the audit also was
designed to meet the requirements of the State Single Audit Guidelines and Uniform
Guidance. The independent auditors' report is included in the Financial Section of this
report. The independent auditors’' reports related specifically to the single audit are
included in the Single Audit Section. As part of the examination, the independent auditors
are also issuing an internal control letter covering their review of the City's system of
internal control over financial reporting and tests of compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grants. The management and compliance letter will not
modify or affect this report in any way.
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BAKER TILLY

Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
Ten Terrace Ct, PO Box 7398
Madison, WI 53707-7398

tel 608 249 6622

fax 608 249 8532

bakertilly.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the City Council
City of Appleton
Appleton, Wisconsin

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Appleton, Wisconsin, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Appleton's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control over financial reporting relevant to the City of Appleton's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City
of Appleton's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

&‘“’) an independent member of

BAKER TILLY Xiv
INTERNATIONAL



To the City Council
City of Appleton

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Appleton,
Wisconsin, as of December 31, 2015 and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note I, the City of Appleton adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting

and Financial Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 and GASB Statement No. 71,
Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date - an amendment of GASB
Statement No. 68, effective January 1, 2015. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required supplementary
information as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Appleton's basic financial statements. The supplementary information, which includes the
schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements and the State Single
Audit Guidelines, as listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary
information is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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To the City Council
City of Appleton

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Appleton's basic financial statements. The introductory and statistical sections are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 27, 2016 on our
consideration of the City of Appleton's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the City of Appleton's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Bk T%L Vichno buawde, (L

Madison, Wisconsin
May 27, 2016
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CITY OF APPLETON

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
UNAUDITED

As management of the City of Appleton, Wisconsin, we offer readers of the City’s financial statement this
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2015. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the
City’s financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

e The assets of the City of Appleton exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by
$628,912,255. Of this amount, $83,690,726 may be used to meet the City’s obligations to citizens
and creditors. The remaining amount is either subject to external restrictions on the utilization of the
funds, or is invested in infrastructure capital assets. This compares to $66,107,573 that was available
at the end of 2014, an increase of $17,583,153.

e At the close of the fiscal year, the City of Appleton’s governmental funds reported combined ending
fund balances of $26,006,098, a small decrease of $81,543 from the 2014 balance of $26,087,641.
Although the net decrease was relatively minor, it represents a $150,867 increase in the general fund
balance along with a $1,530,102 increase in the fund balance of Tax Incremental Financing District
(TIF) 3 offset by a $1,762,512 decrease in other governmental funds. The increase in TIF 3 was due
to debt service obligations dropping off considerably in 2014 while revenues remained stable. The
decrease in the other governmental funds was due mainly to a $2 million late-year purchase of land
for a proposed exhibition center. General obligation bonds will be issued in 2016 to reimburse the
City for this purchase.

e |n accordance with GASB Statement No. 68 which requires governmental entities participating in the
Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) to report their proportionate share of the plan’s activity and net
pension asset, $8,638,294 has been recorded as a restricted asset in 2015. As of the December 31,
2014 measurement date used for the 2015 financial statements, WRS reported total resources
available to provide pension benefits of $92.1 billion. They also reported a total liability for pensions
of $89.7 billion, resulting in a net pension asset of $2.4 billion. The City’s proportionate share of this
asset is $8,638,294.

e Tax Incremental Financing District (TIF) 5 was closed in 2015. The small district spurred the
development of the Bell Heights plaza on Wisconsin Avenue along with other smaller projects. The
TIF District was formed in 1999 with a base value of $4,669,500. At the time of closing, the equalized
value had grown to $12,046,700, an increase of $7,377,200. The district had accumulated a fund
balance of $674,194 which was distributed to the overlying taxing jurisdictions including a $237,923
payment to the City of Appleton.

e The employment base in Appleton and the Fox Cities remains competitive and stable.
Unemployment rates continue to drop (3.6% as of December, 2015) as the local economy continues
to improve. The City's overall equalized value increased $120 million (2.56%) to $4.8 billion as of
January 1, 2015, and the total dollar value of construction increased 110% from $68,559,764 in 2014
to $144,450,267 in 2015.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.)
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UNAUDITED

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial
statements. The City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-
wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements and 3) notes to the financial statements. This
report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements
themselves.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the
City’s finances in a format similar to a private sector business.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between them reported as net
position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the
financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. To assess the overall health of the City,
consideration must also be given to additional non-financial factors such as changes in the City’s property
tax base and the condition of the City’s infrastructure.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the
fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported when the underlying event giving rise to the change
occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in
this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected
taxes and earned but unused compensated absences).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from functions that are
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type
activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government; public safety; public
works; education and recreation; and community development.

The major business-type activities of the City include Valley Transit and the Water, Stormwater, and
Wastewater Utilities.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City of Appleton itself (known as the
primary government), but also two component units, the Appleton Redevelopment Authority and the
Business Improvement District, that are separate legal entities for which the City of Appleton is financially
accountable. Financial information for these component units is reported separately from the financial
information presented for the primary government itself.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 1 to 3 of this report.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the
funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds — Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows
and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end
of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’'s near-term financing
requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’'s near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between
governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains 40 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balances for the General Fund and TIF 3, both of which are considered to be major
funds. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.
Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the form of combining
statements elsewhere in this report.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 4 to 6 of this report.

Proprietary Funds — The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used
to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements. The City uses enterprise funds to account for its Wastewater, Water, Stormwater and Parking
Utilities, Valley Transit and Reid Golf Course. The City uses internal service funds to account for its fleet
management, facilities maintenance, insurance, and post-employment benefit programs. The services
provided by these funds predominately benefit the government rather than the public. They have been
included within the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only
in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for Valley Transit
and the Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utilities since they are considered to be major funds of the
City.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.)
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UNAUDITED

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)

Data from the other enterprise funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund
data for each of these non-major enterprise funds is provided in the form of combining statements
elsewhere in this report. All internal service funds are also combined into a single, aggregated column in
the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund information is provided in the Supplementary
Section of this report.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 7 to 16 of this report.

Fiduciary Funds — Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because
the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used
for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. The City uses a fiduciary fund to account
for its property tax collection activities. The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on
page 17 of this report.

Notes to the Financial Statements — The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the financial statements can be found on pages 21 to 78 of this report.

Other Information — In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, required
supplementary information presents a detailed budgetary comparison schedule for the General Fund and
TIF 3, as well as a schedule of funding progress for the City’s post-employment benefits plan, and
schedules of the City’s proportionate share of the Wisconsin Retirement System net pension asset and
employer annual contributions to the plan. These schedules and the related notes can be found on
pages 79 to 83 of this report. The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and other information related to the individual funds are presented
immediately following the required supplementary information. Combining and individual statements and
schedules can be found on pages 84 to 107 of this report.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE

An analysis of the City’s financial position begins with a review of the Statement of Net Position and the
Statement of Activities. These two statements report the City’s net position and changes therein.

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial
position. In the case of the City of Appleton, assets exceeded liabilities by $628,912,255 as of December
31, 2015.

The largest portion of the City’s net position (approximately 82%) reflects its investment in capital assets
less any outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; consequently they are not liquid and available for future spending. Although the
City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.)
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UNAUDITED

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.)

CITY OF APPLETON’S NET POSITION

Current and Other Assets
Capital Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Other Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Current and Other Assets
Capital Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Other Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Business-
Governmental Type
Activities Activities
2015 2015 Totals
$ 112,232,019 $ 78,762,076 $ 190,994,095
344,896,370 312,560,765 657,457,135
457,128,389 391,322,841 848,451,230
7,487,117 4,091,029 11,578,146
9,043,152 4,338,495 13,381,647
41,204,351 133,733,315 174,937,666
50,247,503 138,071,810 188,319,313
42,698,421 99,387 42,797,808
317,294,433 201,093,139 518,126,723
16,722,531 10,372,275 27,094,806
37,652,618 45,777,259 83,690,726
$ 371,669,582 $ 257,242,673 $ 628,912,255
Business-
Governmental Type
Activities Activities
2014 2014 Totals
$ 106,044,105 $ 73,786,050 $ 179,830,155
336,199,672 309,080,888 645,280,560
442 243,777 382,866,938 825,110,715
- 922,642 922,642
9,283,357 3,953,951 13,237,308
39,148,664 131,990,204 171,138,868
48,432,021 135,944,155 184,376,176
42,446,741 87,058 42,533,799
311,002,481 202,937,976 513,303,524
10,320,311 9,391,974 19,712,285
30,042,223 35,428,417 66,107,573
$ 351,365,015 $ 247,758,367 $ 599,123,382
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.)
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UNAUDITED

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.)

An additional portion of the City’s net position (approximately 4.3%) represents resources that are subject
to external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position of
$83,690,723 may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligation to its citizens and creditors.

Analysis of the City’s Operations — The following table provides a summary of the City’s operations for
the year ended December 31, 2015. Governmental activities increased the City of Appleton’s net position

by $5,918,993.

Of this amount, $3,098,887 was contributed from others. Business-type activities

increased the City’s net position by $6,380,990. Capital contributions in the business-type activities were

$1,620,365.

CITY OF APPLETON
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Revenues:
Program Revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions

General Revenues:
Property taxes
Other taxes
Intergovernmental
Investment income (loss)
Gain (loss) on sale of assets
Miscellaneous

Total Revenues

Expenses:

General government

Public safety

Public works

Education and recreation

Community development

Interest and fiscal charges

Water Utility

Wastewater Utility

Valley Transit

Stormwater Utility

Other non-major proprietary funds
Total Expenses

Increases in net position before transfers
Transfers

Increase in net position
Net Position — January 1, 2015 (as restated)

Net Position — December 31, 2015

Business-
Governmental Type
Activities Activities

2015 2015 Totals
8,178,939 $ 46,259,142 54,438,081
4,759,479 6,423,200 11,182,679
3,732,097 1,614,633 5,346,730
42,370,280 - 42,370,280
2,221,892 - 2,221,892
12,128,645 - 12,128,645
1,564,038 487,109 2,051,147
581,314 16,203 597,517
109,739 18,906 128,645
75,646,423 54,819,193 130,465,616
9,888,959 - 9,888,959
29,359,348 - 29,359,348
19,143,986 - 19,143,986
8,367,690 - 8,367,690
4,126,206 - 4,126,206
1,602,888 - 1,602,888
- 15,713,959 15,713,959
- 10,578,004 10,578,004
- 9,121,137 9,121,137
- 7,533,937 7,533,937
- 2,729,519 2,729,519
72,489,077 45,676,556 118,165,633
3,157,346 9,142,637 12,299,983
2,761,647 (2,761,647) -
5,918,993 6,380,990 12,299,983
365,750,589 250,861,683 616,612,272
371,669,582 $ 257,242,673 628,912,255
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.)

CITY OF APPLETON
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION (cont.)

Business-
Governmental Type
Activities Activities
2014 2014 Totals
Revenues:
Program Revenues:
Charges for services $ 11,465,846 $ 45,088,319 56,554,165
Operating grants and contributions 5,176,021 6,645,898 11,821,919
Capital grants and contributions 2,136,172 2,114,336 4,250,508
General Revenues:

Property taxes 41,592,801 - 41,592,801
Other taxes 879,474 - 879,474
Intergovernmental 12,194,949 - 12,194,949
Investment income (loss) 1,956,537 1,211,173 3,167,710
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 163,000 - 163,000
Miscellaneous 93,078 12,260 105,338
Total Revenues 75,657,878 55,071,986 130,729,864

Expenses:
General government 12,886,169 - 12,886,169
Public safety 29,125,321 - 29,125,321
Public works 19,683,637 - 19,683,637
Education and recreation 8,284,600 - 8,284,600
Community development 3,569,399 - 3,569,399
Interest and fiscal charges 1,719,014 - 1,719,014
Water Utility - 15,118,304 15,118,304
Wastewater Utility - 10,323,873 10,323,873
Valley Transit - 9,355,275 9,355,275
Stormwater Utility - 7,182,067 7,182,067
Other non-major proprietary funds - 2,297,108 2,297,108
Total Expenses 75,268,140 44,276,627 119,544,767
Increases in net position before transfers 389,738 10,795,359 11,185,097
Transfers 2,534,089 (2,534,089) -
Increase in net position 2,923,827 8,261,270 11,185,097
Net Position — January 1, 2014 348,441,188 239,497,097 587,938,285
Net Position — December 31, 2014 $ 351,365,015 $ 247,758,367 $ 599,123,382
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UNAUDITED

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT'S FUNDS

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The focus of the City of Appleton’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’'s
financing requirements. In particular, fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the government’s
net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

At the end of current fiscal year, the City of Appleton’s governmental funds reported combined ending
fund balances of $26,006,098. In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement
No. 54 — Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, the City has classified the
governmental fund balance as follows: 1) nonspendable $8,342,254; 2) restricted $3,478,831; 3)
committed $1,276,478; 4) assigned $17,480,980; and 5) unassigned ($4,572,445). Nonspendable funds
include amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in spendable form (inventories or prepaid
expenses, for example), or are legally required to remain intact. Restricted funds consist of amounts that
have externally enforceable limitations placed on their use by creditors, grantors, contributors, or other
governments, or by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Committed funds include
amounts that are constrained for specific purposes through formal action of the highest level of decision
making authority, usually the City Council. Assigned funds consist of spendable amounts that are
intended to be used for specific purposes but are not considered restricted or committed. Unassigned
funds include the residual balance within the general fund which has not been classified within the other
categories. Unassigned fund balance may also include deficit balances for any governmental fund if
expenditures exceed amounts restricted, committed, or assigned for those purposes. Further
explanations of fund balance classifications can be found in Note 1.D.11 of the financial statements.

The $4,572,445 unassigned deficit noted above represents $11,429,020 of positive unassigned general
fund balance offset by a $14,402,959 deficit in TIF funds, $1,563,471 deficit in capital projects funds, and
$35,035 reimbursement receivable in the grant funds. The TIF deficits are expected to be recovered
through future tax increments in the districts, the capital project deficits are expected to be reimbursed
through a 2016 bond issuance, and the grant deficit is related primarily to the timing of grant draws and is
expected to be recovered in 2016.

General Fund: The general fund is the main operating fund of the City. The general fund has a detailed
reserve policy that ensures the financial stability of the City of Appleton. The reserve policy stipulates that
the total unreserved fund balance (excluding designations for debt service) will be 25% of the following
year’s budgeted appropriations. It also calls for a designated balance for debt service of 25% of the
ensuing year’s debt service requirements. 75% of any excess funds over these amounts will be used for
the reduction of long-term liabilities. Use of the remaining excess funds is subject to recommendation
from the Finance Committee and final Council approval. This policy has allowed the City to keep its
outstanding debt well below the legal debt limit. The City is currently at 12.39% of the limit and has a
debt per capita of $405.
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For the year ended December 31, 2015, the general fund balance increased $150,867, compared to a
$35,000 decrease projected in the 2015 budget. The main reason for the positive variance was savings
in several areas including fuel costs, employee salary and benefit costs related to vacancies throughout
the year, and a mild winter which reduced snow and ice removal expenses. In addition, reimbursements
for road construction, the closeout of TIF 5, and an increase in building permits combined to provide
unanticipated revenue.

Tax Incremental Financing District 3: TIF 3 is closed for project expenditures but continues to exist in
order to recover project costs from tax increments over its remaining statutory life. The increment
continues to fail to cover debt service obligations. Funding was made available from an advance from the
Parking Utility of $1,200,000 in 2015. The District is estimated to close prior to paying the majority of
principal or any interest to the Parking Utility (meaning the Parking Utility will have paid for a portion of the
parking structures constructed within the district, rather than being funded by the tax increment). This
projection is subject to change if more development occurs in the district than anticipated.

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

The City of Appleton’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-
wide financial statements, but in more detail.

Water Utility: Water Utility operating income was $8,563,346 in 2015, or a 6.74% rate of return on the net
investment rate base. This compares to operating income of $8,453,315 in 2014, or a 7.08% rate of
return. The slight increase in operating income was caused mainly by an increase in water sales to
wholesale customers. The completion of the regulatory upgrade process improvement project of $6
million impacted the financial statement with an increase to depreciation expense for the new equipment
and a loss of $327,585 for the early retirement of equipment that was replaced as part of the project.
Operation and maintenance expenses also reflect an increase in chemical costs from 2015. The increase
to capital contributions is due to the addition of infrastructure for a new subdivision and two housing
related projects funded by developers.

Wastewater Utility: The Wastewater Utility recorded operating income of $1,133,556 in 2015 compared
to operating income of $1,186,504 in 2014. Revenue from special hauled waste continues to increase,
reflecting the 10% rate increase on July 1, 2015. However, this increase in revenue was offset by
increased operating expenses during the year. Chemical expenses increased in 2015 due to additional
chemical needs during the year. Additional amounts were also spent for ongoing maintenance projects
that were delayed in 2014 due to changes in maintenance staffing. The transfers out reflect a $500,000
transfer to the Stormwater Utility to partially fund the relocation of a leaking stormwater interceptor at the
wastewater treatment plant grounds.

Stormwater Utility: Stormwater Utility operating income was $3,539,261 in 2015 compared to operating
income of $3,658,349 in 2014. Although operating income decreased slightly, operating revenues
actually increased due to an increase in the number of billable equivalent residential units (ERU’s) caused
by new construction, and a mid-year ordinance change to the calculation of multi-family ERU’s.
Unfortunately, the $140,000 increase in revenue was more than offset by increased operating expenses
in 2015. Depreciation expense increased due to the addition of more detention ponds and infrastructure
during the year. Additionally, operations and maintenance expenses increased due to additional sewer
cleaning and street sweeping that was completed due to warm weather conditions in December. The
transfers-in reflect a $500,000 transfer from the Wastewater Utility to partially fund the relocation of a
leaking stormwater interceptor at the wastewater treatment plant grounds.
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Valley Transit: Operating revenues increased $30,042 in 2015, mainly due to an overall increase in non-
transportation revenue, partially offset by a reduction in farebox revenue. Valley Transit saw a slight
decrease in fixed route ridership during 2015 (-2.4%) and an overall increase in the use of paratransit
services (3.2%). Passenger fares for transit services decreased $13,363 in 2015. Valley Transit raised
some of the fixed route fares at the beginning of 2015. The single ride regular fare was raised from $1.80
per ride to $2.00 (approximately 11%) per ride. Valley Transit also incorporated a youth fare ($.75 per
ride/$22.00 for a 30 day pass) which is a reduction in fares for passengers under 18 years of age who
previously paid the full fare. A fare increase typically results in reduced ridership. The decrease in
farebox revenue can be attributed to a greater use of 30 day senior/disabled tickets and an increase in
the youth fares.

Operating expenses decreased by $236,585. The operating expense reduction was led by declining fuel
costs (decreased $224,816). Also, purchased transportation services were re-bid late in 2014, resulting
in an overall reduction of $132,317 in 2015. However, these decreases were partially offset by personnel
costs which increased approximately 1.8% due a contractual increase under the labor agreement with
union employees, partially offset by lower contributions to the Wisconsin Retirement System.

Since the majority of transit assets are funded by federal capital grants, which typically provide 80%
funding for asset acquisition, net position in years in which there are no major capital acquisitions can be
expected to decline by 80% of depreciation expense. In total, however, Valley Transit's net position
increased by $365,348 in 2015 (after restatement of beginning fund balance), which reflects the adoption
of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68 (GASB 68) regarding pension reporting.
Adoption of this reporting standard added a net pension asset and deferred outflows related to pension of
$458,657 to Valley Transit's balance sheet.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The final amended General Fund budget had total appropriations (including transfers) of $3,549,879 more
than the original budget. The total original appropriations, including those for transfers out, were
$59,728,505, while the final appropriations were $63,278,384. A large part of the increase, $1,627,793,
was related to contingency funds established in the past that were carried over from 2014 into 2015 to
safeguard against uncertainties in the economy. This consists of reserves for fuel costs ($137,315) and
wage increases ($148,370), an amount to guard against future potential State aid reductions ($849,107),
and an overall general contingency fund for unforeseen emergencies or catastrophic events ($402,298),
along with unspent funds ($90,703) from a franchise fee settlement with a cable service provider.

The remaining increase in the 2015 Budget of $1,921,086 was related to $446,818 of unexpended 2014
budget funds carried over to pay for expenses that were incurred in 2015. Additionally, various budget
increases were approved by the City Council throughout the year including $845,330 of surplus general
fund balance to reduce the 2015 bond issuance, $263,610 for legal fees and settlement costs related to
commercial building assessments, and $190,000 for vacation and accumulated sick leave benefits paid to
employees who retired in 2015.
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CAPITAL ASSETS

By the end of 2015, the City had invested a total of $657,457,135 in capital assets (net of accumulated
depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, land improvements, buildings, machinery
and equipment, infrastructure and construction work in progress. Major capital asset events during the
current fiscal year included the following:

Water: Transmission and distribution capital outlay accounted for $2.9 million of expenses and will
continue to be a focus due to an aging distribution system. The regulatory upgrade and process
improvement project (RUPIP) was completed in 2015, total cost for the multi-year project was $6 million.
Additionally, the multi-year meter system replacement project continued into 2015 and accounted for $1.6
million of costs.

Wastewater: Additions included $1.64 million in improvements to the wastewater collection system.
Additionally, an $835,000 project at the wastewater treatment plant to replace two bar screens and a
$400,000 project to upgrade and install a generator at the Everett Street lift station were also completed.

Stormwater: Improvements necessary to continue our efforts in the management of stormwater in the
City accounted for $2 million in additions to land, mains, detention ponds and facilities in order to comply
with regulations. The Birchwood Pond was completed in 2015 for a cost of $255,928 and land was
purchased in the amount of $200,000 for another pond located near Northland Avenue. A project to
relocate a leaking stormwater interceptor at the wastewater treatment plant started late in the year, with
costs incurred in 2015 of $1.9 million.

General: The largest general fixed asset expenditures in 2015 were for land acquisitions, consisting
primarily of $2,060,000 for the acquisition of land from Outagamie County for construction of an exhibition
center, and the acquisition of the former site of the Appleton Water Treatment Plant on the shore of the
Fox River that was designated by the City Council as park land.

As proper maintenance of City facilities is important to their longevity and safe operation, significant
investments were made to structures and equipment at various facilities. Major building projects included
partial roof replacements at the library and the City’s Municipal Services Building ($358,390), replacement
and upgrade of emergency generators at three of the City’s six fire stations and the Municipal Services
Building ($331,981), and replacement and upgrade of the parking area around Fire Station One
($194,274).

Quality of life enhancements are another major area of City investment. Projects included a variety of
park enhancements, some of which were final construction work on a new band shell attached to the
pavilion in Pierce Park ($216,650 of a total cost of $544,406), replacement of parking facilities adjacent to
the baseball diamonds in Memorial Park ($182,547), and construction or replacement of tennis courts in
several parks ($63,956).

Other general fixed asset investments included a disaster recovery system for the City’s electronic data
($143,194), a redesign and upgrade to the City’'s web site to make it more customer-friendly and to
provide a platform for future enhancements of on-line service delivery ($59,208), and the first steps in
replacement of the City’s mainframe computer with an enterprise resource planning (ERP) system
($114,650).

Finally, maintaining existing infrastructure continues to remain a high priority for the City, with
approximately $5.8 million invested in various street and sidewalk infrastructure projects throughout the
City.
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CITY OF APPLETON

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
UNAUDITED

CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)

CAPITAL ASSETS AT YEAR-END
NET OF ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities
2015 2015 Totals

Land $ 11,317,326 % 13,104,119 $ 24,421,445
Right-of-ways 73,699,164 - 73,699,164
Land improvements 38,712,539 - 38,712,539
Intangible assets 277,186 1,171,003 1,448,189
Improvements 11,559,319 - 11,559,319
Buildings 46,485,449 421,829,385 468,314,834
Equipment, furniture and fixtures 33,979,430 77,316,999 111,296,429
Streets 172,642,175 - 172,642,175
Sidewalks 31,809,409 - 31,809,409
Traffic signals 5,804,999 - 5,804,999
Bridges 43,878,746 - 43,878,746
Construction in progress 5,864,273 4,269,083 10,133,356
Accumulated depreciation (131,133,645) (205,129,824) (336,263,469)

Totals $ 344,896,370 $ 312,560,765 $ 657,457,135

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities
2014 2014 Totals

Land $ 9,193,063 $ 12,763,768 $ 21,956,831
Right-of-ways 73,132,166 - 73,132,166
Land improvements 38,624,813 - 38,624,813
Intangible assets 63,916 904,746 968,662
Improvements 10,425,495 - 10,425,495
Buildings 45,556,446 411,518,944 457,075,390
Equipment, furniture and fixtures 32,915,866 72,812,948 105,728,814
Streets 167,605,083 - 167,605,083
Sidewalks 31,006,393 - 31,006,393
Traffic signals 5,448,581 - 5,448,581
Bridges 43,878,746 - 43,878,746
Construction in progress 3,140,276 8,545,847 11,686,123
Accumulated depreciation (124,791,172) (197,465,365) (322,256,537)

Totals $ 336,199,672 $ 309,080,888 $ 645,280,560
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CITY OF APPLETON

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
UNAUDITED

LONG-TERM DEBT

During 2015, the City issued $5,775,000 of general obligation debt and retired $4,350,000 of general
obligation bonds and notes, resulting in an outstanding balance of $31,535,000 at December 31, 2015.
Additionally, the City issued $32,160,000 of revenue bonds while retiring $31,880,000 of bonds. Included
in the revenue bonds issued were $28,402,100 of refunding debt to refund $22,585,000 of existing
revenue bonds, resulting in an economic gain of $2,043,284.

Under Wisconsin State Statutes Chapter 67, the City of Appleton’s aggregate indebtedness may not
exceed 5% of the equalized value of taxable property located in the City. The net amount of debt that is
applicable to the statutory limit is $29,839,327 ($31,535,000 less reserves on hand) which is 12.39% of
the legal limit of $240,837,740. Furthermore, City policy limits aggregate debt to 40% of the legal limit.
The debt outstanding at December 31, 2015 is 31.1% of that limit.

CITY OF APPLETON'S OUTSTANDING DEBT - GENERAL OBLIGATION
AND REVENUE BONDS

Governmental Business-Type
Activity Activity
2015 2015 Totals
General obligation bonds and notes
payable $ 30,900,000 $ 635,000 $ 31,535,000
Revenue bonds - 127,940,000 127,940,000

Total Outstanding General
Obligation and Revenue Bonds $ 30,900,000 $ 128,575,000 $ 159,475,000

Governmental Business-Type
Activity Activity
2014 2014 Totals
General obligation bonds and notes
payable $ 29,415,000 $ 695,000 $ 30,110,000
Revenue bonds - 127,660,000 127,660,000

Total Outstanding General
Obligation and Revenue Bonds $ 29,415,000 $ 128,355,000 $ 157,770,000

Additional information on the City of Appleton’s long-term debt can be found in footnote IV F. of this
report.

CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS/ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

Paper manufacturing, insurance, health care, higher education and public sector institutions dominate the
local employment base. The paper industry continues to experience pricing pressures, although
employment at the largest local paper manufacturing company, Appvion Inc., remains relatively stable.
The City’s largest employer, Affinity Health Systems, a health care provider, employs more than 5,000
people and also remains stable.
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CITY OF APPLETON

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (cont.)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
UNAUDITED

CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS/ECONOMIC CONDITIONS (cont.)

The City’s unemployment rate showed steady improvement over the year, dropping .4% from 4.0% in
December, 2014 to 3.6% in December, 2015.

The City's equalized value increased by $120 million to $4.8 billion, which represents 29% of the
equalized value of the Fox Cities area. The increase is attributable to improvements in the real estate
market as well as new construction.

As the economy continues to improve, the promotion of commercial and industrial development remains
one of the City’s top priorities. This has been accomplished through the creation of several TIF Districts,
which have allowed the City to install the infrastructure necessary to stimulate development while
maintaining an adequate supply of industrial park land and developable sites. In TIF 6, the City’s
Southpoint Commerce Park is poised for development with over 100 acres of fully improved industrial
sites. These parcels, coupled with a large selection of residential lots in new subdivisions along with
continuing development of the downtown and riverfront, position the City of Appleton for healthy growth
for years to come.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

The financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a general
overview of the City’s finances. If you have questions about this report or need any additional information,
contact the City of Appleton, Attn: Anthony D. Saucerman, CPA, Finance Director at 1-920-832-6440 or at
tony.saucerman@appleton.org.

General information relating to the City of Appleton, Wisconsin, can be found at the City’s website,
www.appleton.org.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

As of December 31, 2015

ASSETS

Cash and investments
Receivables

Taxes

Deferred loans

Accounts

Special assessments

Delinquent special assessments

Developer loans

Accrued interest

Other

Note receivable - component unit

Note receivable - primary government
Due from other governments
Internal balances - interfunds
Internal balances - advances
Inventories
Prepaid items
Restricted Assets

Cash and investments

Accrued interest

Net pension asset
Investment in WMIC
Land held for resale
Capital Assets

Land

Construction in progress

Intangible assets

Depreciable capital assets, net of depreciation

Total Assets

Primary Government

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred charge on refunding
Pension related amounts

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
Other accrued liabilities and deposits
Claims payable
Due to other governments
Unearned revenue
Deposits
Noncurrent Liabilities

Due within one year

Due in more than one year

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unearned revenue

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

Business-
Governmental Type Component
Activities Activities Totals Units
$ 30,403,712 $ 38,112,690 $ 68,516,402 $ 361,816
44,591,490 - 44,591,490 -
6,447,638 - 6,447,638 -
1,104,619 8,262,980 9,367,599 -
798,017 278,555 1,076,572 -
8,306 - 8,306 -
2,658,601 - 2,658,601 -
340,682 - 340,682 -
1,172,737 469,288 1,642,025 60,374
500,000 - 500,000 -
- - - 290,000
5,982,600 1,822,056 7,804,656 -
361,791 (361,791) - -
160,000 (160,000) - -
1,020,052 657,519 1,677,571 -
69,132 24,758 93,890 -
- 27,977,924 27,977,924 -
- 145,275 145,275 -
7,105,472 1,532,822 8,638,294 -
2,020,950 - 2,020,950 -
7,486,220 - 7,486,220 534,850
123,729,029 13,104,119 136,833,148 -
5,864,273 4,269,083 10,133,356 -
179,110 1,171,003 1,350,113 -
215,123,958 294,016,560 509,140,518 -
457,128,389 391,322,841 848,451,230 1,247,040
- 2,461,043 2,461,043 -
7,487,117 1,629,986 9,117,103 -
7,487,117 4,091,029 11,578,146
2,030,271 2,006,938 4,037,209 12,627
2,114,241 666,246 2,780,487 -
4,837,000 - 4,837,000 -
- 1,280,510 1,280,510 -
- 384,801 384,801
61,640 - 61,640 -
7,604,999 4,244,913 11,849,912 15,000
33,599,352 129,488,402 163,087,754 775,000
50,247,503 138,071,810 188,319,313 802,627
42,698,421 99,387 42,797,808 193,125
317,294,433 201,093,139 518,126,723 -
16,722,531 10,372,275 27,094,806 -
37,652,618 45,777,259 83,690,726 251,288
$ 371,669,582 $ 257,242,673 $ 628,912,255 $ 251,288

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary Government
Governmental Activities
General government $ 9,888,959 $ 1,310,772 $ - $ -
Public safety 29,359,348 1,192,074 772,178 -
Public works 19,143,986 3,876,838 2,772,940 3,671,515
Education and recreation 8,367,690 811,043 1,209,527 60,582
Community development 4,126,206 988,212 4,834 -
Interest 1,602,888 - - -
Total Governmental Activities 72,489,077 8,178,939 4,759,479 3,732,097
Business-Type Activities
Water 15,713,959 20,994,942 - 499,184
Wastewater 10,578,004 11,163,377 - 608,884
Valley transit 9,121,137 1,593,398 6,423,200 -
Stormwater 7,533,937 9,207,428 - 506,565
Other non-major enterprise funds 2,729,519 3,299,997 - -
Total Business-Type Activities 45,676,556 46,259,142 6,423,200 1,614,633
Total Primary Government $ 118,165,633 $ 54,438,081 $ 11,182,679 $ 5,346,730
Component Units
Business Improvement District $ 188,657 $ 192,684 $ - $ -
Appleton Redevelopment Authority 293,903 - 350,000 -
Total Component Units $ 482,560 $ 192,684 $ 350,000 $ -

General Revenues
Taxes
Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes, levied for debt service
Other taxes
Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to
specific programs
Investment income
Gain on the sale of assets
Miscellaneous
Transfers

Total General Revenues and Transfers

Change in net position

NET POSITION - Beginning (As Restated)

NET POSITION - ENDING

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position
Primary Government

Governmental  Business-Type Component
Activities Activities Totals Units

$ (8,578,187) $ - $ (8578187) $ -
(27,395,096) - (27,395,096) -
(8,822,693) - (8,822,693) -
(6,286,538) - (6,286,538) -
(3,133,160) - (3,133,160) -
(1,602,888) - (1,602,888) -
(55,818,562) - (55,818,562) -
- 5,780,167 5,780,167 -
- 1,194,257 1,194,257 -
- (1,104,539) (1,104,539) -
- 2,180,056 2,180,056 -
- 570,478 570,478 -
- 8,620,419 8,620,419 -
(55,818,562) 8,620,419 (47,198,143) -
- - - 4,027
- - - 56,097
- - - 60,124
39,770,280 - 39,770,280 -
2,600,000 - 2,600,000 -
2,221,892 - 2,221,892 -
12,128,645 - 12,128,645 -
1,564,038 487,109 2,051,147 920
581,314 16,203 597,517 -
109,739 18,906 128,645 -
2,761,647 (2,761,647) - -
61,737,555 (2,239,429) 59,498,126 920
5,918,993 6,380,990 12,299,983 61,044
365,750,589 250,861,683 616,612,272 190,244
$ 371,669,582 257,242,673 $ 628,912,255 $ 251,288

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
As of December 31, 2015

Tax
Incremental Other Total
District Governmental ~ Governmental
General No. 3 Funds Funds
ASSETS

Cash and investments $ 17,961,364 $ 261,372 $ 10,121,545 $ 28,344,281
Receivables

Taxes 35,142,736 918,463 8,530,291 44,591,490

Deferred loans - - 6,447,638 6,447,638

Accounts 353,508 - 751,111 1,104,619

Special assessments 360,314 - 437,703 798,017

Delinquent special assessments 8,306 - - 8,306

Developer loans 1,058,601 - 1,600,000 2,658,601

Accrued interest 340,682 - - 340,682

Other 223,009 - 633,800 856,809
Due from other governments 5,570,845 - 400,880 5,971,725
Due from other funds 4,052,342 - 53,073 4,105,415
Note receivable - component unit - - 500,000 500,000
Inventories 970,906 - - 970,906
Prepaid items 25,872 - - 25,872
Advances to other funds 15,121,296 - - 15,121,296

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

$ 81,189,781 $

1,179,835 $ 29,476,041

$ 111,845,657

Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 967,913 $ - $ 889,529 $ 1,857,442
Other accrued liabilities 1,836,415 - 25,249 1,861,664
Claims payable 2,937,000 - - 2,937,000
Due to other funds 1,153,189 - 1,756,015 2,909,204
Deposits - - 61,640 61,640
Advances from other funds - 10,992,427 3,968,869 14,961,296
Total Liabilities 6,894,517 10,992,427 6,701,302 24,588,246
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenue 33,477,718 918,463 8,302,240 42,698,421
Unavailable revenue 9,217,746 - 9,335,146 18,552,892
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 42,695,464 918,463 17,637,386 61,251,313
Fund Balances
Nonspendable 8,342,254 - - 8,342,254
Restricted - - 3,478,831 3,478,831
Committed - - 1,276,478 1,276,478
Assigned 11,828,526 - 5,652,454 17,480,980
Unassigned (deficit) 11,429,020 (10,731,055) (5,270,410) (4,572,445)
Total Fund Balances 31,599,800 (10,731,055) 5,137,353 26,006,098
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES $ 81,189,781 $ 1,179,835 $ 29,476,041
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the
funds. See Note II.A. 332,476,201
Land held for resale is not a financial resources and, therefore, is not reported in the funds. 7,486,220
Some receivables that are not currently available are reported as unavailable revenue in the fund financial
statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in the government-wide statements. 18,552,892
The net pension asset does not relate to current financial resources and is not reported in the governmental funds. 6,811,541
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial resources and are not reported
in the governmental funds 7,176,882
Internal service funds are reported in the statement of net position as governmental funds. 13,213,208
Some liabilities, including long-term debt, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds. See Note II.A. (40,053,460)

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Tax
Incremental Other Total
District Governmental Governmental
General No. 3 Funds Funds
REVENUES
Taxes $ 33,561,615 $ 994,264 $ 10,036,294 $ 44,592,173
Intergovernmental 15,469,342 1,729 1,499,611 16,970,682
Licenses and permits 1,147,980 - - 1,147,980
Fines and forfeitures 273,814 - - 273,814
Special assessments 470,806 - 843,242 1,314,048
Investment income 1,687,586 6,149 112,829 1,806,564
Charges for services 1,311,008 - 1,464,821 2,775,829
Other 2,065,768 - 3,628,559 5,694,327
Total Revenues 55,987,919 1,002,142 17,585,356 74,575,417
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government 6,996,188 1,659 503,371 7,501,218
Public safety 28,537,213 - 381,998 28,919,211
Public works 13,045,495 - 3,124,666 16,170,161
Education and recreation 7,804,714 - 1,933 7,806,647
Community development 1,699,819 - 2,398,468 4,098,287
Capital Outlay - - 13,292,522 13,292,522
Debt Service
Principal - - 4,287,333 4,287,333
Interest and fiscal charges - 571,068 1,105,049 1,676,117
Total Expenditures 58,083,429 572,727 25,095,340 83,751,496
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (2,095,510) 429,415 (7,509,984) (9,176,079)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of city property 21,139 - - 21,139
General obligation debt issued - - 5,775,000 5,775,000
Premium on debt issued - - 222,457 222,457
Transfers in 3,713,574 1,200,000 3,401,141 8,314,715
Transfers out (1,488,336) (99,313) (3,651,126) (5,238,775)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 2,246,377 1,100,687 5,747,472 9,094,536
Net Change in Fund Balances 150,867 1,530,102 (1,762,512) (81,543)
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - Beginning 31,448,933 (12,261,157) 6,899,865 26,087,641
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - ENDING $ 31,599,800 $ (10,731,055) $ 5,137,353 $ 26,006,098

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities

are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures. However, in the
statement of net position the cost of these assets is capitalized and they are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives with depreciation expense reported

in the statement of activities.

Total capital asset additions - paid for with City funds
Total capital asset additions - contributed to the City

Less: capital outlay and expenditures capitalized in the internal service funds
Less: close-out of prior year CWIP

Depreciation is reported in the government-wide statements

Net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets (i.e., sales, trade-ins)

is to decrease net position.

Land held for resale is reported in the funds as expenditures and revenues. However, in the statement

of net position, the cost of these assets are capitalized.

Receivables not currently available are reported as unavailable revenue in the fund financial

statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in the government-wide

financial statements.

Interest charged on advances

Developer loans
Rehabilitation loans

Accounts receivable/interest income

Special assessments

Debt issued provide current financial resources to governmental funds,
but issuing these obligations increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net

position. Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the

repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.

Debt issued
Principal repaid

Some expenses in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources

and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds.

Compensated absences

Disability benefits
Pension liability
Postclosure care cost

Accrued interest on debt

Net pension asset

Deferred outflows related to pensions

Governmental funds report debt premiums and discounts as other financing sources (uses)
or expenditures. However, in the statement of net position, these are reported as additions to or
deductions from long-term debt. These are allocated over the period the debt is outstanding in

the statement of activities and are reported as interest expense.

Premium
Amortization

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of self insurance

and central equipment agency costs to individual funds. The increase in net
position of the internal service funds is reported with governmental activities.

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$ (81,543)
$17,623,892
3,098,887
(3,291,574)
(1,283,857) 16,147,348
(7,518,438)
(972,899)
(102,958)
(237,634)
(81,666)
(53,995)
90,557
(504,491) (787,229)
(5,775,000)
4,287,333
(158,557)
5,115
48,062
90,000
19,518
(4,165,875)
4,363,809
(222,458)
57,796
684,969
$ 5918993



CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
As of December 31, 2015

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Wastewater Valley
Utility Utility Transit
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and investments $12,101,210 $12,864,209 $ 41,583
Accounts Receivable
Customer accounts 4,634,422 1,850,684 -
Special assessments - 249,880 -
Other 33,371 230,608 164,013
Due From Other Governments
Federal government - - 640,369
State of Wisconsin - - 873,205
Local governments - - 308,482
Due from other funds 495,298 404,420 -
Inventories 341,939 155,832 159,748
Prepaid items - - 24,758
Restricted Assets
Cash and investments - 653,668 -
Total Current Assets 17,606,240 16,409,301 2,212,158
Noncurrent Assets
Restricted Assets
Cash and investments 10,224,720 8,036,939 1,481,216
Accrued interest 50,935 59,125 -
Net pension asset 313,505 477,991 429,647
Investment in WMIC - - -
Capital Assets
Land 1,216,470 798,184 891,831
Construction in progress 1,390,388 257,494 -
Intangible assets 248,067 300,238 -
Building and improvements 139,894,290 139,226,755 3,860,428
Equipment, furniture and vehicles 32,056,241 36,087,879 8,690,967
Less: Accumulated depreciation (53,042,512) (92,505,435) _ (9,975,037)
Total Noncurrent Assets 132,352,104 92,739,170 5,379,052
Total Assets 149,958,344 109,148,471 7,591,210
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unamortized loss on refunding 1,996,929 - -
Pension related amounts 332,440 498,164 458,657
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 2,329,369 498,164 458,657




Continued on
Next Page

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Other Activities -

Stormwater Enterprise Internal
Utility Funds Totals Service Funds
$ 11,890,199 $ 1,215,489 $ 38,112,690 $ 2,059,431
1,777,874 - 8,262,980 -
28,675 - 278,555 -
12,193 29,103 469,288 315,928
- - 640,369 -
- - 873,205 10,875
- - 308,482 -
200,398 - 1,100,116 -
. - 657,519 49,146
- - 24,758 43,260
2,492,008 - 3,145,676 -
16,401,347 1,244,592 53,873,638 2,478,640
5,089,373 - 24,832,248 -
35,215 - 145,275 -
232,477 79,202 1,532,822 293,931
- - - 2,020,950
6,978,188 3,219,446 13,104,119 -
2,621,201 - 4,269,083 228,474
622,698 - 1,171,003 -
114,697,179 24,150,733 421,829,385 -
28,000 453,912 77,316,999 26,692,283
(31,417,886)  (18,188,954) (205,129,824)  (14,500,588)
98,886,445 9,714,339 339,071,110 14,735,050
115,287,792 10,958,931 392,944,748 17,213,690
464,114 - 2,461,043 -
249,149 91,576 1,629,986 310,235
713,263 91,576 4,091,029 310,235

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
As of December 31, 2015

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Wastewater Valley
Utility Utility Transit
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 987,083 $ 106,338 $ 299,363
Compensated absences 158,739 115,047 167,836
Other accrued liabilities 42,196 26,323 45,104
Claims payable - - -
Due to other governments - - 1,280,510
Due to other funds 1,950,146 - -
Unearned revenues - - 384,801
Current portion of general obligation debt - - -
Current portion of advance from other funds - - -
Current Liabilities Payables From Restricted Assets
Revenue bonds payable - 830,000 -
Accrued interest - 100,335 -
Total Current Liabilities 3,138,164 1,178,043 2,177,614
Noncurrent Liabilities
General obligation debt payable - - -
Revenue bonds and notes payable 66,810,000 13,785,000 -
Advance from other funds - - -
Compensated absences 149,348 116,707 118,202
Other postemployment benefit liability - - -
Unamortized premium of debt issuance 2,474,202 167,884 -
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 69,433,550 _ 14,069,591 118,202
Total Liabilities 72,571,714 15,247,634 2,295,816
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unearned revenue - - -
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 64,700,391 72,862,471 3,468,189
Restricted for
Debt service 50,935 581,458 -
DNR replacement fund - 3,580,896 -
Capital replacement fund - 1,006,803 1,481,216
Pensions 313,505 477,991 429,647
Unrestricted 14,651,168 15,889,382 374,999
TOTAL NET POSITION $79,715,999 $94,399,001 $ 5,754,051

Amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Internal service fund net position allocated to the business-type activities

NET POSITION OF BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES



Continued From
Previous Page

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Other Activities -
Stormwater Enterprise Internal
Utility Funds Totals Service Funds
$ 573,147 $ 41,007 $ 2,006,938 $ 172,829
74,773 43,518 559,913 128,038
17,434 18,854 149,911 36,650
- - - 1,900,000
- - 1,280,510 -
- - 1,950,146 346,181
- - 384,801 -
- 60,000 60,000 18,917
- 5,000 5,000 -
2,795,000 - 3,625,000 -
416,000 - 516,335 -
3,876,354 168,379 10,538,554 2,602,615
- 575,000 575,000 161,753
43,720,000 - 124,315,000 -
- 155,000 155,000 -
42,432 50,633 477,322 85,975
- - - 972,135
1,478,994 - 4,121,080 -
45,241,426 780,633 129,643,402 1,219,863
49,117,780 949,012 140,181,956 3,822,478
- 99,387 99,387 -
51,061,951 9,000,137 201,093,139 12,408,009
2,138,145 - 2,770,538 -
- - 3,580,896 -
- - 2,488,019 -
232,477 79,202 1,532,822 293,931
13,450,702 922,769 45,289,020 999,507
$ 66,883,275 $ 10,002,108 256,754,434 $ 13,701,447
488,239

$ 257,242,673

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND
NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Other

Total Operating Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (Loss)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income
Interest expense
Debt issuance costs
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets
Amortization of prior losses on refunding of bonds
Amortization of premium on debt issuance
Subsidies from other governmental units
Other

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Income (Loss) before contributions
and transfers

Capital contributions
Transfer in

Transfers out - tax equivalent
Transfers out

Change in Net Position

TOTAL NET POSITION - Beginning (As Restated)

TOTAL NET POSITION - ENDING
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Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Wastewater Valley

Utility Utility Transit
$ 20,480,338 $ 9,617,422 $ 1,486,214
514,604 1,545,955 107,184
20,994,942 11,163,377 1,593,398
8,078,526 6,781,627 8,468,237
4,353,070 3,248,192 641,396
12,431,596 10,029,819 9,109,633
8,563,346 1,133,558 (7,516,235)
156,814 200,727 3,024
(2,708,421) (549,687) -
(296,109) - -
(327,585) (31,185) -
(145,615) - -
244,475 19,438 -
- - 6,423,200
18,906 - -
(3,057,535) (360,707) 6,426,224
5,505,811 772,851 (1,090,011)
502,381 608,884 -
- - 585,506
(1,950,147) - -
(22,788) (617,450) -
4,035,257 764,285 (504,505)
75,680,742 93,634,716 6,258,556
$ 79,715,999 $ 94,399,001 $ 5,754,051

Internal service funds change in net position
allocated to the business-type activities

Change in Net Position Business-type Activities



Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds  Governmental
Other Activities -
Stormwater Enterprise Internal
Utility Funds Totals Service Funds
$ 09,123964 $ 2,738,431 $ 43,446,369 $ 6,577,874
83,464 561,566 2,812,773 781,419
9,207,428 3,299,997 46,259,142 7,359,293
3,155,156 2,168,316 28,651,862 7,916,166
2,513,011 547,618 11,303,287 2,228,048
5,668,167 2,715,934 39,955,149 10,144,214
3,539,261 584,063 6,303,993 (2,784,921)
117,941 8,603 487,109 2,262
(1,656,573) (14,280)  (4,928,961) (4,087)
(127,924) - (424,033) -
- 16,203 (342,567) 322,152
(41,127) - (186,742) -
123,563 - 387,476 -
- - 6,423,200 -
- - 18,906 5,603
(1,584,120) 10,526 1,434,388 325,930
1,955,141 594,589 7,738,381 (2,458,991)
509,100 - 1,620,365 3,242,144
500,000 - 1,085,506 -
- - (1,950,147) -
(32,500) (1,230,000)  (1,902,738) (308,561)
2,931,741 (635,411) 6,591,367 474,592
63,951,534 10,637,519 13,226,855
$ 66,883,275 $ 10,002,108 $ 13,701,447
(210,377)
$ 6,380,990

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from customers
Paid to suppliers for goods and services
Paid to employees for services

Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Tax equivalent paid to municipality
Negative cash implicitly financed
Transfers out
Operation subsidies received from other governmental units
Net Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Debt issued
Premium received on debt issued
Costs of issuing debt
Principal paid on long-term debt
Interest paid on long-term debt
Principal paid on advance
Capital contributed by others
Capital transfers to (from) other funds
Special assessments received

Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income

Investments sold and matured
Purchases of investments

Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR
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Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water
Utility

Wastewater

Utility

Valley
Transit

$21,111,364 $11,266,138 $ 1,684,598

(6,651,734)  (5,489,027)  (6,093,847)
(1,607,988)  (1,432,076)  (2,768,802)
12,851,642 4,345,035  (7,178,051)
(1,822,080) - -
(22,788) (617,450) -

- - 7,355,186
(1,844,868) (617,450) 7,355,186
(6,538,798)  (2,810,515) -
3,950,000 - -
1,461,877 - -
(296,109) ; ]
(5,960,000) (795,000) -
(2,802,301) (615,021) -
110,636 95,765 -
4,964 320,628 -
(10,069,731)  (3,804,143) -
324,100 392,185 3,024
5,008,477 4,144,089 -
(5,051,743) _ (3,850,000) -
280,834 686,274 3,024
1,217,877 609,716 180,159
12,350,099 12,432,406 1,342,640

$13,567,976 $13,042,122 $ 1,522,799




Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental

Other Activities -
Stormwater Enterprise Internal
Utility Funds Totals Service Funds

$ 9,274,847 $ 3,330,554 $46,667,501 $ 7,049,725

(2,312,987)  (1,148,195) (21,695,790)  (5,294,746)
(933,429)  (1,024,690)  (7,766,985)  (2,281,494)
6,028,431 1,157,669 17,204,726 (526,515)
- - (1,822,080) -

- - - 346,181

(32,500)  (1,230,000)  (1,902,738) (308,561)

- - 7,355,186 -

(32,500)  (1,230,000) 3,630,368 37,620
(3,832,014) (17,852) (13,199,179) -
- - - 295,561
3,757,900 - 7,707,900 -
676,351 - 2,138,228 -
(127,924) - (424,033) -
(2,540,000) (60,000)  (9,355,000) (7,667)
(1,735,973) (14,280)  (5,167,575) (4,087)
- (5,000) (5,000) -

127,565 - 333,966 -
500,000 - 500,000 -
64,791 - 390,383 -
(3,109,304) (97,132) (17,080,310) 283,807
220,540 8,603 948,452 2,262
2,775,993 - 11,928,559 -
(2,876,743) - (11,778,486) -
119,790 8,603 1,098,525 2,262
3,006,417 (160,860) 4,853,309 (202,826)
10,274,982 1,376,349 37,776,476 2,262,257

$13,281,399 $ 1,215489 $42,629,785 $ 2,059,431

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss)
to Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Nonoperating income
Depreciation expense
Depreciation charged to other funds/accounts
Changes in Noncash Components of Working Capital
Customer accounts receivable
Other accounts receivable
Due from other governments
Due from other funds
Inventories
Prepaid items
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Accrued liabilities
Accrued compensated absences
Pension related deferrals and assets
Postemployment benefits liability
Unearned revenues

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Cash and investments - statement of net position - proprietary funds
Restricted cash and investments - statement of net position -
proprietary funds
Current
Noncurrent
Less: Noncash equivalents

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR

NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Contributed property and equipment
Interest charged to construction
Capital costs special assessed to customers
Investment valuation adjustments
Loss on refunding of debt
Debt refunded
Refunding debt issued
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Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Wastewater Valley

Utility

Utility

Transit

$ 8,563,346 $ 1,133,558 $ (7,516,235)

18,906
4,353,070
122,805

(105,589)
3,271

77,029
(23,705)

20,164

(88,902-)
(77,522)
(11,231)

3,248,192

(22,381)
88,112

37,030
1,261

(34,893-)

(70,29é)
(27,123)
(8,425)

641,396
5,930
52,490
(279,782)
22,528
(671)
(47,885)
(76,081)
(18,451)

38,710

$12,851,642 $ 4,345,035

$ (7,178,051)

$12,101,210 $12,864,209 $ 41,583
- 653,668 -
10,224,720 8,036,939 1,481,216
(8,757,954) _ (8,512,694) -

$13,567,976 $13,042,122 $ 1,522,799

$ 391,745 $

93,880

(164,286)
1,497,770
17,175,000
18,785,000

328,601
60,997
184,518

(186,547)

$ -



Continued From
Previous Page

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental

Other Activities -
Stormwater Enterprise Internal
Utility Funds Totals Service Funds

$ 3,539,261 $ 584,063

2,513,011 547,618

15,266 -
(12,193) 18,228
64,346 -
(50,647) 2,952
(30,998) (10,702)

1,344 13,607
(10,959) (10,426)
- 12,329

$ 6,303,993 $ (2,784,921)

18,906 5,603
11,303,287 2,228,048
128,735 -
(112,704) -
149,908 (278,289)

- (10,875)

(101,377) -
84 27,040

(671) (43,260)
(110,309) (5,660)
(276,979) (49,245)
(89,694) 3,702
(59,492) (9,081)

- 390,423

51,039 -

$ 6,028,431 $ 1,157,669

$17,204,726 $ (526,515)

$11,890,199 $ 1,215,489

$38,112,690 $ 2,059,431

2,492,008 - 3,145,676 -
5,089,373 - 24,832,248 -
(6,190,181) - (23,460,829) -

$13,281,399 $ 1,215,489

$42,629,785 $ 2,059,431

$ 469,174 $
45,435 -
42,036 -
(98,439)
257,086 -
5,410,000
5,667,100 -

$ 1,189,520 $ 3,242,144
200,312 -
226,554 -
(449,272) -
1,754,856 -

22,585,000 -
24,452,100 -

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
AGENCY FUND
As of December 31, 2015

Tax Collection

Fund
ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 53,966,225
Property taxes receivable 18,758,353
TOTAL ASSETS $ 72,724,578
LIABILITIES
Due to other taxing authorities $ 72,655,037
Accounts payable 69,541
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 72,724,578

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - COMPONENT UNITS
As of December 31, 2015

Business Appleton
Improvement Redevelopment
District Authority Totals
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and investments $ 152,578 $ 209,238 $ 361,816
Other accounts receivable 60,374 - 60,374
Note receivable - primary government - 15,000 15,000
Land held for resale - 534,850 534,850
Total Current Assets 212,952 759,088 972,040
Noncurrent Assets
Note receivable - primary government - 275,000 275,000
Total Noncurrent Assets - 275,000 275,000
Total Assets 212,952 1,034,088 1,247,040
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable 12,627 - 12,627
Note payable - 15,000 15,000
Total Current Liabilities 12,627 15,000 27,627
Noncurrent Liabilities
Note payable - primary government - 500,000 500,000
Note payable - 275,000 275,000
Total Noncurrent Liabilities - 775,000 775,000
Total Liabilities 12,627 790,000 802,627
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unearned revenue 193,125 - 193,125
NET POSITION
Unrestricted 7,200 244,088 251,288
TOTAL NET POSITION $ 7,200 $ 244,088 $ 251,288

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES - COMPONENT UNITS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions  Contributions
Major Component Units
Business Improvement District $ 188,657 $ 192,684 $ - % -
Appleton Redevelopment Authority 293,903 - 350,000 -
Total Component Units $ 482560 $ 192,684 $ 350,000 $ -

General Revenues
Investment income

Total General Revenues

Change in net position

NET POSITION - Beginning

NET POSITION - ENDING
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Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

Business Appleton
Improvement Redevelopment
District Authority Totals
$ 4,027 $ - % 4,027
- 56,097 56,097
4,027 56,097 60,124
605 315 920
605 315 920
4,632 56,412 61,044
2,568 187,676 190,244
$ 7,200 $ 244,088 $ 251,288

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies of the City of Appleton, Wisconsin (the City) conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. The accepted
standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles is the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

A. REPORTING ENTITY

This report includes all of the funds of the City. The reporting entity for the City consists of the primary
government and its component units. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the
primary government is financially accountable or other organizations for which the nature and significance
of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause the reporting
entity’s financial statements to be misleading. The primary government is financially accountable if (1) it
appoints a voting majority of the organization’s governing body and is able to impose its will on that
organization; (2) it appoints a voting majority of the organization’s governing body and there is a potential
for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the
primary government; (3) the organization is fiscally dependent on and there is a potential for the
organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the primary
government. Certain legally separate, tax exempt organizations should also be reported as a component
unit if all of the following criteria are met: (1) the economic resources received or held by the separate
organization are entirely or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the primary government, its component
units, or its constituents; (2) the primary government, or its component units, is entitled to, or has the
ability to access, a majority of the economic resources received or held by the separate organization; and
(3) the economic resources received or held by an individual organization that the primary government, or
its component units, is entitled to, or had the ability to otherwise access, are significant to the primary
government.

Component units are reported using one of two methods, discrete presentation or blending. Generally,
component units should be discretely presented in a separate column in the financial statements. A
component unit should be reported as part of the primary government using the blending method if it
meets any one of the following criteria: (1) the primary government and its component unit have
substantively the same governing body and a financial benefit or burden relationship exists; (2) the
primary government and the component unit have substantially the same governing body and
management of the primary government has operational responsibility for the component unit; (3) the
component unit serves or benefits, exclusively or almost exclusively, the primary government rather than
its citizens; or (4) the total debt of the component unit will be paid entirely or almost entirely from
resources of the primary government.

Discretely Presented Component Units
Business Improvement District

The government-wide financial statements include the Business Improvement District of the City of
Appleton ("District") as a component unit. The District is a legally separate organization. The board of the
District is appointed by the mayor of Appleton and approved by City Council. Wisconsin Statutes provide
for circumstances whereby the City can impose its will on the District, and also create a potential financial
benefit to or burden on the City. See Note IV. K. As a component unit, the District’s financial statements
have been presented as a discrete column in the financial statements. The information presented is for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. Separately issued financial statements of the Business
Improvement District of the City of Appleton may be obtained from Appleton Downtown Incorporated,
which is located at 116 North Appleton Street, Appleton, WI 54912.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoOLICIES (cont.)

A. REPORTING ENTITY (cont.)
Discretely Presented Component Units (cont.)
Redevelopment Authority of the City of Appleton

The government-wide financial statements include the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Appleton
(“Redevelopment Authority”) as a component unit. The Redevelopment Authority is a legally separate
organization. The board of the Redevelopment Authority is appointed by the mayor of Appleton and
approved by the City Council. Wisconsin Statutes provide for circumstances whereby the City can impose
its will on the Redevelopment Authority, and also create a potential financial benefit to or burden on the
City. See Note IV. K. As a component unit, the Redevelopment Authority's financial statements have
been presented as a discrete column in the financial statements. The information presented is for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. Separately issued financial statements of the Redevelopment
Authority of the City of Appleton may be obtained from the Redevelopment Authority's office, which is
located at 100 North Appleton Street, Appleton, Wi 54911.

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Government-Wide Financial Statements

In June 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 68 — Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions —
an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27. This statement establishes standards for measuring and
recognizing assets, liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and
expense/expenditures related to pensions. In November 2013, the GASB issued Statement No. 71 —
Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date — an amendment of
GASB Statement No. 68. This statement addresses an issue regarding application of the transition
provisions of Statement No. 68. These standards were implemented January 1, 2015.

The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. The
statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities. Governmental activities
generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange revenues.
Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or
services. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate
component units for which the primary government is financially accountable.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. The City does not allocate indirect expenses to functions in the statement of
activities. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly
benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function
or segment. Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported as general
revenues. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program
revenues.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoOLICIES (cont.)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
Fund Financial Statements

Financial statements of the City are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a separate
accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts,
which constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net
position/fund balance, revenues, and expenditure/expenses.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds, and fiduciary
funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in
the fund financial statements.

Funds are organized as major funds or nonmajor funds within the governmental and proprietary
statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary categories. A
fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the City or meets the following criteria:

a. Total assets/deferred outflows of resources, liabilities/deferred inflows of resources, revenues, or
expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund are at least 10% of the
corresponding total for all funds of that category or type, and

b. The same element of the individual governmental fund or enterprise fund that met the 10% test is
at least 5% of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds combined.

c. In addition, any other governmental or proprietary fund that the City believes is particularly
important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

Major Governmental Funds
General Fund — accounts for the City’s primary operating activities. It is used to account for all
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
Tax Incremental District (TID) No. 3 Special Revenue Fund — accounts for receipts of district
“Incremental” property taxes and other revenues legally restricted or committed to support
expenditures for the TID.

The City reports the following major enterprise funds:

Major Enterprise Funds
Water Utility — accounts for operations of the water system
Wastewater Utility — accounts for operations of the wastewater system
Valley Transit — accounts for operations of the public transit authority
Stormwater Utility — accounts for operations of the stormwater management
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)

Fund Financial Statements (cont.)

The City reports the following nonmajor governmental and enterprise funds:

Special Revenue Funds — used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue
sources that are legally restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes (other

than debt service or capital projects).

Community Development
Block Grant

Rental Rehabilitation Grants

Sanitation and Recycling
Program

Health Grants

Police Grants

Hazardous Materials Level A

Room Tax

Wheel Tax

Continuum of Care

HOME Homeowner

Housing Rehabilitation Grant

Business and Neighborhood
Revitalization Grant

Emergency Shelter

Lead Control Hazard Grant

Tuchscherer Disability

Peabody Estate

Balliet Locomotive

Lutz Park

Park Purpose Open Space

Union Spring Park

Project City Park

Universal Playground

Miracle League Baseball

Debt Service Funds — used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for the payment of general long-term debt principal,

interest, and related costs.
Debt Service

Capital Projects Funds — used to account for financial resources that are restricted, committed,
or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of capital

facilities or other capital assets.

Subdivision Development
Projects

Industrial Park Land
Tax Incremental District No.
Tax Incremental District No.
Tax Incremental District No.
Tax Incremental District No.
Tax Incremental District No.

© 00 ~NO O

Tax Incremental District No. 10
Public Safety Facilities

Public Works Equipment

CEA Replacement

Community Development
Facilities Capital Projects
Information Technology
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)
Fund Financial Statements (cont.)

Enterprise Funds — may be used to report any activity for which a fee is charged to external
uses for goods or services, and must be used for activities which meet certain debt or cost
recovery criteria.

Parking Utility

Reid Municipal Golf Course

In addition, the City reports the following fund types:

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one
department or agency to other departments or agencies of the City, or to other governmental units, on a
cost-reimbursement basis.

Central Equipment Agency
Risk Management
Facilities Management
Postemployment Benefits

Agency funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity. The funds are being
held for other governmental units for tax related purposes.

Tax Collection Fund

C. MEASUREMENT Focus, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING,
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is
incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting
from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. Property
taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Taxes receivable for the following
year are recorded as receivables and deferred inflows. Grants and similar items are recognized as
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider are met. Special assessments are
recorded as revenue when earned. Unbilled receivables are recorded as revenues when services are
provided.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the City’s water utility, wastewater utility,
valley transit, stormwater utility, parking utility, Reid Golf Course, and various other functions of the
government. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported
for the various functions concerned.
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

C. MEASUREMENT Focus, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING,
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION (cont.)

Fund Financial Statements

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when they are both
measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for unmatured interest on long-term debt,
claims, judgments, compensated absences, and pension expenditures, which are recorded as a fund
liability when expected to be paid with expendable available financial resources.

Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivables and deferred inflows. They are recognized
as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being provided.

Intergovernmental aids and grants are recognized as revenues in the period the City is entitled the
resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the City which are not available are recorded
as receivables and unavailable revenues. Amounts received before eligibility requirements (excluding
time requirements) are met and recorded as liabilities. Amounts received in advance of meeting time
requirements are recorded as deferred inflows.

Special assessments are recorded as revenues when they become measurable and available as current
assets. Annual installments due in future years are reflected as receivables and unavailable revenues.
Delinquent special assessments being held for collection by the county are reported as receivables and
nonspendable fund balance in the general fund.

Revenues susceptible to accrual include property taxes, miscellaneous taxes, public charges for
services, special assessments, and interest. Other general revenues such as fines and forfeitures,
inspection fees, recreation fees, and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when received in cash or
when measurable and available under the criteria described above.

Proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and
the accrual basis of accounting, as described previously in this note. Agency funds follow the accrual
basis of accounting, and do not have a measurement focus.

The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the
enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. Special assessments are recorded as
receivables and contribution revenue when levied. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the
cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

C. MEASUREMENT Focus, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING,
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION (cont.)

All Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY

1. Deposits and Investments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers all highly liquid investments with an initial
maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents.

Investment of City funds is restricted by state statutes. Available investments are limited to:
a. Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank or trust company maturing in three

years or less.

b. Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village,
town, or school district of the state. Also, bonds issued by a local exposition district, a local
professional baseball park district, a local professional football stadium district, a local cultural
arts district, the University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority, or the Wisconsin
Aerospace Authority.

c. Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government.
d. The local government investment pool.

e. Any security maturing in seven years or less and having the highest or second highest rating
category of a nationally recognized rating agency.

f.  Securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust, subject to
various conditions and investment options.

g. Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions.

The City has adopted an investment policy. That policy contains the following guidelines for allowable
investments:
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

1. Deposits and Investments (cont.)
Custodial Credit Risk

Securities will be held by an independent third-party custodian selected by the City as evidenced by
safekeeping receipts in the City’s name.

A custody agreement is required for all securities managed by the City’s investment manager. The
custody agreement must contain language that documents that all securities are held at a minimum of
uninsured, but collateral held by the pledging financial institution trust department or agent not in the
City’s name.

Credit Risk

The City will minimize credit risk by limiting the type of securities to U.S. treasury obligations, U.S.
Government agency obligations, commercial paper rated by a nationally recognized rating agency,
investment-grade bonds, money market mutual funds, repurchase agreements as part of a money market
mutual fund, certificates of deposit, and local government investment pools. The City will also diversify its
investment portfolio so that the losses from any one type of security or from any one individual issuer will
be minimized.

Concentration of Credit Risk

No single investment issuer, with the exception of the U.S. Government and its agencies, shall constitute
more than 5% of the value of the fund. No single corporate industry group shall constitute more than 15%
of the value of the fund.

Interest Rate Risk and Investments Highly Sensitive to Market Changes

The City will structure its investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash requirements for
ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell securities on the open market prior to maturity. The
City will also invest operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities, money market mutual funds, or
similar investment pools and limit the average maturity of the portfolio.

Foreign Currency Risk
Investment in foreign currency is not allowed.

Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted market prices. No
investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value
are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income. Investment
income on commingled investments of municipal accounting funds is allocated based on average
balances.
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

1. Deposits and Investments (cont.)

The Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is part of the State Investment Fund (SIF), and
is managed by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The SIF is not registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, but operates under the statutory authority of Wisconsin Chapter 25. The SIF
reports the fair value of its underlying assets annually. Participants in the LGIP have the right to withdraw
their funds in total on one day’s notice. At December 31, 2015, the fair value of the City’s share of the
LGIP’s assets was substantially equal to the amount as reported in these statements.

See Note IV.A. for further information.
2. Receivables
Property Taxes
Property taxes are levied in December on the assessed value as of the prior January 1. In addition to
property taxes for the City, taxes are collected for and remitted to the state and county governments as
well as the local school district and technical college district. Taxes for all state and local governmental
units billed in the current year for the succeeding year are reflected as receivables and due to other

taxing units on the accompanying agency fund statement of assets and liabilities.

Property tax calendar — 2015 tax roll:

Lien date and levy date November 2015
Tax bills mailed December 2015
Payment in full, or January 31, 2016
First installment due January 31, 2016
Second installment due March 31, 2016
Third installment due May 31, 2016
Fourth installment due July 31, 2016
Final settlement with county August 15, 2016
Personal property taxes in full January 31, 2016
Tax sale — 2015 delinquent

real estate taxes October 2018

Uncollectible Accounts

An allowance for doubtful accounts has been established for certain deferred housing loans in the
amount of $265,508. Allowance for doubtful accounts have also been established for the Risk
Management Fund receivables in the amount of $43,814. Valley Transit has established an allowance in
the amount of $105,275 related to operating aids from the State of Wisconsin. Delinquent real estate
taxes as of July 31 are paid in full by the county, which assumes the collection thereof. No provision for
uncollectible accounts receivable has been made for the water, wastewater, and stormwater utilities
customer accounts receivable because they have the right by law to place substantially all delinquent bills
on the tax roll.
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

2. Receivables (cont.)
Interfund Loans

During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in amounts
owed between funds. Short-term interfund loans are reported as “due to and from other funds.” Long-term
interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as “advances from and to other funds.” Interfund
receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are eliminated in the statement of
net position. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type
activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances”.

In the governmental fund financial statements, advances to other funds are offset equally by a
nonspendable fund balance account which indicates that they do not constitute expendable available
financial resources and, therefore, are not available for appropriation or by restricted fund balance
account, if the funds will ultimately be restricted when the advance is repaid.

Loans

The City has received federal and state grant funds for economic development and housing rehabilitation
loan programs to various businesses and individuals. The City records a loan receivable when the loan
has been made and funds have been disbursed.

The City also provides loans to local developers. The City records a loan receivable when the loan has
been made and funds have been disbursed.

In general, it is the City’s policy to record unavailable revenue for the net amount of the receivable
balance. As loans are repaid, revenue is recognized. When new loans are made from the repayments,
expenditures are recorded. Interest received from loan repayments is recognized as revenue when
received in cash. Any unspent loan repayments at year end are presented as restricted fund balance in
the fund financial statements. For the City’s loan to one developer, the net amount of the loan is offset by
a nonspendable fund balance account. As the loan is repaid, the nonspendable account is reduced.

3. Inventories and Prepaid Items

Governmental fund inventories, if material, are recorded at cost based on the weighted average or FIFO
method using the consumption method of accounting. Proprietary fund inventories are generally used for
construction and/or operation and maintenance work. They are not for resale. They are valued at cost
based on weighted average, and charged to construction and/or operation and maintenance expense
when used.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

4. Restricted Assets

Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregations are required by
bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these restricted assets are
so classified. The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities payable from restricted assets will be
used first for retirement of related long-term debt. The remainder, if generated from earnings, is shown as
restricted net position.

5. Capital Assets
Government-Wide Statements

Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the government-wide
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial cost of more
than $10,000 for general capital assets and infrastructure assets, and an estimated useful life in excess
of one year. All capital assets are valued at historical cost, or estimated historical cost, if actual amounts
are unavailable. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation.

Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded at original cost,
which includes material, labor, overhead, and an allowance for the cost of funds used during construction
when significant. For tax-exempt debt, the amount of interest capitalized equals the interest expense
incurred during construction netted against any interest revenue from temporary investment of borrowed
fund proceeds. $200,312 of net interest was capitalized during the current year. The cost of renewals and
betterments relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property replaced, retired,
or otherwise disposed of, is deducted from plant accounts and, generally, together with removal costs
less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the statement of
activities, with accumulated depreciation and amortization reflected in the statement of net position.
Depreciation is provided over the assets’ estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of
depreciation. The range of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows:

Buildings and improvements, including

parking ramps 15-70 Years
Equipment, furniture, and vehicles 3-25 Years
Utility systems 10-77 Years
Infrastructure 40-100 Years
Intangibles 10 Years
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

5. Capital Assets (cont.)
Fund Financial Statements

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for
as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in
proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the government-wide statements.

6. Land Held for Resale

Land held for resale consists of land and improvements and is valued at cost of acquisition, demolition,
and site improvements. Properties include both land intended for resale and land designated as a public
area. Land held for resale is recorded at lower of cost or market value.

7. Deferred Outflows of Resources

A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until that future
time.

A deferred charge on refunding arise from advance refunding of debt. The difference between the cost of
the securities placed in trust for future payment of refunded debt and the net carrying value of that debt is
deferred and amortized as a component of interest expense over the shorter of the term of the refunding
issue or the original term of the refunded debt. The unamortized amount is reported as a deferred outflow
of resources in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.

8. Compensated Absences

Under terms of employment, employees are granted sick leave and vacations in varying amounts. Only
benefits considered to be vested are disclosed in these statements.

All vested vacation and sick leave pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary
fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have
matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements. Payments for vacation and
sick leave will be made at rates in effect when the benefits are used. Accumulated vacation and sick
leave liabilities at December 31, 2015 are determined on the basis of current salary rates and include
salary related payments.

9. Long-Term Obligations/Conduit Debt

All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported as
liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations consist primarily of notes and
bonds payable, and accrued compensated absences.

Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. The face value of debts (plus any premiums) are reported as other financing sources and
payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in proprietary funds is
the same as it is in the government-wide statements.
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

9. Long-Term Obligations/Conduit Debt (cont.)

For the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and discounts are
amortized over the life of the issue using the effective interest method. The balance at year end is shown
as an increase or decrease in the liability section of the statement of net position.

The City has approved the issuance of industrial revenue bonds (IRB) for the benefit of private business
enterprises. IRB's are secured by mortgages or revenue agreements on the associated projects, and do
not constitute indebtedness of the City. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the
accompanying financial statements. The total amount of IRB’s outstanding at the end of the year is
$42,411,061, made up of six issues.

10. Deferred Inflows of Resources

A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and, therefore, will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that future
time.

11. Equity Classifications
Government-Wide Statements
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a. Netinvestment in capital assets — Consists of capital assets including restricted capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation/amortization and reduced by the outstanding
balances (excluding unspent debt proceeds) of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those
assets.

b. Restricted net position — Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use either
by 1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

c. Unrestricted net position — All other net position that does not meet the definition of
“restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.”

The net position section includes an adjustment for capital assets owned by the business-type activities
column but financed by debt of the governmental activities column. The amount is a reduction in “net
investment in capital assets,” and an increase in “unrestricted” net position, shown only in the total
column.
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Adjustment Totals

Net investment in capital assets $ 317,294,433 $ 201,093,139 $ (260,849) $ 518,126,723
Unrestricted 37,652,618 45,777,259 260,849 83,690,726
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NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

11. Equity Classifications (cont.)

Government-Wide Statements (cont.)

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Fund Statements
Governmental fund balances are displayed as follows:

a. Nonspendable - Includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because they are not in
spendable form or because legal or contractual requirements require them to be maintained intact.

b. Restricted - Consists of fund balances with constraints placed on their use either by 1) external
groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or 2)
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

c. Committed - Includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are
internally imposed by the government through formal action of the highest level of decision making
authority. Fund balance amounts are committed through a formal action (resolution) of the City.
This formal action must occur prior to the end of the reporting period, but the amount of the
commitment, which will be subject to the constraints, may be determined in the subsequent period.
Any changes to the constraints imposed require the same formal action of the City that originally
created the commitment.

d. Assigned - Includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specific
purposes that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. The City has
authorized the city council to assign amounts for a specific purpose. Assignments may take place
after the end of the reporting period.

e. Unassigned - Includes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which has not been
classified within the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund balance may also include
negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts restricted,
committed, or assigned for those purposes.

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements.
The City considers restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted and unrestricted fund balance
is available unless there are legal documents / contracts that prohibit doing this, such as in grant

agreements requiring dollar for dollar spending. Additionally, the City would first use committed, then
assigned and lastly unassigned amounts of unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are made.

-35-



CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE | — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

11. Equity Classifications (cont.)
Fund Statements (cont.)

The City Council formally established a stabilization fund. The stabilization fund is contained as assigned
fund balance within the general fund and is included in each annual budget. The stabilization fund shall
not be used except in the following circumstances: for contingency for state aid reductions and operating
deficits. The balance in the account at year end was $849,107 plus a contingency fund of $402,298.
The City has a formal minimum fund balance policy. That policy is to maintain a working capital fund of
25% of subsequent years’ general fund expenditures. The balance at year end was $4,826,063 for
compensated absences and $10,255,384 for working capital and is included in assigned and unassigned
general fund balance, respectively.
See Note V. I. for further information.

12. Basis for Existing Rates — Proprietary Funds

Water Utility

Water rates were approved by the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW), effective for service
beginning December 31, 2010.

Wastewater Utility

Current wastewater rates were approved by the Common Council, effective for service beginning July 1,
2011.

Valley Transit
Current fares were effective January 5, 2015 as approved by the Valley Transit Commission.
Stormwater Utility

Current stormwater rates were approved by the Common Council, effective for service beginning July 1
2013.
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NOTE Il — RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND
BALANCE SHEET AND THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance — total
governmental funds and net position — governmental activities as reported in the government-wide
statement of net position. One element of that reconciliation explains that "Capital assets used in
governmental funds are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds." The detail
of this difference is as follows:

Capital assets per statement of net position

Land $ 123,729,029
Construction in progress 5,864,273
Intangible assets 179,110
Depreciable capital assets, net of depreciation 215,123,958
Sub-total 344,896,370
Less: Internal service fund capital assets (12,420,169)
Net Adjustment for Capital Assets $ 332,476,201

Another element of that reconciliation explains that “some liabilities, including long-term debt, are not
due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.” The details of this
difference in liabilities is as follows:

Bonds and notes payable $ 30,719,330
Promissory note 290,000
Unamortized debt premium 414,927
Compensated absences 6,482,348
Accrued interest' 215,927
Disability benefits 74,255
Pension liability 56,673
Postclosure care cost 1,800,000

Net Adjustment for Liabilities $ 40,053,460

! This amount is included in other accrued liabilities on the Statement of Net Position.
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NOTE Ill — STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

A. BUDGET INFORMATION

Budgetary information is derived from the annual operating budget and is presented using the same basis
of accounting for each fund as described in Note I.C.

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:

a. Priorto the end of July, the department heads submit to the mayor proposed budgets,
including expenditures and applicable revenue projections.

b. The mayor and staff then develop the budget and service plan and submit it to the common
council at the first council meeting in October. The executive budget includes proposed
expenditures and the means of financing them. Copies of the document are made available
for public review.

c. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.

d. The budget is adopted formally by resolution of the common council at the first finance
committee meeting in November.

e. Activities of the general fund, special revenue funds, the debt service fund, capital projects
funds, permanent fund, enterprise funds, and internal service funds are budgeted. The
budget as adopted shows total expenditures/expenses by individual fund.
Expenditures/expenses cannot legally exceed appropriations at this level without two-thirds
common council approval. Council policies include additional budgetary controls beyond this
legal level.

f.  Under council policy, new appropriations up to $15,000 require written approval by the
mayor, countersigned by the Director of Finance, and reported to the Finance Committee as
an informational item if funded by grants, user fees, or other non-tax revenues. New
appropriations in excess of $15,000 and those funded by taxes or debt also require the
approval of the Finance Committee and two-thirds of the common council.

g. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year
for all funds.

A comparison of budget and actual is included in the accompanying financial statements for
the major funds. The budget presentations are at the function level, whereas the legal level of
control is at the total expenditures level.

h. All budgets adopted conform to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Budget
amounts are as originally adopted or as amended. Individual amendments were legally
authorized as described above.

i. Budgets for all governmental funds, except grant-funded special revenue funds, lapse at year
end. Reappropriations of any funds are made by council action.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE Il — STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY (cont.)

B. EXCESS EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS

Excess
Actual Expenditures
Expenditures and Other
Budgeted and Other Financing Uses
Funds Expenditures  Financing Uses Over Budget
Debt Service Fund $ 5196295 $ 5,201,008 $ 4,713

C. DEFICIT BALANCES

Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have deficit balances
at year end.

As of December 31, 2015, the following individual funds held a deficit balance:

Fund Amount Reason
Special Revenue Funds

Tax Incremental District No. 3 $ 10,731,055 Remaining development costs to be
recovered over time

Community Development Block 7,576 Revenue not received within 60 days of

Grant year-end

Health Grants 13.722 Revenue not received within 60 days of
year-end

Emergency Shelter 1,464 Revenue not received within 60 days of
year-end

Police Grants 12,273 Revenue not received within 60 days of
year-end

Capital Project Funds

Tax Incremental District No. 6 2,705,945 Remaining development costs to be
recovered over time

Tax Incremental District No. 8 577,670 Remaining development costs to be
recovered over time

Tax Incremental District No. 9 38,288 Remaining development costs to be
recovered over time

Community Development 1,563,471 Projects to be funded with a 2016
borrowing

TIF District deficits are anticipated to be funded with future incremental taxes levied over the life of the
districts, which is 27 years for districts created before October 1, 1995 and 23 years for districts created
through September 30, 2004. Beginning October 1, 2004, the life of new districts varies by type of district
(20-27 years) and may be extended in some cases. The Community Development Block Grants, Health
Grants, Emergency Shelter, and Police Grants fund deficits are anticipated to be funded with grant
revenues. The Community Development fund deficit is anticipated to be funded by future debt issues.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE Ill — STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY (cont.)

D. LIMITATIONS ON THE CITY’S TAX LEVY

Wisconsin law limits the City’s future tax levies. Generally, the City is limited to its prior tax levy dollar
amount (excluding TIF districts), increased by the greater of the percentage change in the City’s
equalized value due to new construction, or zero percent. Changes in debt service from one year to the
next are generally exempt from this limit with certain exceptions. The City is required to reduce its
allowable levy by the estimated amount of fee revenue it collects for certain services, if those services
were funded in 2013 by the property tax levy. Levies can be increased above the allowable limits if the
amount is approved by referendum.

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The City maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds. Each fund type’s
portion of this pool is displayed on the statement of net position and balance sheet as cash and
investments.

The City’s cash and investments at year end were comprised of the following:

Bank and
Carrying Investment Associated
Value Balances Risks
Demand deposits $ 29,196,231 $ 18,211,993 Custodial credit risk
U.S. treasuries 20,146,673 20,146,673 Custodial credit risk, interest rate

risk, investments highly sensitive
to market changes

U.S. agencies — implicitly guaranteed 8,900,309 8,900,309 Custodial credit risk, credit risk,
concentration of credit risk,
interest rate risk, investments
highly sensitive to market
changes

U.S. agencies — explicitly guaranteed 44,347,957 44,347,957 Custodial credit risk, interest
rate risk, investments highly
sensitive to market changes

Money market mutual funds 1,259,091 1,259,091 Credit risk, interest rate risk,
investments highly sensitive to
market changes

LGIP 46,504,841 46,504,841 Creditrisk
Petty Cash 105,449 - None
Total Cash and Investments $ 150,460,551 $ 139,370,864

Reconciliation to financial statements
Per statement of net position
Unrestricted cash and investments $ 68,516,402

Restricted cash and investments 27,977,924
Per statement of assets and liabilities —

Agency Fund 53,966,225

Total Cash and Investments $ 150,460,551
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)

Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for time and
savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand deposit amounts (interest-bearing
and noninterest bearing). In addition, if deposits are held in an institution outside of the state in which the
government is located, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the combined
amount of all deposits.

Bank accounts are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund in the amount of $400,000.
However, due to the nature of this fund, recovery of material principal losses may not be significant to
individual municipalities. This coverage has not been considered in computing custodial credit risk.

The City’s investments are held in a segregated custody account and are not commingled with the assets
of the City’s financial institution. As a result, the City’s investments remain the sole property of the City of
Appleton and are not subject to claims made by the investment institution’s creditors.

Custodial Credit Risk

Deposits — Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the City’s
deposits may not be returned to the City. The City does not have any deposits exposed to custodial credit
risk.

Investments — For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that
are in the possession of an outside party. The City does not have any investments exposed to custodial
credit risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.

As of December 31, 2015, the City’s investments were rated as follows:

Standard
Investment Type Investment & Poor's
U.S. agencies — implicitly guaranteed U.S. Bank AAA

The City also had investments in LGIP, an external investment pool which is not rated. In addition, the
City held investments in bond money market mutual funds that were not rated.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s investment in
a single issuer.

At December 31, 2015, the City had no investments that were over 5% of the City’s investment portfolio.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment.
As of December 31, 2015, the City’s investments were as follows:

Maturity (In Years)

Less than
Investment Type Fair Value one year 1-5 6 — 27

Money market mutual funds $ 1,259,091 $ 1,259,091 $ -3 -
U.S. treasuries 20,146,673 - 15,107,056 5,039,617
U.S. agencies — implicitly

guaranteed 8,900,309 - 5,582,216 3,318,093
U.S. agencies — explicitly

guaranteed 44,347,957 6,665 32,712,543 11,628,749

Totals $ 74,654,030 $ 1,265,756 $ 53,401,815 $ 19,986,459

Investments Highly Sensitive to Market Changes

The City held securities of $2,124,444 with maturities exceeding ten years.

See Note I.D.1. for further information on deposit and investment policies.
B. RECEIVABLES

All receivables are due within one year, except for economic development loans of $3,390,268, special
assessments of $1,083,725, delinquent specials of $8,306, and deferred loans of $6,447,637.

Governmental funds report unavailable or unearned revenue in connection with receivables for revenues
that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Property taxes levied for
the subsequent year are not earned and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities of the current period.
Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been
received, but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components of unavailable
revenue and unearned revenue reported in the governmental funds were as follows:

Unearned Unavailable

Property taxes receivable $ 42,580,101 $ -
Interest on advances - 8,842,728
Interest income - 4,509
Developer loans - 1,831,667
Rehabilitation loans - 6,447,637
Accounts receivable - 121,181
Special assessments not yet due - 805,170
Grant drawdowns prior to meeting

all eligibility requirements 118,319 -
Note receivable — component unit - 500,000

Total Unearned/Unavailable Revenue
for Governmental Funds $ 42,698,420 $ 18,552,892
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

C. RESTRICTED ASSETS

The following represent the balances of the restricted assets:

Long Term Debt Accounts

Redemption - Used to segregate resources accumulated for debt service payments over
the next twelve months.
Reserve — Used to report resources set aside to make up potential future deficiencies in

the redemption account.

Depreciation

Used to report resources set aside to fund plant renewals and replacement

or make up potential future deficiencies in the redemption account.

Construction
use in construction.

Equipment Replacement Account

Used to report proceeds of revenue bond issuances that are restricted for

The wastewater utility established an equipment replacement account to be used for significant
mechanical equipment replacement as required by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources.

Net Pension Asset

Restricted assets have been reported in connection with the net pension asset balance since this balance

must be used to fund employee benefits.

Following is a list of restricted assets in the business-type activities as of December 31, 2015:

Less:
Liabilities
Payable from
Restricted
Assets and Less:
Accrued Borrowed Restricted
Restricted Interest Restricted Net
Assets Allocation Assets Position
Bond redemption account $ 3,145,676 $ 402,060 $ - $ 2,743,616
Bond reserve account 16,388,654 - 16,361,732 26,922
Bond depreciation account 1,000,000 (6,803) - 1,006,803
Construction account 2,405,679 - 2,405,679 -
DNR equipment replacement account 3,556,699 (24,197) - 3,580,896
Capital equipment replacement account 1,481,216 - - 1,481,216
Net pension asset 1,532,822 - - 1,532,822
Accrued interest 145,275 145,275 - -
Total Restricted Assets $ 29,656,021 $ 516,335 $ 18,767,411 $ 10,372,275
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

D. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2015 was as follows:

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not
being depreciated/amortized
Land
Right of ways
Land improvements(l)
Intangible assets
Construction in progress
Total Capital Assets
Not Being Depreciated/
Amortized
Capital assets being
depreciated/amortized
Intangible assets
Improvements
Buildings
Equipment, furniture and
fixtures
Streets
Sidewalk
Traffic signals
Bridges
Total Capital Assets
Being Depreciated/Amortized
Less: Accumulated
depreciation/amortization for
Intangible assets
Improvements
Buildings
Equipment, furniture and
fixtures
Streets
Sidewalk
Traffic signals
Bridges
Total Accumulated
Depreciation/Amortization

Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated/Amortized

Total Capital Assets,
Net of Depreciation/
Amortization

Beginning Ending

Balance Additions Deletions Balance
9,193,063 2,124,263 - 11,317,326
73,132,166 595,227 28,229 73,699,164
38,624,813 87,726 - 38,712,539
25,048 154,062 - 179,110
3,140,276 4,169,427 1,445,430 5,864,273
124,115,366 7,130,705 1,473,659 129,772,412
38,868 59,208 - 98,076
10,425,495 1,182,669 48,845 11,559,319
45,556,446 1,135,134 206,131 46,485,449
32,915,866 3,449,092 2,385,528 33,979,430
167,605,083 6,208,724 1,171,632 172,642,175
31,006,393 1,120,816 317,800 31,809,409
5,448,581 436,423 80,005 5,804,999
43,878,746 - - 43,878,746
336,875,478 13,592,066 4,209,941 346,257,603
(14,793) (3,887) - (18,680)
(3,470,600) (328,550) 38,589 (3,760,561)
(14,361,193) (876,514) 182,519 (15,055,188)
(18,124,306) (2,689,635) 2,224,941 (18,589,000)
(68,316,593) (4,486,828) 725,051 (72,078,370)
(11,129,093) (789,170) 168,553 (11,749,710)
(1,751,211) (133,116) 64,360 (1,819,967)
(7,623,383) (438,786) - (8,062,169)
(124,791,172) (9,746,486) 3,404,013 (131,133,645)

212,084,306

_$ 336,199,672

@ This represents the nondepreciable portion of the City’s streets.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)
Depreciation/amortization expense was charged to functions as follows:

Governmental Activities

General government $ 399,213
Public safety 545,907
Public works, which includes the depreciation
of roads, streets, signals, and bridges 5,987,579
Education and recreation 585,739
Sub-Total 7,518,438
Capital assets held by internal service funds charged to the various functions
based on their usage of the assets 2,228,048
Total Governmental Activities Depreciation/Amortization Expense $ 9,746,486
Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Deletions Balance
Business-type Activities
Capital assets not
being depreciated/amortized
Land $ 12,763,768 $ 340,351 $ - $ 13,104,119
Intangible assets 904,746 266,257 - 1,171,003
Construction in progress 8,545,847 3,681,258 7,958,022 4,269,083
Total Capital Assets
Not Being Depreciated/
Amortized 22,214,361 4,287,866 7,958,022 18,544,205
Capital assets being
depreciated/amortized
Buildings and improvements 411,518,944 12,430,345 2,119,904 421,829,385
Machinery and equipment 72,812,948 6,458,416 1,954,365 77,316,999
Total Capital Assets
Being Depreciated/Amortized 484,331,892 18,888,761 4,074,269 499,146,384
Less: Accumulated
Depreciation (197,465,365) (11,426,094) 3,761,635 (205,129,824)

Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated/Amortized 286,866,527

Total Capital Assets,

Net of Depreciation/
Amortization $ 309,080,888
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)
Depreciation/amortization expense was charged to functions as follows:

Business-type Activities

Water $ 4,353,070
Wastewater 3,248,192
Valley Transit 641,396
Stormwater 2,513,011
Parking 479,911
Reid Municipal Golf Course 67,707
Total Business-type Activities
Depreciation/Amortization Expense $ 11,303,287

An additional $24,836 was charged to other funds or to operations.

Depreciation/amortization expense may be different from business-type activity accumulated depreciation
additions because of joint metering, salvage, cost of removal, internal allocations, or costs associated
with the disposal of assets.

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES, AND TRANSFERS
Interfund Receivables/Payables

The following is a schedule of interfunds receivables and payables including any overdrafts on pooled
cash and investment accounts:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General Special Revenue — Community $ 34,583
Development Block Grant
General Special Revenue — Police grants 14,230
General Special Revenue — Housing rehab 18,096
General Special Revenue — Emergency shelter 28,596
General Special Revenue — Room tax 10,429
General Special Revenue — Wheel tax 86,610
General Capital Projects — Community 1,563,471
Development Projects
General Internal Service Fund — Risk management 346,181
General Enterprise — Water Utility 1,950,146
Special Revenue — Sanitation General 53,073
and Recycling Programs

Enterprise — Water Utility General 495,298
Enterprise — Wastewater Utility General 404,420
Enterprise — Stormwater Utility General 200,398
Sub-Total — Fund Financial Statements 5,205,531
Less: Internal service allocation (488,239)
Less: Elimination to government-wide (4,355,501)
Total — Government-wide Financial Statements $ 361,791
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES, AND TRANSFERS (cont.)

Interfunds Receivables/Payables (cont.)

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

Governmental Activity Business-type Activity $ 1,950,146

Business-type Activity Governmental Activity (1,588,355)
Total $ 361,791

All amounts are due within one year.

The principal purpose of these interfunds is for delinquent bills put on the tax roll and payment in lieu of
taxes. All remaining balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and
services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the
accounting system, and (3) payments between funds are made.

Advances

In 1999, the City approved charging interest on the advances to the Tax Incremental Districts at 5%,
compounded annually. Accumulated interest is shown as deferred revenue in the general fund and
charged to expenditures annually in the payable fund. The advances will be repaid as monies are
available.

In 2002, the City advanced the Reid Municipal Golf Course $495,000 to fund capital improvements.
Interest was being charged at 5%. During 2011, the City council approved retroactively charging 0%
interest on the advance. Previous interest payments made on the advance were applied to the principal
balance during 2011. A repayment schedule has been established.

During 2015, the City prepared projections estimating the TIF districts and the Reid Municipal Golf
Course’s ability to repay the interfund advances (principal and interest) from the general fund and the
parking utility. As of result of this analysis, the following allowance has been established:

Total
Receivable Fund Payable Fund Principal Interest Allowance

Parking Utility Special Revenue — Tax
Incremental District No. 3  $ 20,082,496 $ 2,727,923 $ 22,810,419
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES, AND TRANSFERS (cont.)
Advances (cont.)

The following is a schedule of interfund advances outstanding, net of allowances:

Amount Not
Due Within
Receivable Fund Payable Fund Principal Interest Totals One Year
General Special Revenue — Tax $ 2,955,862 $ 8,036,565 $ 10,992,427 10,992,427
Incremental District No. 3
General Capital Projects — Tax 2,281,707 681,268 2,962,975 2,962,975
Incremental District No. 6
General Capital Projects — Tax 800,000 115,902 915,902 915,902
Incremental District No. 8
General Capital Projects — Tax 81,000 8,992 89,992 89,992
Incremental District No. 9
General Enterprise — Reid Municipal 160,000 - 160,000 155,000
Golf Course
Sub-Total — Fund Financial Statements $ 6,278569 $ 8,842,727 15,121,296 15,116,296
Less: Fund eliminations (14,961,296)
Total — Government-wide Statements $ 160,000

The principal purpose of these advances is due to expenditures/expenses exceeding revenues.
The following repayment schedule has been established. No interest is being charged.

General Fund

Advance to
Reid Golf

Course

Years Principal
2016 $ 5,000
2017 5,000
2018 5,000
2019 5,000
2025 60,000
2026 80,000
Totals $ 160,000
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES, AND TRANSFERS (cont.)

Transfers

The following is a schedule of interfund transfers:

Fund Transferred To

General

Debt Service

Special Revenue Funds
Tax Incremental
District No. 3

Principal Purpose

Fund Transferred From Amount

Special Revenue — $ 79,223
Room Tax

Special Revenue — 1,275,331
Wheel tax

Capital Projects — Tax 237,923
Incremental District No. 5

Enterprise — Water 13,800
Utility

Enterprise — Water 1,950,147
Utility

Enterprise — 117,450
Wastewater Utility

Enterprise — Parking 9,300
Utility

Enterprise — 12,500
Stormwater Utility

Enterprise — Reid 17,900
Municipal Golf Course

Special Revenue — Tax 99,313
Incremental District No. 3

Capital Project — Tax 91,675
Incremental District No. 5

Capital Project — Tax 1,832,252
Incremental District No. 6

Capital Project — Tax 1,525
Incremental District No. 7

Capital Project — Tax 38,758
Incremental District No. 8

Capital Projects — 4,834
Community Development

Enterprise — Parking 1,200,000

Utility
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To support paving projects
To close out TIF No. 5
Administrative fees
Payment in lieu of taxes
Administrative fees
Administrative fees
Administrative fees
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Debt payments
Debt payments
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Debt payments

Debt payments
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES, AND TRANSFERS (cont.)

Transfers (cont.)

Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From

Capital Project Funds
Community
Development
CEA Replacement

General

Special Revenue —
Sanitation

General

Internal Service — CEA

Enterprise — Water Utility

Enterprise — Reid Municipal

CEA Replacement
CEA Replacement
CEA Replacement
CEA Replacement

Golf Course
CEA Replacement Internal Service — Facilities
Management
CEA Replacement Enterprise — Stormwater
Utility
Enterprise
Stormwater Enterprise — Wastewater

Valley Transit General

Sub-Total — Fund Financial Statements

Less: Fund eliminations
Government-wide elimination
Infrastructure contributed to the business-type
activities by the governmental activities

Total — Government-Wide Statement of
Activities

Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From

Governmental Activity
Business-type Activity

Business-type Activity
Governmental Activity

Total

Amount Principal Purpose
$ 845,330 Capital assets
89,605 Capital assets
57,500 Capital assets
295,561 Capital assets
8,988 Capital assets
2,800 Capital assets
13,000 Capital assets
20,000 Capital assets
500,000 Capital assets
585,506 Local share of funding
9,400,221
(5,153,269)
(1,479,573)
(5,732)
$ 2761647
Amount
$ 3,352,885
(591,238)
$ 2761647

Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund that the
budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the
receipts to the debt service fund, and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to
finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Long-term obligations activity for the year ended December 31, 2015 was as follows:

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Bonds and Notes Payable
General Obligation Debt
General
Internal service
Promissory note
Add: Deferred amounts for premiums
Total Bonds and Notes Payable

Other Liabilities

Vested compensated absences
General
Internal service

Other postemployment benefits
Internal service

Landfill liability

Disability benefits

Pension liability

Total Other Liabilities

Total Governmental Activities
Long-Term Liabilities

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Bonds and Notes Payable
General obligation debt
Revenue bonds
Add: Deferred amounts for
premiums
Total Bonds and Notes Payable

Other Liabilities
Vested compensated absences

Total Business-type Activities
Long-Term Liabilities

Amounts

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Increases Decreases Balance One Year

$ 29,226,663 5,775,000 $ 4,282,333 $ 30,719,330 $ 4,031,083
188,337 - 7,667 180,670 18,917
295,000 - 5,000 290,000 15,000
250,265 222,458 57,796 414,927 -
29,960,265 5,997,458 4,352,796 31,604,927 4,065,000
6,323,791 3,424,929 3,266,372 6,482,348 3,281,673
208,791 131,740 126,518 214,013 128,038
581,712 390,423 - 972,135 -
1,890,000 - 90,000 1,800,000 90,000
79,370 - 5,115 74,255 14,281
104,735 - 48,062 56,673 26,007
9,188,399 3,947,092 3,536,067 9,599,424 3,539,999

$ 39,148,664 9,944,550 $ 7,888,863 $ 41,204,351 $ 7,604,999
$ 695,000 - 3 60,000 $ 635,000 $ 60,000
127,660,000 32,160,000 31,880,000 127,940,000 3,625,000
2,512,285 1,996,272 387,477 4,121,080 -
130,867,285 34,156,272 32,327,477 132,696,080 3,685,000
1,122,919 490,485 576,169 1,037,235 559,913

$ 131,990,204 34,646,757 $ 32,903,646 $ 133,733,315 $ 4,244,913

The water revenue bond debt service payments are primarily due on January 1st and July 1st. The utility
makes the January 1st payment on December 31st of the prior year. Therefore, no current principal
amount is shown on the statement of net position at December 31, 2015.

General Obligation Debt

All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City. Notes
and bonds in the governmental funds will be retired by future property tax levies or tax increments
accumulated by the debt service fund. Business-type activities debt is payable by revenues from user
fees of those funds or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levies.
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)

General Obligation Debt (cont.)

In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the City may not exceed
5% of the equalized value of taxable property within the City's jurisdiction. The debt limit as of
December 31, 2015, was $240,837,740. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year end was

$31,535,000.
Original
Date of Final Interest Indebted- Balance
Issue Maturity Rates ness 12-31-15
Governmental Activities
General Obligation Bonds
General Obligation Notes,
Series 2006A 8/9/06 10/1/16 4.125-4.200% $ 4,725,000 $ 685,000
General Obligation Notes,
Series 2007 8/1/07 4/1/17 4.25% 5,165,000 1,560,000
General Obligation Notes,
Series 2008A 8/5/08 4/1/18 3.00 — 4.00% 3,980,000 1,420,000
General Obligation Notes,
Series 2008B 11/26/08 4/1/28 3.75-5.00% 7,325,000 5,920,000
General Obligation Notes,
Series 2009A 11/5/09 4/1/19 2.50 - 3.125% 5,735,000 3,015,000
General Obligation Notes,
Series 2012A 11/7/12 4/1/22 2.00 — 3.00% 5,460,000 4,390,000
General Obligation Refunding
Notes, Series 2012B 8/30/12 4/1/25 0.40 — 3.00% 2,920,000 1,610,000
General Obligation Notes,
Series 2014A 9/10/14 10/1/24 1.50 - 2.375% 6,525,000 6,525,000
General Obligation Notes,
Series 2015A 10/28/15 10/1/25 2.00 — 3.00% 5,775,000 5,775,000
Total Governmental Activities — General Obligation Debt $ 30,900,000
Original
Date of Final Interest Indebted- Balance
Issue Maturity Rates ness 12-31-15
Business-type Activities
General Obligation Debt
General Obligation Refunding
Notes, Series 2012B 8/30/12 4/1/25 0.40-3.00% $ 735,000 $ 635,000
Total Business-type Activities General Obligation Debt $ 635,000
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F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)
General Obligation Debt (cont.)

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

General Obligation Debt General Obligation Debt

Years Principal Interest Principal Interest
2016 $ 4,050,000 $ 840,558 $ 60,000 $ 13,920
2017 4,645,000 724,433 60,000 13,320
2018 4,305,000 605,993 60,000 12,555
2019 3,705,000 505,520 60,000 11,625
2020 2,435,000 425,023 70,000 10,433
2021 — 2025 10,000,000 1,167,689 325,000 20,925
2026 — 2028 1,760,000 135,251 - -
Totals $ 30,900,000 $ 4,404,467 $ 635,000 $ 82,778

Estimated payments of accumulated employee benefits and other commitments are not included in the
repayment schedule. Amounts available to service the general obligation debt and other long-term
obligations include the following:

General Fund — general obligation debt $ 1,332,329
General Fund — compensated absences 4,826,063
Debt Service Fund — general obligation debt 363,344
Special Revenue Fund — Tuchscherer disability 36,605

Total $ 6,558,341

Revenue Debt

Revenue bonds are payable only from revenues derived from the operation of the water, wastewater, and
stormwater utilities. The utilities have pledged future utility revenues, net of specified operating expenses,
to repay all revenue bonds listed on pages 54 and 55. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for
construction. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $163,457,996 for water,
wastewater, and stormwater. For the current year, the water utility paid $8,762,301 of principal and
interest and had $13,073,230 of net revenues. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to
require 32% of net water revenues on average. The wastewater utility paid $1,410,021 of principal and
interest and had $4,582,477 of net revenues. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to
require 26% of net wastewater revenues on average. The stormwater utility paid $4,275,973 of principal
and interest and had $6,170,213 of net revenues. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to
require 50% of net stormwater revenues on average.
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)
Revenue Debt (cont.)
Revenue debt payable at December 31, 2015 consists of the following:

Business-type Activities Revenue Debt

Original
Date of Final Interest Indebted- Balance
Issue Maturity Rates ness 12-31-15

Water Utility
Water System Revenue

Refunding Bonds, Series 2007A 2/6/07 1/1/25 4.00-450% $ 58,510,000 % 26,805,000
Water System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2007C 3/1/07 1/1/26  4.00 — 4.75% 12,140,000 665,000
Water System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2008 12/17/08 1/1/28 3.00 — 5.50% 15,215,000 1,410,000
Water System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2011 8/24/11 1/1/31  2.00 — 4.20% 3,170,000 2,665,000
Water System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2012 8/8/12 1/1/32  2.00 — 3.25% 2,510,000 2,200,000
Water System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2013 8/7/13 1/1/33  2.00 — 4.50% 7,180,000 6,635,000
Water System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2014 9/10/14 7/1/34  2.00 — 4.00% 3,850,000 3,695,000
Water System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2015 10/28/15 1/1/35 2.00 — 4.00% 22,735,000 22,735,000

Total Water Utility 66,810,000

Wastewater Utility
Sewerage System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2006 8/9/06 5/1/26 4.25-5.00% 3,265,000 2,165,000
Sewerage System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2007 9/5/07 5/1/27 4.25-5.00% 2,350,000 1,660,000
Sewerage System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2008 9/10/08 5/1/28 3.00 — 4.50% 4,330,000 3,200,000
Sewerage System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2010 5/22/10 5/1/30 2.00 — 4.00% 4,935,000 4,290,000
Sewerage System Revenue

Bonds, Series 2011 8/24/11 5/1/31 2.00 — 4.25% 3,735,000 3,300,000

Total Wastewater Utility 14,615,000
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F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)

Revenue Debt (cont.)

Business-type Activities Revenue Debt (cont.)

Stormwater Utility
Stormwater System Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 2006
Stormwater System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2007
Stormwater System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2008
Stormwater System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2009
Stormwater System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2012
Stormwater System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2013
Stormwater System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2014
Stormwater System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2015

Original

Date of Final Interest Indebted- Balance

Issue Maturity Rates ness 12-31-15
5/1/06 4/1/26 4.00-450% $ 7,855,000 $ 2,130,000
9/5/07 4/1/27 4.25 - 5.00% 5,145,000 470,000
9/10/08 4/1/28 3.00 — 4.50% 6,010,000 4,415,000
12/30/09 4/1/29 2.00 — 4.45% 10,720,000 9,550,000
8/8/12 4/1/32 2.00 — 4.00% 13,190,000 10,880,000
8/7/13 4/1/33 2.00 — 4.50% 6,440,000 6,195,000
9/10/14 4/1/34 2.00 — 4.00% 3,450,000 3,450,000
10/28/15 4/1/35 2.00 — 4.00% 9,425,000 9,425,000
Total Stormwater Utility 46,515,000

Total Business-type Activities Revenue Debt

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Years

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021 - 2025
2026 — 2030
2031 - 2035

Totals
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Business-type Activities

Revenue Debt

$ 127,940,000

Principal Interest Totals

$ 3,625,000 $ 2,278,964 $ 5,903,964
10,480,000 4,766,492 15,246,492
10,885,000 4,346,567 15,231,567
10,825,000 3,916,851 14,741,851
11,260,000 3,473,426 14,733,426
44,665,000 11,855,946 56,520,946
26,605,000 4,173,757 30,778,757
9,595,000 705,593 10,300,593

$ 127,940,000 $ 35,517,596 $ 163,457,596
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)
Advance Refundings
Water

On October 28, 2015, bonds in the amount of $22,735,000 were issued with an average interest rate of
2.74% to advance refund $17,175,000 of outstanding Series 2007C and 2008 revenue bonds with an
average interest rate of 4.76%. The net proceeds were used to purchase U.S. government securities.
Those securities were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide for a portion of
future debt service payments on the old bonds. As a result, that portion of the old bonds are considered
defeased and the liability for that portion of the old bonds has been removed from the statement of net
position.

The cash flow requirements on the old bonds prior to the advance refunding was $29,776,505 from 2015
— 2028. The cash flow requirements on the new bonds are $27,771,589 from 2015 — 2028. The advance
refunding resulted in an economic gain of $1,546,115.

Stormwater

On October 28, 2015, bonds in the amount of $5,667,100 were issued with an average interest rate of
2.91% to advance refund $5,410,000 of outstanding Series 2006 and 2007 revenue bonds with an
average interest rate of 4.71%. The net proceeds were used to purchase U.S. government securities.
Those securities were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide for a portion of
future debt service payments on the old bonds. As a result, that portion of the old bonds are considered
defeased and the liability for that portion of the old bonds has been removed from the statement of net
position.

The cash flow requirements on the old bonds prior to the advance refunding was $11,197,609 from 2015

— 2027. The cash flow requirements on the new bonds are $10,621,533 from 2015 — 2027. The advance
refunding resulted in an economic gain of $497,169.
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)
Promissory Note

During 2012, the Appleton Redevelopment Authority received a $300,000 Wisconsin DNR Ready for
Reuse Loan. See Note IV. K. In order for the Appleton Redevelopment Authority to be approved for this
loan, the City of Appleton was required to issue an obligation under Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin State
Statutes. The City is obligated to make payments over to the Appleton Redevelopment Authority on an
annual basis equal to the DNR Ready for Reuse Loan payments. No interest is being charged. The
repayment schedule is as follows:

Years Principal
2016 $ 15,000
2017 15,000
2018 25,000
2019 25,000
2020 35,000
2021 35,000
2022 45,000
2023 45,000
2024 50,000
Total $ 290,000

Other Debt Information

Estimated payments of other long-term liabilities are not included in the debt service requirement
schedules. The compensated absences liability, other postemployment benefits liability, landfill liability,
disability benefits liability, and the pension liability attributable to governmental activities will be liquidated
primarily by the general fund.

A statutory mortgage lien upon the City’s utility system and any additions, improvements and extensions
thereto is created by Section 66.0621 of the Wisconsin Statutes as provided for in the ordinances
creating the revenue bond issues. The City’s system and the earnings of the system remain subject to the
lien until payment in full of the principal and interest on the bonds.
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

G. LEASE DISCLOSURES
Lessor — Capital Leases

In 1998, the City entered into a lease/development agreement with Appleton Ice Incorporated. As part of
the agreement, the City leased approximately 2.5 acres of land to Appleton Ice Incorporated to be used
for the Appleton Family Ice Arena. The lease is recorded as a receivable in the debt service fund. The
gross amount of these assets under capital leases is $1,210,000. The future minimum lease obligations
and the net present value on these minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2015, are as follows:

Governmental
Activities
2016 $ 94,150
2017 91,992
2018 92,025
Sub-Total 278,167
Less: Amount representing interest (46,500)
Present Value of Minimum Lease Payments $ 231,667

H. CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE COST

State and federal laws and regulations require the City to place a final cover on its Mackville Landfill,
which no longer receives solid waste, and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the
site for 40 years after closure. Construction of the cover was completed at December 31, 2002. The City
does have postclosure care responsibility at the Mackville Landfill. As of December 31, 2015, a
$1,800,000 liability was estimated based on what it would cost to perform all postclosure care in 2015
and thereafter. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology or changes in
regulations. The City incurred approximately $78,990 of closure costs in 2015.
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

I. GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES

Governmental activities net position reported on the government-wide statement of net position at
December 31, 2015 includes the following:

Governmental Activities Net Position

Net investment in capital assets

Land and land improvements $ 123,729,029
Intangible assets 179,110
Construction in progress 5,864,273
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation/amortization 215,123,958
Less: Related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent
capital related debt proceeds) (27,187,010)
Less: Unamortized debt premium (414,927)
Total Net Investment in Capital Assets 317,294,433
Restricted
Debt service 379,087
TIF development activity 1,708,486
Housing rehabilitation 6,580,352
Hazardous materials 347,780
Future claims 36,605
Parks 564,749
Pension 7,105,472
Total Restricted 16,722,531
Unrestricted 37,652,618
Total Governmental Activities Net Position $ 371,669,582

Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at December 31, 2015 incl
following:

Fund Balances

Nonspendable
Major Fund
General Fund
Inventories $
Prepaid items
Delinquent special assessments

ude the

970,906
25,872
8,306
278,569

058,601

Advance to other funds (principal portion) 6,
Developer loans 1,
Total $ 8,

342,254
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

I. GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (cont.)
Fund Balances (cont.)
Restricted

Nonmajor Funds
Special Revenue Funds

Rental rehabilitation grants — housing rehabilitation $ 44,256
Hazardous materials Level A — public safety 347,780
Continuum of care — housing 5,000
HOME Homeowner — housing rehabilitation 46,434
Business and Neighborhood Revitalization Grant — housing rehabilitation 1,308
Lead hazard control grant — housing rehabilitation 35,716
Tuchscherer disability — future claims 36,605
Peabody Estate — parks 65,191
Balliet Locomotive — parks 11,387
Lutz Park — parks 135,841
Park purpose open space — parks 317,839
Union Spring Park — parks 2,519
Project city park — parks 5,924
Universal playground 358
Miracle League baseball 25,690

Debt Service Fund
Debt service 363,344

Capital Projects Funds

Tax Incremental District No. 7 — TIF development activity 504,096
Tax Incremental District No. 8 — TIF development activity 350,000
Tax Incremental District No. 10 — TIF development activity 32,061
Public works equipment — capital purposes 192,525
Facilities capital projects — capital purposes 848,920
Information technology — capital purposes 106,037

Total $ 3,478,831

Committed

Nonmajor Fund
Sanitation and Recycling
Sanitation and recycling purposes $ 1,276,478
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

I. GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (cont.)
Fund Balances (cont.)

Assigned
Major Funds

General Fund
PILOT applied to the 2016 budget
Applied to the 2016 budget
Carryover appropriations
Compensated absences
Health insurance
Unfunded pension liability
Debt service

Total

Nonmajor Funds
Capital Projects Funds

Subdivision development projects — capital purposes
Industrial park land — capital purposes
Public safety facilities — capital purposes
Public works equipment — capital purposes
CEA replacement — capital purposes
Information technology — capital purposes
Facilities capital projects — capital purposes

Total

Unassigned (Deficit)
Major Funds
General Fund

Tax Incremental District No. 3 (deficit)

Nonmajor Funds
Special Revenue Funds
Community development block grant
Health grants
Police grants
Emergency shelter

Capital Projects Funds
Tax Incremental District No. 6
Tax Incremental District No. 8
Tax Incremental District No. 9
Community development

Total
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$ 1,950,146
306,955
2,727,720
4,826,063
628,641
56,672
1,332,329

11,828,526

»

$ 1,664,438
1,755,759
10,739
198,318
2,018,782
1,913

2,505

$ 5,652,454

$ 11420020

$ (10,731,055)

$ (7,576)
(13,722)
(12,273)

(1,464)

(2,705,945)
(927,671)
(38,288)
(1,563,471)

$ (5,270,410)
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

I. GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (cont.)
Business-type Activities Net Position

Net investment in capital assets

Land

Intangible assets

Construction in progress

Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation

Less: Related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital
related debt proceeds)

Add: Borrowed reserve and depreciation funds

Add: Construction fund
Total Net Investment in Capital Assets

Restricted
Debt service
DNR replacement fund
Capital replacement fund
Pension
Total Restricted

Unrestricted
Total Business-type Activities Net Position
J. RESTATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Net position has been restated as a result of the implementation of GASB Sta

and Financial Reporting for Pensions —an Amendment of GASB Statement N
GASB Statement No. 71 — Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subseq

$ 13,104,119
1,171,003
4,269,083

294,016,560

(130,235,037)
16,361,731
2,405,680
201,093,139

2,770,538
3,580,896
2,488,019
1,532,822
10,372,275

45,777,259

$ 257,242,673

tement No. 68 — Accounting
0. 27 and implementation of
uent to the Measurement

Date. These statements require the net pension asset and related deferred outflows and deferred inflows,
if any, to be reported in the financial statements. The details of the restatement are as follows:

Governmental Business-type Wastewater Valley
Activities Activities Water Utility Utility Transit
Net Position — December 31,

2014 (as reported) $ 351,365,015 $ 247,758,367 $ 75,046,028 $ 92,666,986 $ 5,388,703
Add: Net pension asset 11,451,112 2,470,281 505,241 770,326 692,415
Add: Deferred outflows related

to pensions 2,934,462 633,035 129,473 197,404 177,438

Net Position — December 31,

2014 (as restated) $ 365,750,589 $ 250,861,683 $ 75,680,742 $ 93,634,716 $ 6,258,556
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NOTE IV — DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

J. RESTATEMENT OF NET POSITION (cont.)

Other Internal

Stormwater Enterprise Service

Utility Funds Funds
Net Position — December 31, 2014 (as reported) $ 63,480,867 $10,477,167 $12,631,770
Add: Net pension asset 374,657 127,642 473,696
Add: Deferred outflows related to pensions 96,010 32,710 121,389

Net Position — December 31,

2014 (as restated) $ 63,951,534 $10,637,519 $13,226,855

K. COMPONENT UNITS

This report contains the Business Improvement District of the City of Appleton (“Business Improvement
District”), and the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Appleton (“Redevelopment Authority”) which are
included as component units. Financial information is presented as a discrete column in the statement of
net position and statement of activities.

In addition to the basic financial statements and the preceding notes to financial statements which apply,
the following additional disclosures are considered necessary for a fair presentation.

Business Improvement District

a. Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus

The Business Improvement District prepares its financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. The accounting records are kept on the accrual basis of
accounting and the flow of economic resources measurement focus. No conversion entries are
necessary to convert the BID financial statements to the full accrual method.

b. Cash and Investments

At year end, the carrying amount of the Business Improvement District’s deposits was $152,578
and is part of the City’'s commingled cash. See Note IV.A.
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K. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.)

a.

Redevelopment Authority

Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus

The Redevelopment Authority prepares its financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. The accounting records are kept on the accrual basis of
accounting and flow of economic resources measurement focus.

Cash and Investments

At year end, the carrying amount of the Redevelopment Authority’s deposits was $209,238 and is
part of the City’s commingled cash. See Note IV.A.

Land Held for Resale

Land held for resale consists of land and improvements and is valued at cost of acquisition,
demolition and site improvements. Properties include both land intended for resale and land
designated as a public area. Land held for resale is recorded at the lower of cost or market value.

During 2012, the City of Appleton approved transferring title of ownership in the Foremost Farms
property in the amount of $500,000 to the Redevelopment Authority. The transfer was made so
that the Redevelopment Authority would qualify for a DNR Ready for Reuse Loan in 2012. When
this land is sold, the sale proceeds are due back to the City of Appleton. This is shown on the
financial statements as a note payable due to the primary government.

Notes Receivable

Long-Term Notes Receivable — Primary Government

The long-term note receivable of $290,000 ($15,000 is reflected as current; the other $275,000 is
not due within one year) from the primary government is related to the Redevelopment Authority’s
$300,000 DNR Ready for Reuse Loan. The City of Appleton will make payments to the
Redevelopment Authority equal to the amounts due by the Redevelopment Authority to the DNR
Ready for Reuse Loan. No interest is being charged. The repayment schedule is as follows:

Years Principal
2016 $ 15,000
2017 15,000
2018 25,000
2019 25,000
2020 35,000
2021 35,000
2022 45,000
2023 45,000
2024 50,000
Total $ 290,000
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K. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.)
Redevelopment Authority (cont.)
e. Notes Payable
Long-term Liabilities
DNR Ready for Reuse Loan

The Redevelopment Authority received a $300,000 Ready for Reuse loan in 2012. The Ready for
Reuse Loan program is a Wisconsin DNR program that offers grants and loans to local
governments and non-profits to help clean up environmental contamination at brownfield sites. All
loans are zero-interest and are for long-term projects. Loan applicants must provide a minimum of
22% of the requested funds as match contribution. Other state or local (but not federal) grants
may be used as “match” provided that the grant and loan periods overlap. In order to be approved
for a Ready for Reuse Loan, the City of Appleton was required to issue an obligation under
Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin State Statutes. Ready for Reuse Loans are to be paid within 10 years
after the original date of the obligation, except that the obligations may be refunded one or more
times. Any refunding shall be repaid within 20 years after the original date of the original
obligation.

This loan is in the name of the Redevelopment Authority; however, there is an intergovernmental
agreement whereby the City of Appleton will make payments to the Redevelopment Authority
equal to the debt repayments. See above for the long-term note receivable disclosure from the
primary government.

As a condition of being approved for the DNR Ready for Reuse Loan, the City of Appleton issued
$300,000 of Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2013(A) — Ready for Reuse
Loan Program. The loan is dated March 21, 2012, with a final due date of November 1, 2024. The
registered owner of the promissory note is the State of Wisconsin Ready for Reuse Loan and
Grant Program.

The DNR Ready for Reuse repayment schedule is as follows:

Years Principal
2016 $ 15,000
2017 15,000
2018 25,000
2019 25,000
2020 35,000
2021 35,000
2022 45,000
2023 45,000
2024 50,000
Total $ 290,000
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NOTE V — OTHER INFORMATION

A. EMPLOYEES’' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Pension. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary
net position of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions from WRS’ fiduciary
net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

General Information About the Pension Plan

Plan description. The WRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. WRS
benefits and other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms
may only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides coverage to all eligible State of
Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially employed by a
participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, and expected to work at least 1200 hours a year
and expected to be employed for at least one year from employee’s date of hire are eligible to participate
in the WRS.

Vesting. For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility for a
retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, and prior to July 1,
2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS eligible on or after July 1, 2011,
must have five years of creditable service to be vested.

Benefits provided. Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62
for elected officials and State executive participants) are entitled to receive an unreduced retirement
benefit. The factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average earnings, (2) years of creditable service,
and (3) a formula factor.

Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest years' earnings. Creditable
service is the creditable current and prior service expressed in years or decimal equivalents of partial
years for which a participant receives earnings and makes contributions as required. The formula factor is
a standard percentage based on employment category.

Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation employees) and receive reduced benefits.
Employees terminating covered employment before becoming eligible for a retirement benefit may
withdraw their contributions and forfeit all rights to any subsequent benefits.

The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

Post-retirement adjustments. The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity
payments from the retirement system based on annual investment performance in accordance with s.
40.27, Wis. Stat. An increase (or decrease) in annuity payments may result when investment gains
(losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as
determined by the system’s consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or other
similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously granted increases. By
law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed amount (the “floor”)
set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are as follows:

Core Fund Variable Fund
Year Adjustment Adjustment
2005 2.6% 7%
2006 0.8 3
2007 3.0 10
2008 6.6 0
2009 (2.1) (42)
2010 (1.3) 22
2011 (1.2) 11
2012 (7.0) (7)
2013 (9.6) 9
2014 4.7 25

Contributions. Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in accordance
with Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the
actuarially determined contribution rate for General category employees and Executives and Elected
Officials. Required contributions for protective employees are the same rate as general employees.
Employers are required to contribute the remainder of the actuarially determined contribution rate. The
employer may not pay the employee required contribution unless provided for by an existing collective
bargaining agreement.

During the reporting period, the WRS recognized $3,482,449 in contributions from the City.
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

Contribution rates as of December 31, 2015 are:

Employee Category Employee Employer
General 6.8% 6.8%
Executives & Elected Officials 7.7% 7.7%
Protective with Social Security 6.8% 9.5%
Protective without Social Security 6.8% 13.1%

Pension Assets, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At December 31, 2015, the City reported an asset of $8,638,294 for its proportionate share of the net
pension asset. The net pension asset was measured as of December 31, 2014, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December
31, 2013 rolled forward to December 31, 2014. No material changes in assumptions or benefit terms
occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date. The City’s proportion of the net
pension asset was based on the City’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
contributions of all participating employers. At December 31, 2014, the City’s proportion was
.35168290%, which was a decrease of .00142806% from its proportion measured as of December 31,
2013.

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $3,300,988.

At December 31, 2015, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 1,252,284

Net differences between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 4,183,079

Changes in proportion and differences between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 83,512
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 3,598,228
Totals $ 9,117,103
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

$3,598,228 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the WRS Employer’s
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
asset in the year ended December 31, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year Ended Deferred Outflows

December 31: of Resources
2016 $ 1,350,315
2017 1,350,315
2018 1,350,315
2019 1,350,314
2020 117,616

Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2014 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2013
Measurement Date of Net Pension Liability (Asset) December 31, 2014
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age

Asset Valuation Method: Fair Market Value
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 7.2%

Discount Rate: 7.2%

Salary Increases:

Inflation 3.2%

Seniority/Merit 0.2% - 5.8%
Mortality: Wisconsin 2012 Mortality Table
Post-retirement Adjustments*: 2.1%

* No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized investment
return, actuarial experience and other factors. 2.1% is the assumed annual adjustment based on the
investment return assumption and the post-retirement discount rate.

Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2012 using experience from

2009 — 2011. The total pension liability for December 31, 2014 is based upon a roll-forward of the liability
calculated from the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation.
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

Long-term expected return on plan assets. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected
future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Real

Asset Class Rate of Return Target Allocation

US Equities 5.3% 21%
International Equities 5.7 23

Fixed Income 17 36
Inflation Sensitive Assets 2.3 20

Real Estate 4.2 7

Private Equity/Debt 6.9 7
Multi-Asset 3.9 6

Cash 0.9 -20

Single discount rate. A single discount rate of 7.20% was used to measure the total pension liability.
This single discount rate was based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.20%
and a long term bond rate of 3.56%. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7.20% expected rate of
return implies that a dividend of approximately 2.1% will always be paid. For purposes of the single
discount rate, it was assumed that the dividend would always be paid. The projection of cash flows used
to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between
actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments
(including expected dividends) of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the
total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset to changes in the discount
rate. The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset calculated using the
discount rate of 7.20 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.20 percent) or
1-percentage-point higher (8.20 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease to 1% Increase to
Discount Rate Current Discount Discount Rate
(6.20%) Rate (7.20%) (8.20%)
City’s proportionate share of the
net pension liability (asset) $24,370,115 $(8,638,294) $(34,707,001)
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in separately issued financial statements available at http://legis.wisconsin.gov/lab/ and
reference report number 15-11.

At December 31, 2015, the City reported a payable to the pension plan which represents contractually
required contributions outstanding as of year-end.

B. RISk MANAGEMENT (COMMERCIAL/SELF INSURANCE)

The City is exposed to various risks of loss including torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; workers compensation; injuries to employees; natural disasters; environmental
pollution; and employment practices. The cost of providing these risk management services is allocated
by charging a “premium” to each fund based on historical estimates of the amounts needed to pay prior
and current year claims and administration costs. The charge considers recent trends in actual claims
experience of the City as a whole and makes provision for losses relating to catastrophes. “Premiums”
are allocated by fund based on estimated current-year payroll, property values and other appropriate
factors.

Risk Management Fund

All funds of the City participate in the Risk Management Fund. For 2015, the Risk Management Fund
provided coverage for up to $500,000 for each worker’'s compensation claim; $200,000 for each general,
automobile, police professional or public officials liability claim up to $800,000 in a year; and $1,000-
10,000 ($100,000/500,000 for flood and $50,000 deductible for earthquakes) for each property damage
claim. The City purchases commercial insurance for claims in excess of coverage provided by the fund
and other risks of loss. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past
three years, except for 2013, whereas the City paid $175,000 to settle an outstanding 2010 claim. There
were no significant reductions in coverage compared to the prior year. A total reserve for claims losses at
December 31, 2015 of $1,900,000 has been recorded and is expected to be paid within one year. The
reserve liability includes expenses and losses expected to arise from claims outstanding as of
December 31, 2015 and amounts expected to arise from claims which have been incurred but have not
been reported to the City as of December 31, 2015. The reserve is based on a 2015 actuarial study and
actual claims activity in recent years. A liability for a claim is established if information indicates that it is
probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the
loss is reasonably estimable. The City does not allocate overhead costs or other nonincremental costs to
the claims liability. The study took into account settled claims, the frequency of claims, industry averages
and other economic and social factors. Because actual claims liabilities depend on such complex factors
as inflation and damage awards, the process used to compute claims liability does not necessarily result
in an exact amount. At December 31, 2015, the City has a net position of $78,087 in the risk
management fund for self-insured activities not covered by the reserves established. This amount is
included in unrestricted net position.

Changes in the claims payable follow:

Balance Incurred Claims Balance
January 1 Claims Paid December 31
2014 $ 1,900,000 $ 608,338 $ 608,338 % 1,900,000
2015 1,900,000 1,468,077 1,468,077 1,900,000
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B. RISk MANAGEMENT (COMMERCIAL/SELF INSURANCE) (cont.)
Health Care

The City provides health and dental care benefits to employees through a self-funded plan with specific
insurance coverage. The plans are administered by United Health Care and Delta Dental. Insurance
premiums, based on historical cost, are paid into the general fund from all other City funds and are
available to pay claims, administrative costs, and stop loss claims.

Under this program, the City pays up to a maximum of $225,000 annually for each covered employee's
and each covered dependent’s health care costs. The City has purchased excess loss insurance for
claims in excess of this amount. Expected claims are calculated at the end of each plan year by the third
party administrator based on the number of single and family contracts covered and the expected claims.
Administrative costs for 2015 totaled approximately $470,327.

The estimated liability for self-funded losses is based on reported claims for the year and those received
subsequent to year end. The City does not allocate overhead costs or other nonincremental costs to the
claims liability. The estimated liability for self-insured losses for this program, which is expected to be paid
within one year, consisted of the following at December 31, 2015:

Reported and Known Claims $ 553,066
Incurred but not Reported Claims 2,383,934
Total $ 2,937,000

Changes in the claims payable follow:

Balance Incurred Claims Balance

January 1 Claims Paid December 31
2014 $ 2,937,000 $ 7,249,789 $ 7,249,789 $ 2,937,000
2015 2,937,000 7,715,334 7,715,334 2,937,000

Municipal Mutual Insurance
Transit Mutual Insurance Corporation of Wisconsin (TMi)

Transit Mutual Insurance Corporation of Wisconsin (TMi) is a municipal mutual insurance corporation,
which insures auto liability and vehicle physical damage for municipally-owned transit systems in
Wisconsin. Each insured property is an owner of the mutual insurance corporation. The City insures its
transit systems’ auto liability and physical damage with TMi and is an owner of the corporation.

In 2015, TMi issued to the City an auto liability insurance policy with a $250,000 per person policy limit
and a $7,000,000 per accident policy limit. Of the per accident policy limit, TMi insures $2,000,000 and
reinsures $5,000,000 with Genesis Insurance. In addition, the City’s policy provides for $25,000 per
person and $50,000 per accident in uninsured/underinsured motorist insurance.

The physical damage policy issued by TMi to the City provides collision and comprehensive coverage for
the lesser of the agreed value or the cost of repairs minus a $500 per accident deductible for private
passenger and service units and a $1,000 per accident deductible for bus units.
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B. RISk MANAGEMENT (COMMERCIAL/SELF INSURANCE) (cont.)
Municipal Mutual Insurance (cont.)
Transit Mutual Insurance Corporation of Wisconsin (TMi) (cont.)

Management of TMi consists of a board of directors comprised of one representative for each member.
The City does not exercise any control over the activities of the corporation beyond its representation on
the board of directors.

Premiums are determined in advance of each premium year, which begins on January 1. TMi is an
assessable mutual; accordingly, the board of directors may require that supplemental contributions be
made by members to ensure adequate funds are available to meet the obligations acceptable to the
premium year. Members are required by Wisconsin statute and TMi bylaws to fund any deficit attributable
to a premium year during which they were a member. TMi was incorporated in 1985 and began issuing
insurance policies in 1986; there has never been a member assessment beyond the annual premiums. In
2015, TMi did not issue any refunds to the City.

The City’s share of this corporation is 4.86% for auto liability and 2.87% of physical damage liability. A list
of the other members and their share of participation is available in the TMi report which can be obtained
directly from TMi’s offices.

Wisconsin Municipal Insurance Commission (WMIC)

Cities and Villages Mutual Insurance Company (CVMIC)

CVMIC is a municipal mutual insurance company established on September 14, 1987 under

Section 611.23 of the Wisconsin Statutes. CVMIC provides liability insurance coverage to the cities and
villages which make up the membership of the WMIC that was established under Section 66.30 of the
Wisconsin Statutes governing intergovernmental cooperation commissions.

CVMIC insures the municipalities up to $5,000,000 per occurrence above the self-insured retention
amount selected by each individual city or village. CVMIC also provides excess insurance of $5,000,000
over the CVMIC layer thru a group purchase program paid proportionately by members for a total limit of
$10,000,000 per occurrence. Members pay premiums based on their self-insured retention amount,
claims experience and population.

Management of CVMIC and WMIC consists of a board of directors and officers elected by the
membership from each class of participants based on population. The board of directors hires the
company executive director who in turn hires the management staff of CVMIC. The City does not
exercise any control over the activities of CVMIC and WMIC beyond the election of the officer and board.

Financial statements of CVMIC can be obtained directly from CVMIC's offices. The City's Mutual Member
Participation Calculation for 2015 is calculated at 3.969%. This calculation is based on premiums, claims
and self-insured retention of the City as compared to the entire membership. The City's participation
portion of available funds would be distributed upon dissolution. WMIC is not required to have an audit.

The City pays an annual premium to CVMIC for its general liability insurance as noted. The City's self-
insured retention amount annually is $200,000 per occurrence and $1,000,000 in the aggregate.
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B. RISk MANAGEMENT (COMMERCIAL/SELF INSURANCE) (cont.)

Wisconsin Municipal Insurance Commission (WMIC) (cont.)

Cities and Villages Mutual Insurance Company (CVMIC) (cont.)

The City’s equity portion of available funds in CVMIC is refundable upon withdrawal from the commission,
if available. The original investment is reported at $2,020,950 in the insurance internal service fund. This
investment has been fully repaid (both principal and interest) by CVMIC.

C. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is only
reported in governmental fund types if it has matured. Claims and judgments are recorded in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities are incurred.

From time to time, the City is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the
outcome of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the
City Attorney that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the City’s financial position or results of operations.

In previous years, the Fox River cleanup has been identified as a source of potential liability to the City.
The City reached a settlement in 2014 in the amount of $5,200,000. Certain parties are attempting to
bring the City back into the cleanup as a responsible party.

Two former City employees are entitled to monthly disability benefits from the City for the rest of their
lives. Disability payments total $1,190 per month. The City’s policy is to fund disability expenditures as
benefit payments become due. The liability for future payments is presently reflected as a liability on the
Statement of Net Position.

The City and the utilities have active construction projects as of December 31, 2015. Work that has been
completed but not yet paid for (including contract retainages) is reflected as accounts payable and
expenses.

The City has the following encumbrance outstanding at year end and expected to be honored upon
performance by the vendor:

Water Utility $1,790,356
Stormwater Utility 608,856
Facilities Capital Projects 141,985

The City has issued municipal revenue obligations as part of developer agreements. The obligations are
payable solely to the developer from tax increments collected on specific portions of the development in
the City’s TIF districts. The obligation does not constitute a charge upon any funds of the City. In the
event that future tax increments are not sufficient to pay off the obligation, the obligation terminates with
no further liability to the City. Since the amount of future payments is contingent on the collection of future
TIF increments, the obligation is not reported as a liability in the accompanying financial statements.
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D. BoND COVENANT DISCLOSURES
The following information is provided in compliance with the resolution creating the revenue bond notes:
Insurance

The City is covered under the following insurance policies at December 31, 2015:

Original
Name of Insurer/Type Amount Coverage (Risks Covered) Expiration Date
MBIA Insurance Corporation $ 4,881,427 Full and complete payment 4/1/2019
Financial Security Assurance 5,345,625 Full and complete payment 4/1/2020
Financial Guaranty Insurance 7,653,530 Full and complete payment 4/1/2021
Company
Financial Security Assurance 3,611,263 Full and complete payment 4/1/2022
MBIA Insurance Corporation 5,653,683 Full and complete payment 4/1/2023
MBIA Insurance Corporation 5,242,091 Full and complete payment 4/1/2024
MBIA Insurance Corporation 11,394,419 Full and complete payment 4/1/2026
Financial Security Assurance 7,997,883 Full and complete payment 5/1/2027
Financial Security Assurance 5,107,157 Full and complete payment 4/1/2026
MBIA Insurance Corporation 85,576,992 Full and complete payment 1/1/2025
MBIA Insurance Corporation 18,724,152 Full and complete payment 1/1/2026
Number of Customers —Water
Unmetered
Commercial 26
Metered
Residential 25,280
Commercial 1,695
Industrial 75
Public Authority 95
Multi-family 311
Wholesale 3
Total 27,485
Number of Customers — Sewer
Metered
Residential 25,190
Commercial 1,587
Industrial 70
Public Authority 80
Multi-family 311
Total 27,238
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D. BoOND COVENANT DISCLOSURES (cont.)

Number of Equivalent Run Off Units — Stormwater

Residential 24,239
Commercial 25,620
Industrial 4,065
Public Authority 4,139
Multi-family 2,101

Total 60,164

E. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

The City administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan (“the Retiree Health Plan”). The
City’s group health insurance plan provides coverage to active employees and retirees (or other qualified
terminated employees) at blended premium rates. This results in an other postemployment benefit
(OPEB) for the retirees, commonly referred to as an implicit rate subsidy.

Contribution requirements are established through collective bargaining agreements and City policies.
The City makes the same monthly health insurance contribution on behalf of the retiree as it makes on
behalf of all other active employees during that year. The retirees pay 100% of the premium amounts
under the plan. For fiscal year 2015, total member contributions were $0.

The City’s annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the
annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with
parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing
basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or
funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years. The following table shows the components of
the City’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the
City’s net OPEB obligation to the Retiree Health Plan:

Annual required contribution $ 361,337
Interest on net OPEB obligation 29,086
Adjustment to annual required contribution -

Annual OPEB cost 390,423
Contributions made -
Increase in Net OPEB Obligation 390,423
Net OPEB Obligation — Beginning of Year 581,712
Net OPEB Obligation — End of Year $ 972,135
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E. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (cont.)

The City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net
OPEB obligation were as follows:

Percentage
Annual of Annual Net OPEB
OPEB OPEB Cost Obligation/
Fiscal Year Ended Cost Contributed (Asset)
12/31/15 $ 390,423 -% $ 972,135
12/31/14 355,677 70% 581,712
12/31/13 328,749 -% 473,482

The funded status of the plans as of January 1, 2015, the most recent actuarial valuation date, was as
follows:

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 3,066,423
Actuarial value of plan assets -

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) $ 3,066,423
Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0%
Covered payroll (active plan members) $ 34,712,280
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 9%

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates for the value of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined
regarding the funded status of the plan and annual required contributions of the employer are subject to
continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made
about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information that shows whether
the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued
liabilities for benefits.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan is
understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of
each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing benefit costs between the employer and plan
members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are
designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and actuarial value of assets,
consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

In the actuarial valuation, the unit credit actuarial cost method was used. The actuarial assumptions
include a 5% investment rate of return and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 5.5% for employees
and 6.5% for spouses initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5% after 10 years. Both rates
include a 3% inflation assumption. The plan’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a
level dollar of projected payroll on an open basis. The amortization period at December 31, 2015 was 30
years. The City accounts for these activities in the post-employment benefits internal service fund, which
has a net position of $492,110 as of December 31, 2015.

-77 -



CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE V — OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

F.

RELATED ORGANIZATIONS

Housing Authority

The City’s officials are responsible for appointing board members of the City of Appleton Housing
Authority, but the City’s accountability for this organization does not extend beyond making the
appointments.

G.

EFFECT OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ON CURRENT-PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved the following:

>

>

Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application

Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That are
Not Within the Scope of GASB Statement No. 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of
GASB Statements 67 and 68

Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension
Plans

Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions

Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State and
Local Government

Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures

Statement No. 78, Pensions Provided Through Certain Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit
Pension Plans
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CITY OF APPLETON

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Budgeted Amounts Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
Taxes $ 33,552,806 $ 33,552,806 $ 33,561,615 $ 8,809
Intergovernmental 15,294,977 15,381,477 15,469,342 87,865
Licenses and permits 1,011,300 1,011,300 1,147,980 136,680
Fines and forfeitures 350,000 350,000 273,814 (76,186)
Special assessments 596,500 596,500 470,806 (125,694)
Investment income 2,675,500 2,675,500 1,687,586 (987,914)
Charges for services 1,262,843 1,262,843 1,311,008 48,165
Other 1,401,224 1,560,366 2,065,768 505,402
Total Revenues 56,145,150 56,390,792 55,987,919 (402,873)
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government 6,836,387 9,050,144 6,996,188 2,053,956
Public safety 28,591,300 28,796,554 28,537,213 259,341
Public works 14,352,181 14,462,203 13,045,495 1,416,708
Education and recreation 7,636,756 7,798,336 7,804,714 (6,378)
Community development 1,663,319 1,677,255 1,699,819 (22,564)
Total Expenditures 59,079,943 61,784,492 58,083,429 3,701,063
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (2,934,793) (5,393,700) (2,095,510) 3,298,190
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of city property 7,000 7,000 21,139 14,139
Transfers in 3,541,355 3,779,278 3,713,574 (65,704)
Transfers out (648,562) (1,493,892) (1,488,336) 5,556
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 2,899,793 2,292,386 2,246,377 (46,009)
Net Change in Fund Balance (35,000) (3,101,314) 150,867 3,252,181
FUND BALANCE - Beginning 31,448,933 31,448,933 31,448,933 -

FUND BALANCE - ENDING

$ 31,413,933 $ 28,347,619 $31,599,800 $ 3,252,181

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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CITY OF APPLETON

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 3
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Original Final Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
Taxes $ 1,020,000 $ 1,020,000 $ 994,264 $ (25,736)
Intergovernmental 8,000 8,000 1,729 (6,271)
Investment income 5,000 5,000 6,149 1,149
Total Revenues 1,033,000 1,033,000 1,002,142 (30,858)
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government 2,050 2,050 1,659 391
Debt Service
Interest and fiscal charges 571,068 571,068 571,068 -
Total Expenditures 573,118 573,118 572,727 391
Excess of revenues over expenditures 459,882 459,882 429,415 (30,467)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 -
Transfers out (99,313) (99,313) (99,313) -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,100,687 1,100,687 1,100,687 -
Net Change in Fund Balance 1,560,569 1,560,569 1,530,102 (30,467)
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) - Beginning (12,295,713)  (12,295,713) (12,261,157) 34,556
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - ENDING $(10,735,144) $ (10,735,144) $(10,731,055) $ 4,089

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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CITY OF APPLETON

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Actuarial

Accrued UAAL as a

Actuarial Actuarial Liability (AAL) Percentage

Valuation Value of Entry Age Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered

Date Assets Normal Cost AAL (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

12/31/2014 % - $ 3,066,423 $ 3,066,423 0% $ 34,712,280 8.8%
12/31/2012 - 2,984,470 2,984,470 0% 36,135,263 8.3%
12/31/2010 - 2,076,834 2,076,834 0% 38,287,577 5.4%

See independent auditors’ report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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CITY OF APPLETON

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION ASSET -
WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Proportionate
Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary
Proportion Proportionate Pension Asset Net Position
of the Net Share of the as a Percentage as a Percentage
Fiscal Pension Net Pension Covered of Covered of the Total
Year Ending Asset Asset Payroll Payroll Pension Asset
12/31/15 0.35168290% $ 8,638,294 $ 39,160,783 22.06% 102.74%

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS - WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Contributions in

Relation to the Contributions
Contractually Contractually Contribution as a Percentage
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered
Year Ending _ Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll
12/31/15 $ 3,598,230 $ 3,598,230 $ - $ 41,437,908 8.68%

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to the required supplementary information.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

BUDGETARY INFORMATION

Budgetary information is derived from the annual operating budget and is presented using the same basis
of accounting for each fund as described in Note I.C.

The budget presentations are at the function level, whereas the legal level of control is at the total
expenditures level.

WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM

The amounts determined for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred
within the fiscal year.

The City is required to present the last ten fiscal years of data; however accounting standards allow the
presentation of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented.

Changes in benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in the
Wisconsin Retirement System.

Changes in Assumptions. There were no changes in assumptions.

See independent auditors’ report.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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CITY OF APPLETON

DETAILED SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

TAXES
Property tax
Payment in lieu of taxes
Total Taxes

INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
State shared revenues
State aid - exempt computers
Highway aid - connecting streets
State tax disparity act
State aid - local streets
State aid - fire insurance dues
Miscellaneous state aids
Miscellaneous local aids
Library grants and aids
Health grants

Total Intergovernmental Revenues

LICENSES AND PERMITS
Licenses
Amusement devices
Cigarette
Health
Heating
Liquor and malt beverages
Operators
Commercial solicitation
Taxi cab/limousine
Taxi driver
Sundry
Secondhand/pawnbroker
Special events
Dog
Cat
Weights and measures
Permits
Building
Electrical
Heating
Plumbing and sewer
Burning
Trailer parking
State building
Signs
Street occupancy
Street excavating and patching
Sundry
Total Licenses and Permits

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget
$ 33,145,306 $33,145,306 $ 33,142,478 $ (2,828)
407,500 407,500 419,137 11,637
33,552,806 33,552,806 33,561,615 8,809
9,740,329 9,740,329 9,749,092 8,763
350,000 350,000 300,396 (49,604)
225,000 225,000 225,716 716
1,132,623 1,132,623 1,122,637 (9,986)
2,335,194 2,335,194 2,475,679 140,485
185,000 185,000 187,375 2,375
213,929 299,866 281,241 (18,625)
7,500 7,500 14,471 6,971
1,097,902 1,097,902 1,101,454 3,552
7,500 8,063 11,281 3,218
15,294,977 15,381,477 15,469,342 87,865
8,000 8,000 8,080 80
5,500 5,500 5,700 200
127,000 127,000 145,302 18,302

- - 575 575

80,000 80,000 83,942 3,942
94,500 94,500 85,374 (9,126)
10,000 10,000 4,955 (5,045)
1,500 1,500 1,690 190
4,200 4,200 4,000 (200)
6,900 6,900 7,732 832
2,000 2,000 2,280 280
17,000 17,000 21,464 4,464
25,000 25,000 18,556 (6,444)
10,000 10,000 7,134 (2,866)
57,600 57,600 55,699 (1,901)
260,000 260,000 349,301 89,301
110,000 110,000 125,529 15,529
58,000 58,000 63,395 5,395
57,000 57,000 73,389 16,389
26,000 26,000 30,231 4,231
9,000 9,000 7,957 (1,043)
2,000 2,000 2,025 25
3,000 3,000 4,740 1,740
8,000 8,000 8,640 640
26,000 26,000 25,240 (760)
3,100 3,100 5,050 1,950
1,011,300 1,011,300 1,147,980 136,680
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CITY OF APPLETON

DETAILED SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

FINES AND FORFEITURES
Court fines and costs
Total Fines and Forfeitures

SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS
Asphalt paving
Concrete paving
Grade and gravel
Sidewalks
Freeway fence
Snow removal
Weed cutting
Street light revenue
Miscellaneous

Total Special Assessments

INVESTMENT INCOME
Investment income
Interest on advances
Interest on taxes
Interest - deferred special assessments

Total Investment Income

CHARGES FOR SERVICES

Legal services
Mayor
Finance
Library
Community development
Parks and recreation
Public Works

Street division

Traffic

Forestry

Inspection department
Health department
Police department
Fire department

Total Charges for Services

OTHER
Fees and commissions
Zoning and subdivision fees
Property inquiry fees
Miscellaneous revenue
Rental of city property
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Budgeted Amounts

Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget
350,000 $ 350,000 $ 273814 $ (76,186)
350,000 350,000 273,814 (76,186)
153,500 153,500 124,995 (28,505)
250,000 250,000 168,832 (81,168)

10,000 10,000 8,852 (1,148)
4,000 4,000 5,089 1,089

- - 239 239

82,000 82,000 73,682 (8,318)
20,000 20,000 14,689 (5,311)
75,000 75,000 72,530 (2,470)
2,000 2,000 1,898 (102)
596,500 596,500 470,806 (125,694)
1,505,500 1,505,500 554,605 (950,895)
1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 -
100,000 100,000 91,935 (8,065)
70,000 70,000 41,046 (28,954)
2,675,500 2,675,500 1,687,586 (987,914)
32,200 32,200 19,961 (12,239)
12,500 12,500 10,890 (1,610)
3,700 3,700 3,746 46
82,000 82,000 63,832 (18,168)
800 800 831 31
535,053 535,053 576,376 41,323
10,000 10,000 1,590 (8,410)
73,550 73,550 79,422 5,872
1,000 1,000 90 (910)
47,000 47,000 80,542 33,542
67,980 67,980 68,509 529
374,560 374,560 363,903 (10,657)
22,500 22,500 41,316 18,816
1,262,843 1,262,843 1,311,008 48,165
828,450 828,450 839,325 10,875
16,500 16,500 20,355 3,855
65,000 65,000 73,620 8,620
49,423 49,423 43,612 (5,811)
45,175 45,175 48,864 3,689



CITY OF APPLETON

DETAILED SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

OTHER (cont.)
Donations and memorials
Damage to city property
Other reimbursements
Leases
Refund of prior year expenditures
Board of appeals

Total Other

Total Revenues

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Sale of city property
Transfers From
Room tax fund
Wheel tax fund
Tax Incremental District No. 5
Water utility fund - property tax equivalent
Water utility fund
Wastewater utility fund
Parking utility fund
Stormwater utility fund
Reid municipal golf course fund
Total Transfers

Total Other Financing Sources

TOTAL REVENUES AND OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES
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Budgeted Amounts

Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget
$ 16,500 $ 92,352 $ 100,908 $ 8,556
42,000 42,000 64,820 22,820
232,324 315,614 766,974 451,360
103,852 103,852 104,197 345

- - 48 48

2,000 2,000 3,045 1,045
1,401,224 1,560,366 2,065,768 505,402
56,145,150 56,390,792 55,987,919 (402,873)
7,000 7,000 21,139 14,139
40,000 40,000 79,223 39,223
1,400,005 1,400,005 1,275,331 (124,674)

- 237,923 237,923 -

1,930,400 1,930,400 1,950,147 19,747
13,800 13,800 13,800 -
117,450 117,450 117,450 -
9,300 9,300 9,300 -
12,500 12,500 12,500 -
17,900 17,900 17,900 -
3,541,355 3,779,278 3,713,574 (65,704)
3,548,355 3,786,278 3,734,713 (51,565)
$ 59,693,505 $60,177,0710 $59,722,632 $ (454,438)




CITY OF APPLETON

DETAILED SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Original Final Actual Final Budget
GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Common council $ 138541 $ 138541 $ 139,943 $ (1,402)
Mayor 341,135 354,965 352,420 2,545
Legal services 1,083,706 1,149,705 1,028,637 121,068
Finance 864,998 871,986 808,920 63,066
Information services 1,710,255 1,799,819 1,728,125 71,694
Human resources 694,034 702,520 707,179 (4,659)
Unclassified 2,003,718 4,032,608 2,230,964 1,801,644
Total General Government 6,836,387 9,050,144 6,996,188 2,053,956
PUBLIC SAFETY
Health services 1,171,423 1,179,432 1,149,188 30,244
Police 16,394,568 16,519,530 16,186,952 332,578
Fire 11,025,309 11,097,592 11,201,073 (103,481)
Total Public Safety 28,591,300 28,796,554 28,537,213 259,341
PUBLIC WORKS 14,352,181 14,462,203 13,045,495 1,416,708
EDUCATION AND RECREATION
Library 4,294,408 4,424,732 4,411,772 12,960
Parks and recreation 3,342,348 3,373,604 3,392,942 (19,338)
Total Education and Recreation 7,636,756 7,798,336 7,804,714 (6,378)
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 1,663,319 1,677,255 1,699,819 (22,564)
OTHER FINANCING USES
Transfers Out To
CEA replacement fund 57,500 57,500 57,500 -
Community development fund - 845,330 845,330 -
Valley transit fund 591,062 591,062 585,506 5,556
Total Other Financing Uses 648,562 1,493,892 1,488,336 5,556
TOTAL EXPENDITURES AND OTHER
FINANCING USES $ 59,728,505 $ 63,278,384 $59,571,765 $ 3,706,619
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND INFORMATION



NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AND BUDGETARY COMPARISONS

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources
(other than special assessments or other major capital projects) that are legally
restricted to expenditures for specified purposes.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT

To account for the proceeds of the Federal Community Development Block Grant
and the corresponding program expenditures for housing, homeless, and
community development projects.

RENTAL REHABILITATION GRANTS

To account for the proceeds of the Rental Energy Rehabilitation and Rental
Rehabilitation Grant and the corresponding program expenditures for rental
housing and energy rehabilitation loans.

SANITATION AND RECYCLING PROGRAM

To account for the proceeds received from the collection of recyclable solid
waste and the corresponding program expenditures.

HEALTH GRANTS

To account for receipt of a variety of State health grants and corresponding
program expenditures. Health services provided include maternal, child health,
immunization education, lead paint, bioterrorism, and radon identification.

POLICE GRANTS

To account for the grant proceeds and corresponding expenditures related to
various law enforcement grants.

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS LEVEL A

To account for the proceeds of a state contract and the corresponding program
expenditures to provide certain “Level A” services relating to the containment of
hazardous substances in the event of an accidental spill within a region of
northeast Wisconsin, as determined through negotiations with the State.



NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AND BUDGETARY COMPARISONS

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (CONTINUED)
ROOM TAX

To account for the receipt of room tax proceeds and the corresponding
remittance to the Fox Cities Convention and Visitors Bureau.

WHEEL TAX

To account for the proceeds of vehicle registration fees and corresponding
transfer to the general fund to be used for street reconstruction projects.

CONTINUUM OF CARE GRANT
To account for the grant proceeds and corresponding expenditures related to

providing extensive case management and supportive services to chronically
homeless residents.

HOME HOMEOWNER GRANT
To account for the proceeds of the HOME Grant, and related program income,

and the corresponding program expenditures for rehabilitation of owner-occupied
homes of low to moderate income residents.

HOUSING REHABILITATION GRANT

To account for a portion of the proceeds of the Community Development Block
Grant, and related expenditures, related to the rehabilitation of owner-occupied
homes of low to moderate income residents.

BUSINESS AND NEIGHBORHOOD REVITALIZATION GRANT
To account for a portion of the proceeds of the Community Development Block
Grant, and related expenditures, related to the rehabilitation of older residential
and commercial properties within targeted central City neighborhoods.
EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT
To account for the grant proceeds, and corresponding program expenditures

related to a program to benefit persons in need of emergency and transitional
housing.



NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AND BUDGETARY COMPARISONS

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (CONTINUED)
LEAD HAZARD CONTROL GRANT

To account for the grant proceeds, and corresponding program expenditures, to
provide low to moderate income homeowners and property owners of low-
income rental units with financial and related technical assistance in eliminating
lead based paint hazards from their properties.

TUCHSCHERER DISABILITY

To account for monies received by the City in an employee disability settlement
and the corresponding expenditures for such purposes.

PEABODY ESTATE

To account for private donations received to finance the repair, construction and
preservation of Peabody Park and the corresponding expenditures for such
purposes.

BALLIET LOCOMOTIVE

To account for private donations received to finance the maintenance of a steam
engine located at Telulah Park and the corresponding expenditures for such
purpose.

LUTZ PARK

To account for a private donation received to finance the construction and
preservation of recreational facilities at Lutz Park and the corresponding
expenditures for such purpose.

PARK PURPOSE OPEN SPACE
To account for monies received from subdivision developers to finance future
acquisition of park facilities and the corresponding expenditures for park
purposes.

UNION SPRING PARK

To account for private donations received to finance the maintenance of the well
at Union Spring Park.



NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AND BUDGETARY COMPARISONS

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

PROJECT CITY PARK

To account for donations received to finance the maintenance of the plaza at City
Park and the corresponding expenditures for such purposes.

UNIVERSAL PLAYGROUND

To account for donations received to finance the future replacement of
playground equipment at the Universal Playground at Memorial Park.

MIRACLE LEAGUE BASEBALL

To account for donations received to finance the maintenance and upgrade costs
of the Miracle League Baseball Field and its associated amenities.

DEBT SERVICE FUND

DEBT SERVICE FUND

To account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, general
long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs, excluding that payable from
proprietary funds.

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Capital projects funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities other than those financed by
proprietary funds and trust funds. Resources are derived from general obligation bond
and note issues, certain federal grants and other specific receipts.

SUBDIVISION DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

To account for the receipt of special assessments levied and the disbursement of
funds necessary to construct public improvements in new subdivisions.



NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AND BUDGETARY COMPARISONS

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS (CONTINUED)

INDUSTRIAL PARK LAND
To account for the sales and acquisition of land for the City’s industrial parks.
TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 5

To account for the financing and project costs for public improvement and private
development within the area of T.I.D. No. 5 as provided for in the Tax District’s
project plan.

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 6

To account for the financing and project costs for public improvement and private
development within the area of T.I1.D. No. 6 as provided for in the Tax District’s
project plan.

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 7

To account for the financing and project costs for public improvement and private
development within the area of T.I.D. No. 7 as provided for in the Tax District’s
project plan.

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 8

To account for the financing and project costs for public improvement and private
development within the area of T.I1.D. No. 8 as provided for in the Tax District’s
project plan.

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 9

To account for the financing and project costs for public improvement and private
development within the area of T.I.D. No. 9 as provided for in the Tax District’s
project plan.

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 10
To account for the financing and project costs for public improvement and private

development within the area of T.I.D. No. 10 as provided for in the Tax District's
project plan.



NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AND BUDGETARY COMPARISONS

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS (CONTINUED)

PUBLIC SAFETY FACILITIES

To account for the financing and project costs of public safety improvements.
PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMENT

To account for the financing and acquisition of certain public works equipment.
CEA REPLACEMENT

To account for the financing and expenditures associated with the replacement of
vehicles and equipment in the City’s Central Equipment Agency.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

To account for the financing and expenditures associated with redevelopment
projects in various areas of the City.

FACILITIES CAPITAL PROJECTS

To account for the financing and expenditures associated with construction of,
and capital improvements to City owned facilities.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
To account for the financing and expenditures associated with major upgrades to

the City’s electronic infrastructure, including the computer network and various
software applications.



CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

As of December 31, 2015

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Receivables
Taxes
Deferred loans
Accounts
Developer loans
Special assessments
Other
Due from other governments
Due from other funds
Note receivable - component unit

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Other accrued liabilities
Due to other funds
Deposits
Advances from other funds
Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenue
Unavailable revenue

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fund Balances
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned (deficit)
Total Fund Balances

TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND
FUND BALANCES

Special Revenue Funds

Community
Development Rental Sanitation & Hazardous
Block Rehabilitation Recycling Health Police Materials

Grant Grants Program Grants Grants Level A

$ - $ 44,256 $ 1,058,037 $ 27,361 - $ 364,798
- - 2,044,968 - - -
- 763,501 - - - -
- - 6,424 1,000 - -
- - 291,693 - - -
103,187 - - 58,618 14,329 -
- - 53,073 - - -
$ 103,187 $ 807,757 $ 3,454,195 $ 86,979 14,329 $ 364,798
$ 68,589 $ - $ 104818 $ 6,220 9 $ 349
15 - 20,753 1,871 - -
34,583 - - - 14,230 -
103,187 - 125,571 8,091 14,329 349
7,576 - 2,044,968 92,610 - 16,669
- 763,501 7,178 - 12,273 -
7,576 763,501 2,052,146 92,610 12,273 16,669
- 44,256 - - - 347,780
- - 1,276,478 - - -
(7,576) - - (13,722) (12,273) -
(7,576) 44,256 1,276,478 (13,722) (12,273) 347,780
$ 103,187 $ 807,757 $ 3,454,195 $ 86,979 $ 14,329 $ 364,798
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Continued on
Next Page

Special Revenue Funds

Business and

Housing Neighborhood

Continuum of HOME Rehabilitation ~ Revitalization =~ Emergency Lead Hazard Tuchscherer

Room Tax Wheel Tax Care Homeowner Grant Grant Shelter  Control Grant Disability
$ - $ - $ 4215 $ 46434 $ - 1,308 $ - $ 35716 $ 36,605
- - - - - 3,000 - - -
- - - 178,234 5,338,394 - - 167,509 -
- - - - 50 - - - -
109,500 - - - - - - - -
- 86,610 46,406 - 19,557 - 72,173 - -
$ 109500 $ 86,610 $ 50,621 $ 224,668 $ 5,358,001 4308 $ 72173 $ 203,225 $ 36,605
$ 99,071 $ - $ 45621 $ - $ 448  $ - $ 43577 % - $ -
- - - - 1,063 - - - -
10,429 86,610 - - 18,096 - 28,596 - -
109,500 86,610 45,621 - 19,607 - 72,173 - -
- - - - - 3,000 1,464 - -
- - - 178,234 5,338,394 - - 167,509 -
- - - 178,234 5,338,394 3,000 1,464 167,509 -
- - 5,000 46,434 - 1,308 - 35,716 36,605
- - - - - - (1,464) - -
- - 5,000 46,434 - 1,308 (1,464) 35,716 36,605
$ 109500 $ 86,610 $ 50,621 $ 224,668 $ 5,358,001 4308 $ 72,173 $ 203,225 $ 36,605
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CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (cont.)
As of December 31, 2015

Special Revenue Funds

Park
Peabody Balliet Purpose Union Project
Estate Locomotive Lutz Park  Open Space Spring Park City Park

ASSETS

Cash and investments $ 65191 $ 11,387 $ 135841 $ 317,839 $ 2519 $ 5,924

Receivables
Taxes - - - - - -
Deferred loans - - - - - -
Accounts - - - - - -
Developer loans - - - - - -
Special assessments - - - - - -
Other - - - - - -

Due from other governments - - - - - -

Due from other funds - - - - - -

Note receivable - component unit - - - - - -

TOTAL ASSETS $ 65,191 $ 11,387 $ 135841 $ 317,839 $ 2519 $ 5,924

LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - $ - 3 - $ - $ - % -
Other accrued liabilities - - - - - -
Due to other funds - - - - - -
Deposits - - - - - -
Advances from other funds - - - - - -

Total Liabilities - - - - - -

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenue - - - - R -
Unavailable revenue - - - - - -

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - - - - - -

Fund Balances
Restricted 65,191 11,387 135,841 317,839 2,519 5,924
Committed - - - - - -
Assigned - - - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - - - - -

Total Fund Balances 65,191 11,387 135,841 317,839 2,519 5,924

TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND
FUND BALANCES $ 65,191 $ 11,387 $ 135841 $ 317,839 $ 2,519 $ 5,924
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Continued on

Next Page
Special Revenue Funds Capital Projects Funds

Tax Tax Tax Tax
Miracle Subdivision Industrial Incremental Incremental Incremental Incremental

Universal League Debt Development Park District District District District

Playground Baseball Service Projects Land No. 6 No. 7 No. 8 No. 9
$ 358 $ 25690 $ 363344 $ 674606 $ 1,758,184 $ 257,182 $ 504,096 $ 407,771 $ 51,704
- - 2,928,106 846,370 - 2,090,076 310,168 262,672 33,007
- - - 743,637 - - - - -
- - - - - - - 1,600,000 -
- - - 437,703 - - - - -
- - 231,667 - - - - - -
- - - - - - - 500,000 -
$ 358 $ 25690 $ 3,523,117 $ 2,702,316 $ 1,758,184 $ 2,347,258 $ 814,264 $ 2,770,443 $ 84,711
$ - 8 - 8 - $ 1,038 $ 325 % 34 $ - $ 10,000 $ -
- - - 450 - 118 - - -
- - - - 2,100 - - 59,540 -
- - - - - 2,962,975 - 915,902 89,992
- - - 1,488 2,425 2,963,127 - 985,442 89,992
- - 2,928,106 500,000 - 2,090,076 310,168 262,672 33,007
- - 231,667 536,390 - - - 2,100,000 -
- - 3,159,773 1,036,390 - 2,090,076 310,168 2,362,672 33,007
358 25,690 363,344 - - - 504,096 350,000 -
- - - 1,664,438 1,755,759 - - - -
- - - - - (2,705,945) - (927,671) (38,288)
358 25,690 363,344 1,664,438 1,755,759  (2,705,945) 504,096 (577,671) (38,288)
$ 358 $ 25,690 $ 3,523,117 $ 2,702,316 $ 1,758,184 $ 2,347,258 $ 814,264 $ 2,770,443 $ 84,711
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CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (cont.)
As of December 31, 2015

Capital Projects Funds

Tax
Incremental Public Public Facilities
District Safety Works CEA Community Capital
No. 10 Facilities Equipment  Replacement Development Projects
ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 32061 $ 40,739 $ 491,394 $ 2,018,782 $ - $ 1,230,253
Receivables
Taxes 11,924 - - - - -
Deferred loans - - - - - -
Accounts - - - - - -

Developer loans - - - - - R
Special assessments - - - - - -
Other - - 940 - - -
Due from other governments - - - - - R
Due from other funds - - - - - -
Note receivable - component unit - - - - - -

TOTAL ASSETS $ 43985 $ 40,739 $ 492334 $ 2,018,782 $ - $ 1,230,253

LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - % 30,000 $ 101,191 $ - 8 - $ 378,149
Other accrued liabilities - - 300 - - 679
Due to other funds - - - - 1,563,471 -
Deposits - - - - - -
Advances from other funds - - - - - -

Total Liabilities - 30,000 101,491 - 1,563,471 378,828

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenue 11,924 - - R R R
Unavailable revenue - - - - - R

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 11,924 - - - - -

Fund Balances
Restricted 32,061 - 192,525 - - 848,920
Committed - - - - -
Assigned - 10,739 198,318 2,018,782 - 2,505
Unassigned (deficit) - - - - (1,563,471) -

Total Fund Balances 32,061 10,739 390,843 2,018,782 (1,563,471) 851,425

TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND
FUND BALANCES $ 43,985 $ 40,739 $ 492,334 $ 2,018,782 $ - $ 1,230,253
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Continued from
Previous Page

Capital
Projects Funds
Total
Nonmajor
Information Governmental
Technology Funds

$ 107,950 $ 10,121,545

- 8,530,291
- 6,447,638
- 751,111
- 1,600,000
- 437,703
- 633,800
- 400,880
- 53,073
- 500,000

$ 107,950 $ 29,476,041

$ - $ 889,529
- 25,249
- 1,756,015
- 61,640
- 3,968,869
- 6,701,302

- 8,302,240
- 9,335,146
17,637,386

106,037 3,478,831
- 1,276,478

1,913 5,652,454
(5,270,410)
107,950 5,137,353

$ 107,950 $ 29,476,041
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CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Special Revenue Funds

Community
Development Rental Sanitation &
Block Rehabilitation Recycling Health Police
Grant Grants Program Grants Grants
REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ 2,044,968 $ - $ -
Intergovernmental 368,069 - 127 136,176 145,287
Special assessments - - - - -
Investment income (loss) - - 6,030 - -
Charges for services - - 1,412,060 52,161 -
Other - 24,436 1,045 - -
Total Revenues 368,069 24,436 3,464,230 188,337 145,287
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government - - - - -
Public safety - - - 195,212 157,560
Public works - - 3,124,666 - -
Education and recreation - - - - -
Community development 375,645 - - - -
Capital Outlay - - - - -
Debt Service
Principal - - - - -
Interest and fiscal charges - - - - -
Total Expenditures 375,645 - 3,124,666 195,212 157,560
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (7,576) 24,436 339,564 (6,875) (12,273)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
General obligation debt issued - - - - -
Premium on debt issued - - - - -
Transfer in - - - - -
Transfers out - - (89,605) - -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) - - (89,605) - -
Net Change in Fund Balances (7,576) 24,436 249,959 (6,875) (12,273)
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - Beginning
of Year - 19,820 1,026,519 (6,847) -
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) -
END OF YEAR $ (7,576) $ 44256 $ 1,276,478 $ (13,722) $ (12,273)
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Continued on

Next Page
Special Revenue Funds
Business and
Hazardous Housing Neighborhood
Materials Continuum of HOME Rehabilitation  Revitalization Emergency
Level A Room Tax Wheel Tax Care Homeowner Grant Grant Shelter
$ - $ 476,360 $ 1,275,331 $ - 8 - $ - 3 3,000 $ -
47,537 - - 254,587 - 92,857 - 271,198
2,202 - - - - 2 - -
- - - - 1,625 274,249 - -
49,739 476,360 1,275,331 254,587 1,625 367,108 3,000 271,198
50,757 430,219 - - - - - -
29,226 - - - - - - -
- - - 254,587 - 367,108 2,142 269,963
79,983 430,219 - 254,587 - 367,108 2,142 269,963
(30,244) 46,141 1,275,331 - 1,625 - 858 1,235
- (79,223) (1,275,331) - - - - -
- (79,223) (1,275,331) - - - - -
(30,244) (33,082) - - 1,625 - 858 1,235
378,024 33,082 - 5,000 44,809 - 450 (2,699)
$ 347,780 $ - $ - $ 5,000 $ 46,434 $ - $ 1,308 $ (1,464)
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CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Special Revenue Funds

Tuch-
Lead Hazard scherer Peabody Balliet
Control Grant Disability Estate Locomotive Lutz Park

REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - % - $ - % -
Intergovernmental - - - - -
Special assessments - - - - -
Investment income (loss) - 233 362 64 798
Charges for services - - - - -
Other 9,545 - - - 43,150

Total Revenues 9,545 233 362 64 43,948

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government - 6,391 - - -
Public safety - - - - -
Public works - - - - -
Education and recreation - - - - -
Community development - - - - -
Capital Outlay - - - - 53,150
Debt Service
Principal - - - - -
Interest and fiscal charges - - - - -
Total Expenditures - 6,391 - - 53,150

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures 9,545 (6,158) 362 64 (9,202)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
General obligation debt issued - - - - -
Premium on debt issued - - - - -
Transfer in - - - - -
Transfers out - - - - -

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) - - - - -

Net Change in Fund Balances 9,545 (6,158) 362 64 (9,202)

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - Beginning
of Year 26,171 42,763 64,829 11,323 145,043

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) -
END OF YEAR $ 35716 $ 36605 $ 65191 $ 11,387 $ 135,841

-96-



Continued on

Next Page
Special Revenue Funds Capital Projects Funds
Tax
Park Miracle Subdivision Industrial Incremental

Purpose Union Project Universal League Debt Development Park District

Open Space  Spring Park City Park Playground Baseball Service Projects Land No. 5
$ -8 - $ - $ -8 - $ 2724872 $ 500,000 $ - $ 187,185
- - - - - - - - 435
- - - - - - 843,242 - -
1,753 14 33 10 142 - 41,674 8,026 3,306
600 - - - - - - - -
- - - - - 94,567 644,950 397,008 -
2,353 14 33 10 142 2,819,439 2,029,866 405,034 190,926
- - - - - - - - 7,709
- - - 1,933 - - - - -
- - - - - - - - 436,271
- - - - - - 1,987,515 48,560 -
- - - - - 4,287,333 - - -
- - - - - 913,675 - - -
- - - 1,933 - 5,201,008 1,987,515 48,560 443,980
2,353 14 33 (1,923) 142 (2,381,569) 42,351 356,474 (253,054)
- - - - - 50,000 - - -
- - - - - 222,457 - - -
- - - - - 2,068,357 - - -
- - - - - - - - (329,598)
- - - - - 2,340,814 - - (329,598)
2,353 14 33 (1,923) 142 (40,755) 42,351 356,474 (582,652)
315,486 2,505 5,891 2,281 25,548 404,099 1,622,087 1,399,285 582,652
$ 317839 $ 2519 $ 5924 $ 358 $ 25,690 $ 363,344 $ 1,664,438 $ 1,755,759 $ -
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CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Capital Projects Funds

Tax Tax Tax Tax Tax
Incremental Incremental Incremental Incremental  Incremental
District District District District District
No. 6 No. 7 No. 8 No. 9 No. 10
REVENUES
Taxes $ 2,203,729 $ 320,373 $ 236,264 $ 30,965 $ 33,247
Intergovernmental 65,677 43,179 1,755 68,133 3,102
Special assessments - - - - -
Investment income (loss) 3,149 2,648 25,753 458 40
Charges for services - - - - -
Other 6,174 - - - -
Total Revenues 2,278,729 366,200 263,772 99,556 36,389
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government 1,659 1,659 1,659 1,659 1,659
Public safety - - - - -
Public works - - - - -
Education and recreation - - - - -
Community development 500,817 - 191,935 - -
Capital Outlay 30,200 305,412 10,000 - -
Debt Service
Principal - - - - -
Interest and fiscal charges 141,094 - 43,614 6,666 -
Total Expenditures 673,770 307,071 247,208 8,325 1,659
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures 1,604,959 59,129 16,564 91,231 34,730
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
General obligation debt issued - - 360,000 - -
Premium on debt issued - - - - -
Transfer in - - - - -
Transfers out (1,832,252) (1,525) (38,758) - -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,832,252) (1,525) 321,242 - -
Net Change in Fund Balances (227,293) 57,604 337,806 91,231 34,730
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - Beginning
of Year (2,478,652) 446,492 (915,477) (129,519) (2,669)
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) -
END OF YEAR $ (2,705,945) $ 504,096 $ (577,671) $ (38,288) $ 32,061
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Capital Projects Funds

Total

Public Public Nonmajor

Safety Works CEA Community Facilities Information ~ Governmental
Facilities Equipment Replacement Development Capital Projects  Technology Funds

- $ - $ - $ - $ - 3 - $ 10,036,294
- - - - 1,492 - 1,499,611
- - - - - - 843,242
239 129 14,041 (317) 1,337 703 112,829
- - - - - - 1,464,821
- 4,884 2,059,430 4,834 62,662 - 3,628,559
239 5,013 2,073,471 4,517 65,491 703 17,585,356
- - - - - - 503,371
- - - - - - 381,998
- - - - - - 3,124,666
- - - - - - 1,933
R - - - - - 2,398,468
210,365 2,416,739 3,205,733 2,410,000 2,274,114 340,734 13,292,522
- - - - - - 4,287,333
R - - - - - 1,105,049
210,365 2,416,739 3,205,733 2,410,000 2,274,114 340,734 25,095,340
(210,126) (2,411,726) (1,132,262) (2,405,483) (2,208,623) (340,031) (7,509,984)
160,860 2,606,674 - - 2,336,466 261,000 5,775,000
- - - - - - 222,457
- - 487,454 845,330 - - 3,401,141
- - - (4,834) - - _ (8,651,126)
160,860 2,606,674 487,454 840,496 2,336,466 261,000 5,747,472
(49,266) 194,948 (644,808) (1,564,987) 127,843 (79,031) (1,762,512)
60,005 195,895 2,663,590 1,516 723,582 186,981 6,899,865
10,739 $ 390,843 $ 2,018,782 $ (1,563,471) $ 851,425 $ 107,950 $ 5,137,353
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NONMAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Enterprise funds are used to account for activities that are financed and operated in a
manner similar to those found in the private sector, where the determination of net
income is necessary or useful to sound financial administration. Goods or services from
such activities provided to outside parties are accounted for in enterprise funds.

PARKING UTILITY
To account for the operation of City parking meters, parking ramps and lots. All
revenue and expenses necessary to provide such services are accounted for in
this fund.

REID MUNICIPAL GOLF COURSE
To account for the operation, maintenance and improvement of the municipal golf

course. All revenue and expenses necessary to provide such golf and
concession services are accounted for in this fund.



CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - NONMAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
As of December 31, 2015

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and investments
Other accounts receivable
Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets

Restricted assets
Net pension asset

Capital Assets
Land
Building and improvements
Equipment, furniture and vehicles
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Compensated absences
Other accrued liabilities
Advance from other funds

Current portion of general obligation debt payable
Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities
General obligation debt payable
Compensated absences
Advance from other funds
Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unearned revenues

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for pensions
Unrestricted (deficit)

TOTAL NET POSITION
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Enterprise Funds

Reid
Parking Municipal

Utility Golf Course Totals
$ 1,082,073 $ 133,416 $ 1,215,489
27,023 2,080 29,103
1,109,096 135,496 1,244,592
56,839 22,363 79,202
1,583,640 1,635,806 3,219,446
23,001,668 1,149,065 24,150,733
371,960 81,952 453,912
(16,745,813) (1,443,141)  (18,188,954)
8,268,294 1,446,045 9,714,339
9,377,390 1,581,541 10,958,931
60,915 30,661 91,576
39,946 1,061 41,007
38,766 4,752 43,518
10,786 8,068 18,854
- 5,000 5,000
- 60,000 60,000
89,498 78,881 168,379
- 575,000 575,000
50,633 - 50,633
- 155,000 155,000
50,633 730,000 780,633
140,131 808,881 949,012
90,003 9,384 99,387
8,211,455 788,682 9,000,137
56,839 22,363 79,202
939,877 (17,108) 922,769
$ 9,208,171 $ 793,937 $ 10,002,108




CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN

NET POSITION - NONMAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Enterprise Funds

Reid
Parking Municipal
Utility Golf Course Totals

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 1959512 % 778,919 $ 2,738,431
Other 486,816 74,750 561,566
Total Operating Revenues 2,446,328 853,669 3,299,997

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 1,482,307 686,009 2,168,316
Depreciation 479,911 67,707 547,618
Total Operating Expenses 1,962,218 753,716 2,715,934
Operating Income 484,110 99,953 584,063

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Investment income 8,432 171 8,603
Gain on sale of capital assets 16,203 - 16,203
Interest expense - (14,280) (14,280)
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 24,635 (14,109) 10,526
Income Before Transfers 508,745 85,844 594,589
Transfers out (1,209,300) (20,700) (1,230,000)
Change in Net Position (700,555) 65,144 (635,411)
TOTAL NET POSITION - Beginning of Year (As Restated) 9,908,726 728,793 10,637,519
TOTAL NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 9,208,171 $ 793,937 $ 10,002,108
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CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NONMAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Enterprise Funds

Reid
Parking Municipal
Utility Golf Course Totals
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from customers $ 2,468,471 $ 862,083 $ 3,330,554
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (778,481) (369,714) (1,148,195)
Paid to employees for services (691,290) (333,400) _ (1,024,690)
Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 998,700 158,969 1,157,669
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers out (1,209,300) (20,700) (1,230,000)
Net Cash Flows From Noncapital
Financing Activities (1,209,300) (20,700) (1,230,000)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal paid on long-term debt - (60,000) (60,000)
Principal paid on advance - (5,000) (5,000)
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (17,852) - (17,852)
Interest paid on long-term debt - (14,280) (14,280)
Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related
Financing Activities (17,852) (79,280) (97,132)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income (loss) 8,432 171 8,603
Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities 8,432 171 8,603
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and
Cash Equivalents (220,020) 59,160 (160,860)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -
Beginning of Year 1,302,093 74,256 1,376,349

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 1,082,073 $ 133,416 $ 1,215,489
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RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME

TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash flows from operating activities
Depreciation
Change in assets and liabilities

Other accounts receivable

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Unearned revenue

Pension related deferrals and liabilities
Compensated absences

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

Enterprise Funds

Reid
Parking Municipal
Utility Golf Course Totals

$ 484,110 $ 99,953 $ 584,063

479,911 67,707 547,618
16,308 1,920 18,228
14,682 (11,730) 2,952

(13,075) 2,373 (10,702)

5,835 6,494 12,329
(2,678) (7,748) (10,426)
13,607 - 13,607

$ 998,700 $ 158,969 $ 1,157,669

NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

None.
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services

provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the City, or
other governments, on a cost reimbursement basis.

CENTRAL EQUIPMENT AGENCY

To account for the user fees and costs associated with the acquisition, operation
and maintenance of various City-owned vehicles and equipment.

RISK MANAGEMENT
To account for the user fees and costs associated with providing insurance and
risk protection services to the organization and agencies of the City. All user
charges and expenses necessary to provide such services are accounted for in
this fund.

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT

To account for the user fees and costs associated with the lease, repair,
maintenance and cleaning of various City facilities.

POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
To account for the actuarially determined liability associated with other post-

employment benefits (OPEB) in accordance with Government Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) Statements No. 43 and 45.



CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
As of December 31, 2015

Central Post-
Equipment Risk Facilities employment
Agency Management Management Benefits Totals
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and investments $ 427,087 $ - % 168,099 $ 1,464,245 $ 2,059,431
Other receivables 4,395 311,533 - - 315,928
Prepaid items - 43,260 - - 43,260
Due from other governments 10,875 - - - 10,875
Inventories 49,146 - - - 49,146
Total Current Assets 491,503 354,793 168,099 1,464,245 2,478,640
Noncurrent Assets
Restricted assets
Net pension asset 168,510 37,782 87,639 - 293,931
Investment in WMIC - 2,020,950 - - 2,020,950
Capital Assets
Construction in progress 228,474 - - - 228,474
Equipment 329,345 - - - 329,345
Vehicles 26,362,938 - - - 26,362,938
Less: Accumulated depreciation (14,500,588) - - - (14,500,588)
Total Noncurrent Assets 12,588,679 2,058,732 87,639 - 14,735,050
Total Assets 13,080,182 2,413,525 255,738 1,464,245 17,213,690
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 175,177 40,305 94,753 - 310,235
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable 58,837 72,818 41,174 - 172,829
Compensated absences 57,821 19,484 50,733 - 128,038
Other accrued liabilities 18,866 3,769 14,015 - 36,650
Claims payable - 1,900,000 - - 1,900,000
Due to other funds - 346,181 - - 346,181
Current portion of general obligation debt 18,917 - - - 18,917
Total Current Liabilities 154,441 2,342,252 105,922 - 2,602,615
Noncurrent Liabilities
General obligation debt 161,753 - - - 161,753
Compensated absences 52,484 33,491 - - 85,975
Other postemployment benefit liability - - - 972,135 972,135
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 214,237 33,491 - 972,135 1,219,863
Total Liabilities 368,678 2,375,743 105,922 972,135 3,822,478
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 12,408,009 - - - 12,408,009
Restricted for pensions 168,510 37,782 87,639 - 293,931
Unrestricted 310,162 40,305 156,930 492,110 999,507
TOTAL NET POSITION $ 12,886,681 $ 78,087 $ 244,569 $ 492,110 $ 13,701,447

-104 -



CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION -

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Other

Total Operating Revenue

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (Loss)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income (loss)
Interest expense
Gain on the sale of capital assets
Other

Total Nonoperating Revenues

Income (Loss) Before Transfers
and Contributions

Capital contributions
Transfers out

Change in Net Position
TOTAL NET POSITION - Beginning (As Restated)

TOTAL NET POSITION - ENDING

Central Post-
Equipment Risk Facilities employment
Agency Management Management Benefits Totals
$ 2,608,994 $ 1,287,059 $ 2,681,821 $ - $ 6,577,874
24,215 757,204 - - 781,419
2,633,209 2,044,263 2,681,821 - 7,359,293
2,621,228 2,296,557 2,607,958 390,423 7,916,166
2,228,048 - - - 2,228,048
4,849,276 2,296,557 2,607,958 390,423 10,144,214
(2,216,067) (252,294) 73,863 (390,423) (2,784,921)
2,232 82 (52) - 2,262
(4,087) - - - (4,087)
322,152 - - - 322,152
- - 5,603 - 5,603
320,297 82 5,651 - 325,930
(1,895,770) (252,212) 79,414 (390,423) (2,458,991)
3,242,144 - - - 3,242,144
(295,561) - (13,000) - (308,561)
1,050,813 (252,212) 66,414 (390,423) 474,592
11,835,868 330,299 178,155 882,533 13,226,855
$ 12,886,681 $ 78,087 $ 244569 $ 492,110 $ 13,701,447
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CITY OF APPLETON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Central Post-
Equipment Risk Facilities employment
Agency Management Management Benefits Totals
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from customers $ 2599949 $ 1,762,352 $ 2,687,424 $ - $ 7,049,725
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (1,501,913) (1,979,724) (1,813,109) - (5,294,746)
Paid to employees for services (1,131,540) (324,753) (825,201) - (2,281,494)
Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities (33,504) (542,125) 49,114 - (526,515)
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Negative cash implicitly financed - 346,181 - - 346,181
Transfers out (295,561) - (13,000) - (308,561)
Net Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities (295,561) 346,181 (13,000) - 37,620
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets 295,561 - - - 295,561
Debt retired (7,667) - - - (7,667)
Interest paid (4,087) - - - (4,087)
Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities 283,807 - - - 283,807
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income (loss) 2,232 82 (52) - 2,262
Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities 2,232 82 (52) - 2,262
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (43,026) (195,862) 36,062 - (202,826)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 470,113 195,862 132,037 1,464,245 2,262,257
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 427,087 $ - $ 168,099 $ 1,464,245 $ 2,059,431

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss) $ (2,216,067) $ (252,294) $ 73,863 $ (390,423) $ (2,784,921)
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss)
to net cash flows from operating activities:

Nonoperating income - - 5,603 - 5,603
Depreciation 2,228,048 - - - 2,228,048
Change in assets and liabilities:
Other accounts receivable 3,622 (281,911) - - (278,289)
Due from other governments (10,875) - - - (10,875)
Inventories 27,040 - - - 27,040
Prepaids - (43,260) - - (43,260)
Accounts payable (61,306) 44,125 11,521 - (5,660)
Accrued liabilities (28,676) (6,457) (14,112) - (49,245)
Accrued compensated absences 27,236 (734) (22,800) - 3,702
Pension related deferrals and liabilities (2,526) (1,594) (4,961) - (9,081)
Postemployment benefits liability - - - 390,423 390,423
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $  (33504) $ (542,125) $ 49114 $ - $ (526,515)
NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Contributed property and equipment $ 3,242,144 3 - $ - $ - $ 3,242,144
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FIDUCIARY FUND
AGENCY FUNDS

Accounts for resources held by the City in a purely custodial capacity (assets equal
liabilities).

TAX COLLECTION FUND

To account for the City’s collection of property taxes and the corresponding
liability to other governmental units.



CITY OF APPLETON

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS
AND LIABILITIES - AGENCY FUND
As of December 31, 2015

Balance Balance
1-1-15 Additions Deductions 12-31-15
TAX COLLECTIONS
Assets
Cash and investments 53,779,792 53,966,225 53,779,792 53,966,225
Property taxes receivable 17,002,709 18,758,353 17,002,709 18,758,353
TOTAL ASSETS 70,782,501 72,724,578 70,782,501 72,724,578
Liabilities
Due to other taxing authorities 70,706,283 72,655,037 70,706,283 72,655,037
Accounts payable 76,218 69,541 76,218 69,541
TOTAL LIABILITIES 70,782,501 72,724,578 70,782,501 72,724,578

- 107 -



STATISTICAL
SECTION




GG2'C16'829 $ <C8E'ECT'66S $ G82'8€6'/85 $ OSY'YYT'I8S $ TS6'0£6'v9S $ S08'vrY'vyS $ SE8'688'VES $ OvY'y9E'60G $ TCT'ESY'C8Y $ LVOCIV'EIY $ UoMISOd 19N WUBWUIBA0D Arewld [e10L

92.'069'€8 €/5'20T'99 806'858'v7. S09'9TE'0L 67€'9€6'8S ZrS'€89'GY ¥06'99¢2'CY 208'TT.L'6E G66'60T'LE 1G8'€0V' T2 panusaiun
908'760°L2 G8C'CTL'6T ¥2E'GY8'6T 9ET'Y0P'22 828'280'8T L1€'95S'8T Y€0'SEY'TC S6.'T70'T2 698'909'8T 069°LTT'9T papLIssy
€2.'92T'81S ¥ZS'€0E'ETS €50'vET E6Y 60.'cey'88y ¥21'906°L8Y 988'v02'08Y 168'/8T'TLY 678'0T9'8VY 1S52'9gL'9zy 005'068'GzY 199p paye|al 4O Jau ‘s1assy [endeD ul paisanul

WBWUIBA0D Arewild

€19'2ve'L5e 19€'8GL°Lve L60°L67'6EC §SL'eSv'seET 866'9.2'82¢C 8T€'STL'02C 68€°,08'GTC 9T19'80T'€TC 928'¥81'90C ¥22'99€'66T uonIsod 1oN samAidY adAl-ssauisng [ejoL

6GC'LLL'SY L1v'82v'SE 8€5'966'EY ¥82'L¥S'6€ YTL'TYS'EE 18652082 SvE'29L'6T 0€6'LTEEC 6129vS'TC 06T'TS6'TT pajulsaiun
§12'CTLE0T v.6'T6E'6 YTETI0'TT Y6 €LETT 168°€68'6 §96'TVS'TT 185°999'vT 891 L9T'VT SCE'T8L'TT 150'6¥2'6 paLiIsay
6€T'€60°T0C 9.6',€6'20C SYZ'6Ey'v8T L16'2€5'€8T L8ETY8'v8T 99€' LT 18T €91'88€'18T 8TC'€29'GLT 282'.88'2LT 116'S9T'8LT 1gap palejal Jo 18U ‘sjessy [ended ul paisenu|

saAdy adAl-ssauisng

28G'699'T.E GT0'S9E'TGE 88T'TvY'8ve §69'069'GrE €56'€59°'9€E 18v'62L'€2E 9vy'280°6TE 0£8's5¢2'962 §62'892'9.2 £28'sv0'v92 uonisod 18N S3WAIY [BIUSWUISACD [e10L
819'¢59'LE €22'2v0'0€ 808°'298'6¢ 62T'TEV'6C z18'9zL'se 956'¢/9'GT 821'sTZ'02 0€G'ST8'ET 18.'28¢2'€T 129'6VL'S paymsaiun
1€5'22L'9T TTE'02E0T 0T0'v8.'8 Z¥9'0€0°0T TEG'E6T'S ZIY'v10°L €5¥'82L'9 12€'v18'9 ¥75'G28'9 €€9'898'9 papLIsay

€EV'V6C'LTE $ T8Y'C00'TTE $ 0.£'68L'60E $ ¥26'822°90€ $ 0TZ'SEL'VOE $ 6TT'CY0'TOE $ G98'880'C6C¢ $ €16'G95'G/¢ $ 0L6'6GT'9SC $ €TS'/2v'1SC $ 1q9p parelal Jo 18U ‘S1asSY [ended ul paisanul
SBNANOY [RIUBWIUIBAOD

ST0¢ ¥10¢ €10¢ [41014 T10¢ 0toc 600¢ 800¢ L00¢ 900¢

(fununoade jo siseq [eniooe)
uauodwo) Ag uonisod 1©N
uole|ddy jo A0
T 8Inpayds

Page 108



(evt'86T'LY) $ (GLT'816'9%) $ (€zS'vee'sy) $ (887'0S6'Ty) $ (2vr'909°'0v) $ (E022v0'TS) $ (919°'80€'GE) $ (881°190°6E) $ (8V6'S6T'9V) $ (L9V'29v'Gh) $ uonisod 19N 1uaWwulano9 Arewlid @10

6170298 9Z6'T.S'6 00€°09%'9 6T7€°089'8 8S0°078L 6097997 vS220r'y 21’8697 €26'7087 9€€'80T v samARoy adA L-ssauisng

(zos'gre'ss)  (Tor'oev'9s)  (ez8'v6L'vS)  (208'0€9'08)  (ooS'ovv'sy)  (218'902'Gs)  (0/8'0TL'68)  (0e6'6SL'ey)  (T28'000°TS)  (€08'GLS'6Y) SOIIAIOY [RIUSWUISA0D
anuanay/(asuadx3) 19N

06v'/96'0L $ ¢65'9¢92. $ €2€'065'T. $ Lev'T99'29 ¢ STY'VOT'CL $ CET'SYE'S9 $ 629'C992. $ 26L'6850L $ €E€0'GV6°LS $ VIT'86E9S $ JuawiudA09 Arewud - [ejoL
§/6'962'vS €55'8V8'€S 1/€'€€8'0S 6€S5'6€L'0S 862'.¥8'6Y S/v'910'LY SY6'8EY'Sy L1G'9ET'OY 196'760'SY 188'6vv'cy sanAnoy adAl-ssauisng [ejo L
€€9'VT9'T 9eE'YTIT vr1'962'T 6VG'€LL'T YST'E8E'C LES'ECH'E 291’062 029'88¢e'E €¥5'86€'C TTL'v60'Y suopNqLIU0D % siuels [ended
002'€ey'9 868'G79'9 §69'702‘9 086'ST8'S ZrL'TT6'S /88'958'S v.1'667'S 082'92S'S S¥5'900'G 29€'66S'Y suonnquoD % swuels bupelsdo
166'662'€ 00T'OVT'E 8//'se8'C £65'8/8'C 50€'028'C TEV'08Y'C €9G°9T.°C €EE'0€8'C TGT'€98°C 26€°Lv8'C spuny asudig)ua Jofew-uou JBYO
821'L02'6 LTL'290'6 198'9VT'8 €58'T5¢'L 6€L'96T L 99/2'922'9 €,9'T62'9 780'9€€'9 LTY'TST'9 299'€TL'S Jaremulols
86€'€6S'T 95€'€95'T 8G5'/¥S'T L1G'S8Y'T ¥08'2TS'T Ov.L'€8E'T 885'¢SY'T L8T'0TE'T 0G6'€9T'T 22L9ET'T usuesL A3jrep
LLE'EIT'TT €65'276'0T 862'987'0T 7€9'709°0T €08°'289'6 0€L'6E7'8 912's0.'8 ¥78'662'6 088°'.€.'6 €/2'789'6 Jaremalse \\
Zr6'v66'02 €55'v.€'02 LE0'9TE'0C €S¥'2€6'02 TSL'vee'0e ¥8€'GST'8T 695'€8Y'8T 62L'YYY LT T8Y'€LL' LT G9/L'€LEVT 1891 W\

92IMIBS 0} sabieyd
sanIAnoYy adAl-ssauisng

S1G'029°9T 6€0'8.L'8T 9¥6'9G.°0C 888'726'9T L1T°.G2'2C 159'82€'8T v89'€ee’Le STC'ESh've 990'0S8°CT L12'8Y6'ET SBNIAIOY [BIUSWILIBA0D [0 |

160'CEL'E ZLT'9ET'C TL9'V2T'6 TG9'0ET'9 656 '7SC'0T 5€9°2EY'9 08L'vve'ST TLLTOVYT 809'226'S €¥0'2EE'9 suonnqguiuog ' siuel [ended
6LV'6SL'Y T209.T'S 0TL'8YT'S €92'122'S 6S5°'0vY'9 879'999°9 06v'2ie'9 8T9'VEL'S T26'vEL'T GT.°'986'C suonnquog % suels bugelssdo
6€6'8LT'8 $ 9¥8'SIV'TT $ G95'e8y'9 $ ¥.6'695'S ¢ 665'T9S'S ¢ PLE'6CC'S $ PIV'9EL'S $ 928'9GC'y  $ LeST6TY  $ 6156297 $ 90IMIBS 10} sabieyd

'SINIAIOY [RIUBWUISA0D
sanuanay weiboid

€€9'GOT'8TT $ L9L'vvS'6TT $ 9v8'vec6'6TT $ ST6'TI9'60T $ LS8'OTLCIT $ SEE'Z8E'9TT $ SPC'TL6'.0T $ 086'059'60T $ T186'0VT¥OT $ T€9°'G98'TOT $ JuawiuIdA09 Arewud - [ejoL
955'9/9'GY 129'9.2'vy L10'€LEYY 0zz'650°2y 0ve'L00'ey 998'T5E'ey T69'9€0'TY GEB'LEV'TY v¥0'062'0% TGS'TPE'8E sanAnoy adAl-ssauisng [ejo L

615'62.'C 80T'.62'C zetT'eve'e 0€0'TLT'C 192'6T6'T 186'G6¢°C 960'06T'C S0C'1S.'C 688'7€S'C 8v8'28r'e spuny asudigjud Jofew-uou JBYO
LEB'EES'L 190'28T'L YTST189 ¥82'2L¥'9 858'270'9 T0€'22E'9 S.T'YSL'S L2v'v0S'S GET'9E0'S ZI6'TTL'Y Jaremuliols
LET'TCT'6 G/2'SS€'6 682'c/.'8 692'68T'8 Gev'e6e's 999'/€2'8 ¥92'698'L €80'v6T'8 166'L9€'L 2€6'788'9 usuesL A3jrep
¥00'8.5'0T €18'€2€'0T ZIT'vv2 0T 9T0'ST6'6 ¥61'26.°0T 082'6E€0°TT 08.'700°TT L08'€6T'TT €22'6T6'0T €15'225'0T Jaremalse \\
6S6'€TL'ST Y0E'8TT'ST 0£0'20€'9T T29'TTE'ST 96%7'096''T ZET'9SY'VT 9/€'8TZ'VT ETEVBL'ET 908'TEV'VT 982'VEL'ET 181 W\

sanAndy adAl-ssauisng

110'68v'2L or1'892'G. 69.'TSG'GL G69'2SG'/9 119'€02'0L 69Y'SE0' VL ¥SG'7€6'99 SPT'€T12'89 1/€6'0S8'€9 080'172S'€9 SaNIAOY [EIUSWUISA0D) [e10 ]
888'209'T ¥T0'6TL'T LTv'v10'2 9G2'966'T 206'T02'2 T6¥'82V'C €6€'729' 1181652 868'06.'C 06E'TEL'Y 1satsu|
902'92T'v 66€'695'C €E9'evL'e [ANNAXAA €6€'GeS'e €08°L¥9'E §29'29e'e 7€L'€68'T 70°286'T ¥ST'00€'C wawdojeAsq Anunwiwod
069°'/9€'8 009'782'8 G22'9€6'L 990°'22€'L YAZAVAS WA 9€0'S1Z'6 0S0'S0S'6 9€6'855'6 1812168 82¢'/28'8 uolfealdsy ® uoneosnp3
986'€YT'6T L€9'€89'6T S6T'985'cC 968'9€L'6T 2L9'6ST'TC TTE'G66'9T 22.'S8'ST E€TL'ESY'8T S08'8TE'ST €55'V6E'9T S3I0/W\ 2lland
8V7E€'6GE'6C Tee'seT'6e €€8'298'1¢ 88G'€05' /2 86£'0.€'.C €€9'210'8¢ 2.1'€6.'92 YE€T'VEL'9C ¥S1'186'Ge 18.'8.v'v2 Kayes aliand
656'888'6 $ 691'988'CT $ 99v'8ov'8 ¢ LTT'9TL'S $ SPO'60T'6 $ GBT'90L'ET ¢ ¢65'€08'6 $ TIL'PED'6G $ GSS'008'8 ¢ ¥.6'T6L9 ¢ JUBWIUIBAOD [elaudD
'SANIAIDY [BIUBWIUIBA0D
sosuadxy
ST0Z ¥102 €102 2102 1102 010z 6002 8002 1002 9002

(bununodoe Jo siseq [eniooe)
uoisod 18N ul sabueyn
uole|ddy jo A11D
Z 3INpayds

Page 109



€86'662¢T $ L60'GBT'TT $ GE8'E6L9 $ 66V'EIZIT $ 9vT1'98Y'0C 0/67S5'6 ¢ 2¢699TTvC $ GeeTI6'9¢ $ 6V .ZTL6T $ 2€9'GeS9T $ wswuIano9 Arewd eioL
066°08€'9 0/2'792'8 ZVEEr0'Y 1G1°9/T°L 089°T9S'L 626°206'V €11'869'C 06.°€26'9 L1116V L GEC'E6LY samAnoY adAl-ssauisng
€66'8T6'G ¢ 128'€Z6'c $ €6V'0SL'C $ ITPL'9E0'6  $ 99V'¥26'ZT W0'L¥9'y & 616°LTY'TZ $ GEG'L86'6T $ 2.¥'222'2T $ L6ETELTT & 'SBINAIOY [RIUBWLIBA0D
uonIsod 18N ui abueyd
9zZT'86v'6S $ <¢LZ'€0T'8S $ 8GE'BZT'SS $ [86'€9T'8S $ 88526019 €LT°/6G'09 $ 80€'Ger'6S $ €152/6'G9 $ L6T'EI6'SY $ 660°€66'T9 $ WswuIan09 Arewd [eloL
(62v'6€272) (959°0T€T) (856'9T7°2) (2957€05'T) (82€78L2) 0ze'eve (T8¥'€0LT) 8v0'Gze'e ¥58'689'C 668789 samARdY adAl-ssauisng [ejoL
(L¥9719272) (680'7€5°2) (12176102) (T152°067°2) (92975092) (029's2T°2) (88278.1°2) (6827805°T) (rev'L06) (169°9€8) sigjsuel |
906'ST 09221 €€8'9T 69T'S 128'9T §G5‘9 6V 612'9 1GS'65T 876'89 Snoaue|9asIy
€02'9T - (z9g'€) 00T'% - - Sier4 162'T 156'8€€ - S19sS® JO 8[es 8y} uo (sso)ure
60T'28Y €LT'TIZ'T (z0.'0s€) 0zv'LL6 TLV'0TEC S8E‘ZTY'C €00'S.Y 19g'92L'€ ¥92'860'€ 2L9'CSY'T 3WOdUI JUBISBAU|
sanAndy adAl-ssauisng
GGS'ZELT9 826'€TV'6S 9TE'SYS LS 6v5°299'65 996°0LE'T9 €G8'€5E°09 68.°82T'T9 SOV LIYL'E9 €VE'€CZ'€9 002'80€°T9 Slaysuel) pue senuanal [eiauab [ejo L
V919 680'7€S'C 121°610C 162°06V'C 9/9°G09°C 029'G.TC 88.'8/1°C 682'80G'T vZv'L06 169°9€8 siajsuel |
6€.'60T 8.0'c6 1€L'€6 191'v6 zv8'26 ¥16'06T SLT'OTT Z87'0ET 198'TS - Snoaue|[aasIy
¥1E'18S 000‘€9T 99/'821 £69'85€ 60.°262 10¥'802 2€9'862 669'G/2 ovv'zey 2v6'2€S Slesse Jo a[es 8y} uo (ssoT)ures
8€0'79S'T 1€5'956'T OvS'TYO'T 779'266'T 921'9€6'Z 0TT'€0L'C 967'295'T S/.'vE9'Y 18T°2.8'Y GG9'0LY'S BWODUI JUBLISBAU|
Sv9'821°2T 6v6'76T'ZT G/6°202'2T 8v0'02€'2T €19'€/8'€T 229'916'€T 6VE'60E VT €1€'998'7T 9T.'6T2'LT 0.£9'€€8'9T sweifoud oyoads
0] pajoL}sal Jou sanuanal _ﬁcch‘_w>cm‘_wE_
268'122'2 v.v'618 195'8€8 vET'T08 STZ'0v8 6.2'298 9/0'€vL ¥15'698 1.0'686 60S'06. sexe] 1sy1o
082'0LE'2¥ 108'265'TY 0TO'SST'T¥ 210'509'TY Szl'velL'or 118'962'0% €12'026'TV €68'T97' TV 0S9'G7.'8€ €€L'€¥8'9E sexe] Auadoid
saxe ]
'SAIJIAINOY [RIUBWUIBA0D
uonsod 1aN ul sabuey) 1ayiQ % Sanuanay [elauss
ST0C ¥102 €102 z102 T10C 010z 6002 8002 1002 9002

(bununodoe Jo siseq [eniooe)
uoisod 18N ul sabueyn
uola|ddy jo A11D
(3uo09) g aInpayds

Page 110



06v°',96'0L $ ¢65929'CL $ €TE06S'TL $ L2v'T99°/9 $ STY'vOTZ. $ TET'SPE'SY $ 629'C99C2. $ 2T6L'685°0L $ €E0'SY6'LS $ +I1'86E9S $ JUBWUIBA0D Arewllid - [e10 L

§/6'962'7S €55'8v8°€S LLE'€EB'0S 6€5'6€L05 862'Lv8'6Y v.¥'9T0'LY S¥6'8EY'SY L1S'9ET 9V 196'760'SY 188'6V7'CY saniAnoy adAl-ssauisng [e10 L

166'662°€ 00T'09T'€ T6.'850°€ €55'8/8C 50€'028°C 0EY'08Y'C €9G'9TL'C €€€'0€8'C 159'888°C 26€°L¥8°C spunj asudiajua Jofew-uou Jsy10
€66'€TL'6 1/8'92v'0T /689€.'8 €99'G68°L 912'GE6'L 1€5'G80'8 S¥0'899°L 685'G2S'L 8€9'VT8'L L¥8'9€9°L Jaremuniols
865'9T0'8 6€L'87C'8 Tv.'818'L 099'695°L 850'0£0'8 0L£'9/8°L L09'EVC'L 1665869 [4STAVARA] 0.¥'26T'9 usuel] AsjeA
192°2LL'TT 099'8SV'TT L92'¥18°0T 68E'T8E'TT 9176'665°0T S0S°'9G1'6 TEB'ECT'6 86278101 €00°'G92°0T 0€€°,06'0T Jaremalse M\
9ZT'v6v'12 L.T'¥SS'02 189'7¥€'02 v.2'¥10°'TC Ev.L'T9Y'0C 2€9'LTT'6T 668'969'8T 09€°0TE'8T €26'808°LT 878'G98'vT Jarem

oy adAi1-ssauisng

GTS'029'9T 6€0'8L.'8T 9¥6'9G5.'0¢ 888'726'9T LT1'/G2'22 159'8z€'8T ¥89'cee’le ST2'eSY've 990'0S8'2T 112'8V6'E€T S3NIAIY [eJUSWUIBA0D) [e10 L
9v0'€66 TVE'2E9'T 8ve'seEr'e T0Z'188'T 292'6EL'T 920'seY'e 296'82.L'T T6S'EOT'T 111'2vE'T 168°298'T wiswdojaAsg Anunwiwod
ZST'180°C G65'6v.L'T STO'V6L'T ovy'0LL'T G09'G0T'2 682'9T6'T 102'669'T ¥98°0TL'T 6v5',80'C TOT'€29'T uonealdsy % uoneonpy
€62'T2E'0T 898'vSY'L 8CT'STT'TT 0.£'9T6'6 T.9'/v8'VT 629'88.2°0T T0T'8€8'0¢ TOE'996'8T 169'28.'9 T68'ETS'.L SHIOM Jlland
252'796'T ¥16'C26'T 9.0'TTV'v 09€'€L6'T 079'950'C T68€v0'C ¥80'8G.'T 260°6ST'C 6.5'CT6'T 816020 Kages aand
2/LL'0TE'T ¢ T2E'8T0'9  $ 6.€'TOO'T $ LTS'08ET ¢ 6€6°L0S'T ¢ ¢228VST'T ¢ O0E€66T'T ¢ LI9E'EIS $ vov'eTL $ 06e‘Ce6 $ JUSWIUIBAOY [elBURD
ISBNIAIOY [RIUBLIUIBAOD
weiboid/uonoung
GT0C ¥T0C €T0¢ [41014 TT0C 0T0C 600¢ 800¢ £,00¢ 900¢

(Bununoooe Jo siseq [eniooe)
weiboid/uonoung Aq sanuanay weiboid
uola|ddy jo A1o
€ 9|npayos

Page 111



'sdouUeeq punj Uo SUONDLIS3J JO suoneziioBales ayy sabueyd yoiym ‘TT0Z Ul ¥S# 9Svo pardope uoleiddy jo AuD syl
:S8J0N

8600009 $ T¥9°'280°'9¢ $ 928'60£'9¢ $ €£G65'955'GE $ TET6LP'6C $ E£VS'6.2TE $ 89595 Ty $ €£59TC'St $ v¥Y'6S8'6E $ S96°'I8T'SE $ SpuN4 [eUSWUISA0D [e10L
(z02'€65'S) (z62'19¢'S) (966'68T2) (0£0'292'T) (¥66'T0S'S) (z20'815'T) 95%'0S0°'0T 650'6T8'TT 289°106'1 160TrL'T SpuUN4 [RIUSWUIBA0S) JBYIO ||V [e10L
(Gor'700'9T)  (6T0°008'ST)  (292'2€6'9T)  (P9T'OV6'ST)  (06L719VT) - - - - - (Hoyaq) paubisseun
¥S1'289's 816'9T6'S 0ZT'LEE'9 20g'L6Y'0T 880'ZvE'9 - - - - - paubissy
8.¥'9/2'T 6TS'920'T 2€L'180'T 818086 906'826 - - - - - pamwiwoD
1€8'8.Y'S 062'S67'S 659'282'C €6.'GOT'E LYT'898'T - - - - - paloLlsey
- - SGL'vE 122'vE G59'€E - - - - - a|qepuadsuoN
- - - - - TT.'255'9 80Z'9ET'S 99/'02¥'6 §€2'228'9 69'98T'8 spuny syosfoid eyded
- - - - - (,6T'S81'0T) 299's8v2'T (0g6'08'E) (8v5'€29'2) (T9z'L¥¥'0T) Spuny anuaAal [e1oads
:ul pauodal ‘pansasalun
- - - - - 2s9'ee £v0'vE avl'ee £60°2€ ¥9€'0T sasodind 1sni
- - - - - ¥68'G6T'C 19T'/8T'E G69'TZL'Y 19£'T08'Y 029'989°C s8oueIqWINOU]
- - - - - 898'%8T 9T5'T6E 985785 £56'808 9GT'986 80IAI8S 198
- $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 09828 $ 96T'6ES $ 885'9T $ 695'€IE $ sway predaid
110} paAlasay
SpunH [euswuIdaA09) 18yl0 ||V
008'665'TE $ €c6'8VF'TE $ ¢228'66V'EE $ €858T89E $ G22'I86'WE $ GT9/6.CE $ <CIT90CTE $ PIV'I6EEE $ ¢9LTS6'VE $ 898'6EV'EE $ pund [essuso [e101
020'62Y'TT 8v9°2.2'TT Y9r'T9Z'TT ZLE'BZEYT 9/0'8.5CT - - - - - (uoyaq) paubisseun
925'8Z8'TT 221'26L'0T 67T'€86'0T 6EE'TT6'6 ¥82'220°0T - - - - - paubissy
- - - - 6G2'20T - - - - - paniwwo
- - - - - - - - - - palouIsay
¥Sz'zre's €9T'¥8¢'6 602'GSZ'TT 2.8'895'CT 901'892'2T - - - - - a|qepuadsuoN
- - - - - ¥29'29¢'6T STE'TZE'6T 98/'28.'02 ¥00'9.2'02 ¥22'0ST'02 panigsaiun
- - - - - 89%'T€0'C ¥55°262'2 OvT'L66'T 126'219'C £85'720'C S8URIqWINOUT
- - - - - SLT'6.7'0T 0EY'SE6'S 102'070'0T 6EV'SPS'TT §/2'609'0T S80UBAPR/S8|(RAI08I JUBLINJUON
- - - - - TTT'vE SST'L 9G8'T SLY'Y 26L'6 sway predaid
- $ - $ - $ - $ - $ /£2'068 $ 859789 $ S81'GlS $ €26'CTS $ 766'86S $ S8LI0jUBAU|
.10} paAlasay
pun- jeisus9
55104 y10C €T0C Zt0C @ TT0C 010C 600C 800C 1002 900¢

(bununoaoe Jo siseq [eniode palipow)
Spun4 [BJUBWIUIBAOY ‘s@duejeg pun4
uoa|ddy jo AND
¥ 3Inpayos

Page 112



%6'6 %S0T %22t %6°'8T %8'LT %S LT %Z'6T %0°ST %9°8T %T°L2
860'9009¢ $ T#9°/80'9Z $ 92Z8'60£'9Z $ €GG'9SG'GE $ TET'6LV'6C €VG'6/2'TE $ 895'9GZ'Tr $ €E€S9TC'SY $ Prv'6S8'6E $ G96'T8TGE
Tv9°280°92 928'60€°92 €G5'95G'GE T€2'6.1°62 €VS'6.2'TE 895°9GZ'TY €€G'9TZ'GY YY1°658°6€ G96'T8T'GE 215°926°GE
(ev5'18) (g8T'222) (zzL'9v2'6) 22€'220'9 (z1€'008'T) (5z0'226'6) (596'656'€) 680°LG€E'S 6.7'219'V (LvS'vrL)
9E€5'760°6 Sv0°112°6 16T'SV6'C €85'G//TT TESTYI'E yIT28v'C 0G2'8TE'8 G08°/ZT'ET €20°0v.°9 1197052
(G2278€2°9) (zzv'80z'€) (926°05€9) (899'87€°9) (192°26279) (eor'zervT)  (98T°02€°2) (ZT7'v56'6) (0957252) (G28°566'8)
ST.'VIE'S 667'950'9 601'S82'6 8€6'€L0'6 0€9'22.'6 £21'626'9T 9v6'2S.'6 166'0€9'TT £15'€98'8 9T9'€T.'0T
6ET'TZ 20.°'L vT2'0T 66.'20T 296'TT ¥S8'vE Yov'e6 1€9'29¢ SL9'71Z £09'G09
- - - 000°00€ 000005 - - - - -
- - - - - - - (96T'92T) - -
15¥'zze 99zZ'9v - ¥15'292 - - 98025 G861 S6E'TZ 988
000'G.'S 000'G.€'9 - 000'08€'8 - - 000'S€L'S 000'S6T'TT 000'59T'S 18€'08T'S
(620°9.1°6) (oez’667'6) (rz6'T6T2T)  (192°869°G) (evTereQ) (6eT’'65v2T)  (STz'8lzen)  (9TL°0LL°0) (¥¥529072) (voT'6¥2'8)
96v'TG.'E8 00T'0TE'08 981°2€2'G8 129°62S°LL 690°099°8/ 1ET°196°G8 Sv0°G/8'98 ¥9G°9€T'G8 650°608'G. 1T2°18€°6L
ITT'9/9T 1€0°19.°T 9G2'726'T 16€'S€2°C TVZ'v0ET 1v¥°125C 9€9'709°C 6T9'€95°C T6T'S8LC SYE'IV'Y
€€€'182'y 2EETIT'Y €€€'250'9 0.8'T9.'8 529'120°L 9€€'562'9 882'8.5'9 120'7v6's TLV'T12T'L Lv8'€EE’'6
zes'zee'et 12€'2.6'6 8v.'182'vT 65.'7.6'9 6EY'S65 L ¥0.'08€'8 1€0'T90'8T €92'728'ST 9/8'2v€'6 098'292°0T
182'860'% 8T€'/66'E 8ZT'186'C 28€'209'C 0TT'2S0'€ 759'8YE'E 8G8'G€9'C Tve'r12'e €89'20€'C 209'20S'C
/¥9'908'L 818'G09'L 650'5L€'L 9.0'18T'L 8LT'OVT'L 789°016'8 v6¥'1.8'8 0€2'T€0'6 ¥81'591'8 008'zi's
T9T'0LT'OT 16%'062'LT €99'€/€'LT ¥96'TS6'vT ¥S85'eZe 9T €60'959'ST Zr8'eTS T 000'650'9T 892'226'€T 0LT'9EZ'ET
112'616'82 295'205'82 SE6'TY6'L2 €T2'69T°L2 602'€L0'L2 ¥86'G82'L2C 0v0'59€'92 6€€'2LT 9 §2€'90T'G2 8T5'788'€C
812'T0S'L 122'150'2 ¥9€'262'L 2LY'EY9’L €IZ'erT's GEZ'20T'ET 0S8'vve'L GiL'L€€'L T90'€9.'9 GL0'€LS'9
ITY'SIS' VL 0/8°0T8°0. 295°0v0'EL 99£°/28°T. 9zZ6°LTV'EL 866°20G°€.L 0€8'96G'V2 818'G9€E" ./ STS9v.'EL €G0'8ET'TL
12E769°'S GZ8'vSe'y €9T°092°S ShY'8T9Y €G65'89/°€ 8GV°/86' 62€'961'S 0v0°08Z 968'90€°E 9TS'€6EE
628'GLL'C 1927922 09€'285'C 8TS'657'C 219'792'2 022'Lv8'T 621'0S8'T 186'220°'C 880'7€6'T 662'610'C
¥95'908'T 16¥'0ST'T 0z2'002 6S8'TLY'T 99/'€92'C ¥2€'SLT' 025'86T'T 9T¥'6T2'9 859'/€8'S 9L¥' TIPSy
8v0'vIE'T 668'762'C 6€8'690'C 122'sv8'T 066'819'C 825'899'T £T8'0VE'C 189'TT8'T 619'960°C 619'199'C
v18'c€L2 ¥29'0T€ OvS'vee ove'v8e 299'65€ 1.6'9G€ €26'2vE 8ee'ore 608'STE 0€S'TL2
086'LYT'T 082'S€0°'T ¥67'980'T 822'810'T 126'568 128'066 181'€28 600608 192'858 €09'8€6
289'0L6'9T 199'225'9T 698'27S'6T €09'629°LT 11¥'T89'6T ¥15°22€02 086'088'6T 0L6'7¥S'6T 2€6'T99'6T €TL'TLO'6T
€LT'26S'vy $ €L2'C°v'ey $ LLS'€66'TY $ 9vT'90V'Zy $ 6€6'V9S'TY 9GT'6ST'TY $ 6VE'€99'Cy $ LOV'TIEE'Zy $ 22L'vEL'6E $ Tve've9'le
§T0C y10C €102 2102 TT0Z 0102 002 8002 7002 9002

(Bununoooe Jo siseq [enooe payipouw)
Spun4 |[elUBWUIBA0S ‘Saduefeg pun4 ul sabueyd
uoje|ddy jo A1
G 8|npayods

sainypuadxa reyded-uou
0 1ud21ad ® Se 92IAIBS 199Q

ONIAN3 - S3ONVIVE ANNd

ONINNIO34 - S3ONVIVE ANNd

saoueeg pun4 ui abuey) 18N

(sasn) saainos Buloueul4 JBY1Q [e10L
N0 slajsuel |
ul sigjsuel |
saniadoid Ao Jo ajes
panss| aj0u A10SS|woid
sjuabe mo1asa 0} sjuswAied
panssi 1gap bBuipunjey
panss| 1gap uo wnjwaid
panssiigsd
(S3SN) S32HNOS ONIONVYNIH ¥IHLO

sainyipuadxa (lapun) Iano
sanuanal Jo (Aoualoiyap) ssaoxg

sainipuadx3 [e1o]

sableyd [edsl pue 1sala]|
Juswaial fedould

192IMIBS 199d

KepnQ rended
juswdojanap Ayunwiwo)
uoiealdal pue uopeanpg
syJom algnd
fisyes oljgnd
JuswuIanob [eleuag

BUEY o)

S3ANLIANIIX3

S9NUBASY |el0 |

Bsy1o

$90IMIBS J0j sabreyd
OOl JUBWISAAU|
SjuswIssasse [epads
sainyayloy pue saui4
syuwuad pue sasuaol
[ejuawulanobiau|
soxe|

SINNIAIH

Page 113



‘saladoud ajqesedwod Jo safes uo paseq parepdn are sanjea Auadoud
‘sjuswissasseal Jofew usamiag ‘snjeA 1axJew Jo 9%00T 1e M Buissasse Jo [eob syl yum ‘abesane uo sieak sl 01 Inoj A1ana passasseal si uoia|ddy Jo A1 ayy ul Auadoid
"1ioday uollezijenb3 Ajuno) ‘anuanay Jo Juswpedaq UISUOISIAN 1924N0S
*1214351Q |ooYyds ealy uoia|ddy ayi Aq panias pue Ajuno) ajweseinQ ul saiadoud 10y S UMOYS d1eJ BY| ‘Ue|d 3JIAISS pue 198png uoia|ddy Jo AuD :92unoS 4
"S10LIASIP 4|1 9PN|OUI UMOYS SSN|BA BY] ‘JUBWISSISSY JO JUSWILIS |euUl{ ‘DNUSAY JO JUBWIEdaQ UISUOISIAN :92UN0S -

:S910N
%8166 008'¥G.'9T8'Y  0S6E'8 009'€¥8'T6L'Y  00V'GE9'VCT 00v'08Y'T 00G'29€'8€T 000'9%S'Z9T'T  00E'6T8'6SE'E 9102 GTOZ
%SG 10T 005'099'969'F  S6VE'S 00.'09€'69.'F  008'6€8'GET 009'Z8Y'T 000'606'6€T 00Z',0€'8ST'T  00T'ZZ8'EEE'E GTOZ 102
%¥2Z 0T 002'2TE'229'Y  8SET'8 00€'657'8T8'Y  008'SPE'9PT 008'G58 00T‘90T'0ST 006'vS0'ZET'T  00.'960'V8E'E 102 €102
%EZE0T 009'80¥'TG9'Y  TIE0'8 00E'€EY'TO8'Y  00E'GEL'6ET 00€'LEL 00G'vSE 7T 000'729'€VT'T  00Z'Z86'CLE'C €702 zT0z
%TL 66 00S'€0T'/6.'F  OIST'8 00.'256'28L'Y  008'226'8ET 00820 00T'929'0¥T 00€'68Z'TVT'T  00L'TTV'T9E'E 2102 1102
%.6°L6 00£'965'TG8'Y  96v0'8 007'096'2G.'Y  006°990'THT 006'769 008'€69'THT 007'0/G'62T'T  00V'VE6'6EE'E 1702 0102
%92'66 006'290'68L'Y  €9v6'L 00L'TSY'€SL'Y  00L'106'ZHT 009'002 009'671'TST 00/'T26'660'T  00T‘Z.6'8SE'E 0102 6002
%ES"86 00S'200'TTL'Y  +6G6°L 006'GS6'TY9'Y  009‘TO8'EPT 00%'902 000'L¥2'9ST 008'9T8'¥YTO'T  00T'¥88'9ZE'E 6002 8002
%T6'86 000'29'G.S'y 85262 008'/G/'GeS'y  000°8T.'82T 008902 008'9T9'EST 00.'Z.¥'096 00S'€v.'282'E 8002 1002
%EZTOT 00v'98T'0SE'Y  S¥89°2 008'G6S'E0F'y  009°€.Z'62T 002°09T 00.'€68'GST 009'880'G68 002'6.T'€22'E £002 9002
5 ON[eA [eny RETHET gored NETTE Arisdoid Arisdoid Arisdoid Arisdoid Arisdoid Tesx Tesx

parewnsy a|qexe] xe| passassy [euosiad [ein1noLby [euisnpu [e1oI8Wwo) [enuapisay [easi4 Ana

JO 1U82J8d se fenioy 109110 a|gexe]
passassy parewnsy feiol [elol

9 3|Npayds

Al1adoud a|gexe] jo (dnjeA pazijenb3) anjeA [enioy parewiis3 pue snjeA passassy
uoia|ddy jo A11D

Page 114



(panunuod)

» LOVC
x 8L'€C
ceee
x 9L°CC
ceee
66'CC
ev'ee
€9'1¢
» 9T'TC
eeTe $
318y
xe]
18N

x EV'CC
x 9C°CC
62'¢C
x ¢C'CC
09'¢¢
GG'ce
Iv'1e
86'0C
x 6202
2502 $
318y
xe]
18N

.mC_UCJOh o1 anp sjusuodwod o wns 0} _mjcw 10U 9kl xe} 19N x

79'T
A
ev'T
8’1
€T
€T
0e'T
9e'T
821
8T'T
SN
xe ]
arels

79'T
A
ev'T
8’1
€T
€T
0e'T
9e'T
821
8T'T
SN
xe ]
aels

0,.'GC
€2'6¢
S9'vC
gcve
€9'v¢e
0gve
€L'eC
66'CC
Sy'ee
1522 $
318y
xe]
ss0I9

90'v¢
T.°€C
cLee
69°€C
16°€C
06°'€C
vT've
¥59'9¢
GG9'9¢
16'GC $
318y
xe]
ss0I9

2Tt 62'TT
Tt €6°0T
68'T v6'6
16'T 156
08'T €8'6
28T €L'6
€LT 116
LT 8.8
69'T €€'8
9T $ e $
JIAd oIS
|00yos
eyseusiy

anfeA passassy J0 000'T$ Jod

ov'8
Se'8
718
€0'8
ST'8
S0'8
S6°L
96°L
€6°L
89°L $

() o¥ed 19911g

uoja|ddy
j0 Auo

10141SId TOOHOS VHSYNIW/ALNNOD AINVOVLINO

LT°0 LY
LT°0 19V
9T'0 FAR4
9T'0 98V
LT°0 85V
LT°0 €SY
LT°0 1144
LT°0 LEY
LT°0 €EY
LT0 $ cry 3%
UISUOOSIM Aunod
jo alwebeino
alels
LT°0 LY
LT°0 19V
9T'0 FAn4
9T'0 98V
LT°0 85V
LT°0 €SY
LT°0 1144
LT°0 LEY
LT°0 €EY
LT0 $ cy 3%
UISUOOSIM Aunod
jo alwebeino
alels

SINIANHINOO ONIddVTIIAO ANV 103dId - STLVH XV1 ALd3d0dd

Tt S9'6 or's
77T 114 SE'8
68'T 106 18
T6'T €0'6 €0'8
08T 126 ST'8
28T 626 S0'8
€LT 05’8 S6°L
LT €T'8 96°L
69T 96°L €6'L
9T $ S6L $ 89, $
JIAd Pmsid  ;,ered 108iid
|00Yyds uoja|ddy
uoja|ddy jo AuD

anfeA passassy J0 000'T$ Jod

1O141S1d TOOHOJS V3dV NOL131ddVv/ALNNOD JINVOVLINO

SIeaA [edsid ua] ise’

NOL137ddV 40 ALID
, 3|Npayds

€90
650
790
190
190
80
LL0
9.0
080
€L0 $
ERINES
198
‘09

€90
650
790
190
190
80
LL0
9.0
080
€L0 $
ERINVETS
19aa
‘09

YAV
9L'L
€9,
9€’L
8Y'L
T2'L
8T'L
0c’L
€T’L
G6'9
3y
alseg

YAV
9L'L
€9,
9€’L
8Y'L
1L
8T'L
0c’L
€T'L
S6'9
3y
alseg

9102
GT0C
Y102
€102
210¢
T10C
0T0C
6002
8002
002
Tesx
uo1939(|00

9102
ST0C
Y102
€102
210¢
T10C
0T0C
6002
8002
L002
Tesx
uo193(|00

G102
7102
€10¢C
[41or4
T10C
0102
6002
800¢C
L002
9002
Tesx
AnaT

G102
7102
€10¢C
[410r4
T10C
0102
6002
800¢
L002
9002
Tesx
AnaT

Page 115



‘AloAnoadsal ‘sjosIg [00YdS 3IAUCHOH pue wopaal ay) ulyim pauoiodde Auadoid pey Aunod asiwebeinQ sieak 1sily ay) ale sieaA AAa7 8002 Pue £00Z dYL 910N

.mC_UCJOh 01 anp sjusuodwod o wns 0} _mjcw Jou 9jel xe} 19N x

€9ce ¥9'T 9z've LT°0 Ly Tt §8'6 o' €9°0 L1 9102 S10C
69'¢c 4 vi've LT°0 L9V 11 8’6 SE'8 650 9L'L S10¢C 102
veee EV'T L9°€C 910 484 68'T 96'8 vT'8 190 €5°L ¥102 €102
1Tee 8Y'T 85'€C 9T°0 95y 16T 26’8 €0'8 190 9€'L €102 [41014
99ce €T L6'€C LT°0 85y 08'1T 126 ST'8 190 8y, 2102 1102
§9ce €T §6'€C LT°0 €Sy 28’1 8€'6 508 ¥8'0 1L 1102 010C
TL'1¢ 0e'T T0'€e LT°0 v e€L'T SL'8 S6°L LL0 8T'L 010¢C 6002
80'TC - 8 - - - [4A] - - 0z'L 6002 8002

- - - - - - - - - - 8002 L00z

-8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 - 8 L002 9002
arey SHpaiy arey UISUODSIN Aunod JIAd omsia @ ored 1aIid  SJIAIBS ey Tesx Tesx
xe] xe] xe] 10 a1webeino Jjooyos uoa|ddy 198@ Jiseq uonoss|oy  Ane7
1N arers §s019 aels wopaal4 jo Ao ‘09

anfeA passassy J0 000'T$ Jod

10141S1d TOOHOS FTTNANOLIOH/ALNNOD INVOVLINO

29’1 V9’1 ST'ee LT0 Ly Tt v.'8 ov'8 €90 YAV 9T0C GTOC
G.'1¢C T ocee LT°0 19V 17T 06'8 Ge'8 650 9., GTOC 102
15822 ev'T ¥6'€C 9T'0 [4n74 68T €26 18 190 €5, 702 €70C
seee 8y'T cLee 9T'0 95y T6°T 90'6 €0'8 190 9g°L €70C 4104
522 €T G8'€C LT°0 85V 08T ST'6 ST'8 1290 8L ztoe TT0C
9z'ce €T 19°€C LT°0 €Sy 28T 006 S0'8 ¥8'0 1L 1102 0T0C
SsT'2e 0€'T S'ee LT°0 vy €L'T 6T°6 S6°L 110 8T'.L 0T0C 6002
SL'0C 9¢'T 1122 LT°0 LEY LT 062 96°L 9.0 0C'L 6002 800¢
T0°'TC 8C'1T Tece LT°0 €EY 69T 6T'8 €6°L 080 e€T’L 800¢ 1002
9Y'0C $ sTT $ €9TC $ LT0 $ ey $ S9T $ 88,L $ 89°L $ €L0 $ S69 $ 1002 9002
ey SNpain ey UISUOOSIM Auno) DI omsIa (@ o¥ed 19911g ERINES ey Tesx Teax
xe] xe ] xe] ) alwebeing jooyss uoa|ddy 192@ olseq uonoa||0D Ano
18N sreIS ss0I9 are1s wopaald J0 AuD ‘09

anfeA passassy J0 000'T$ Jod

1O141SId TO0HOS WOA3I3d4/ALNNOD FINVOVLINO

SleaA [edsld ua] ise’

(PanuUNU02) SINIWNYIAOD ONIAAYTIIAO ANV LOFHIA - STLVY XYL ALYIJOYd
NOL31ddV 40 ALID
L 9|npayss

Page 116



8¥'¢e
60'¢C
6T'EC
€e'eC
19°€C
€e'eC
0'¢c
99'1¢
€0'¢e
00ze $
aley
xe|
18N

JANAA
€eee
62'¢c
JANAA
Sy'ee
VA A4
80'1¢C
29'0¢
9'0¢C
8v'0¢ $
318y
xe|
18N

.mC_UCJOh 01 anp sjusuodwod o wns 0} _mjcw Jou 9jel xe} 19N x

ev'T
91
sz1
vZT
€21
zz1
12T
8e'T
62T
9T'T

SN
xe ]
arels

eV’
9¢'tT
S¢'tT
Vet
€t
et
LeT
8¢e'T
6¢'T
9T'T
Supaid
xe|
are1s

06°'€C
Ge'eC
e
JASR 44
v,.'ve
GS've
T€'€ee
€6'¢C
T€'€ee
LT€C $
318y
xe]
ss0I9

6L°€C
69°€C
¥9'€C
v'ee
19°€C
0L'€C
veee
00'¢e
26'1¢C
G9'1C $
318y
xe]
ss0I9

9.6
126
886
10T
[4A40)
60°0T
6€'6
206
8€'6
€96 $
nmsia
jooyss
LETEL ]

6€'8
SE'8
1178
66'L
0T'8
00'8
18°L
T6°L
96,
sLL  $

(p 2red 10311d

uoja|ddy
0 Aud

anfeA passassy J0 000'T$ Jod

10141SId TOOHOS VIHVY ATIIGNIN/ALNNOD LIANNTVO

LT'0 'y
LT'0 1074
9T'0 or'y
9T'0 8E'Y
LT'0 'y
LT'0 8v'y
LT°0 LTV
LT°0 €Ty
LT°0 1Ty
LT0 8 SOV $
UISUODSIM Aunod
Jo Jewne)
are1s
LT'0 'y
LT'0 1274
9T'0 or'y
9T'0 8E'Y
LT°0 v
LT°0 8v'v
LT'0 LTy
LT°0 €Ty
LT°0 1Ty
LT0 8 SOV $
UISUODSIM Aunod
Jo Jowne)
are1s

anfeA passassy J0 000'T$ Jod

S9'6
Sv'6
868
868
ST'6
26
s
608
66,
108 $
nmsia
jooyss
uola|ddy

6€'8
§e'8
7’8
66°L
0T'8
00'8
181
T6°L
96°L
SL'L $

(@ o¥ed 19911g

uoja|ddy
j0 Auo

SIea\ [edsi4 Ua] 1seq

10141SId TOOHIJS V34V NO131ddV/ALNNOD 13INNTVD

€90
650
090
99'0
99'0
€80
LL0
S.°0
080
€L0 $
ERITVETS
19ad
‘09

€90
650
090
99'0
99'0
€80
LL0
S.°0
080
€L0 $
ERITVETS
198
‘09

9L'L
9L'L
15°L
ee’L
L
LT°L
0T,
9T,
9T,
20°L
arey
alseg

9L'L
9L'L
152
e€e’L
'L
LT,
0T’
9T,
9T,
20°L
arey
alseg

(PanuUNU02) SINIWNYIAOD ONIAAYTIIAO ANV LOFHIA - STLVY XYL ALYIJOYd
NOL31ddV 40 ALID
L 9|npayss

910¢
S10C
102
€10¢
¢10¢
T10C
010¢C
600¢
800¢
L00¢
EEN
uonoal|oD

910¢
S10¢C
102
€10¢
¢10¢
T10C
0102
600¢
800¢
L00¢
EEN
uonoal|od

G102
7102
€10¢C
[4xor4
T10C
0102
6002
800¢
L002
9002
Tesx
AnaT

G102
7102
€10¢C
[4xr4
T10C
0102
6002
800¢
L002
9002
Tesx
AnaT

Page 117



"|dD 3y ur abueyd ayy snid ‘9z Jo wnwixew e 0} dn ‘anjea pazienba ui ymmolb jo abejuadiad auy} Jo %09 0} sainNpuadxa pun4 [eI1aua Jo YymoiB auys

sywi weiboid urensay ainypuadx3 ays ‘[esauab Ul sainpuadxa pun4 [e1auss JO YmolB ay) U SUONOLISSI UeLIdd 198W Jey) SJuaWuIaA0B [eao 03 Alenuue Asuow o [0od e sanqguIsip
‘welBoid wrensay ainypuadx3 sy YyBnoiyl ‘UISUOISIA JO S1RIS U ‘I0WIBYLNS “|dD 8y} Ul SaBueYD 10 SOUBMO|[e OU UlIM ‘UOONJISUOD MBU 18U S| UOIEHWI| JUBLIND 3Y1 ‘[eonuapl

10U yBnoy) ‘eaueuIpIO AAsT Xe) 8yl 01 sjoadsal Auew Ul Jejiuils SI Wi SIYL JUsWUIBA0B [90] JO SHuN |[e uo suonenw) AAs| pasoduwl UISUODISIA JO 81eIS 8yl TTOZ Ul urebe pue ‘2002
‘G00Z Ul ‘spJeme juelB awi) SUO pue SANUBABI MBU ‘S82IN0S Bulpuny JaY10 0} paliajsuel) SadIAISS 1oy pajsnipe ‘ymoib 1oy souemoje ue snid (1dD) Xapu| 8d1d Jlswnsuo) ays ui abueyd
10 81el 8y} 01 AAS| Xe) S,A1D 8Y) Ul 8SBaI0Ul B SHLWI| 8dURUIPIO AAST Xl 8yl /66T 9ouls AAs] AID [e101 au) Uo sjurensal sasodwi Tey) aoueulplo [edo] e pey sey uole|ddy jo AuD syl (T)

‘Buipuno. 0} anp sUaUOdWOod JO WNS 0} [enba 10U a1es Xel 19N «

972 65T ¥2'92 IT°0 87’ Tt 0€'TT 1€°8 €90 |79 9102 ST0Z
6E7T 1ET 9/°62 IT°0 vE'S TT 6.°0T Ge'8 650 9LL ST0Z ¥102
8672 9e'T 7€'92 IT0 or's 16T 7€0T 9’8 €90 €8°L ¥102 €102
1972 €T 66'G2 IT0 TS 16T 586 62'8 690 09°L €102 z102
Y02 62T v€'52 IT0 29'S 8LT L6 90'8 990 ov'L z102 1102
6.2 't 0292 8T°0 96'G 98'T 566 52’8 980 6€°L 1102 0102
6T€C ST 972 IT°0 8] LT 9€'6 98°L 9.0 0T'L 0102 6002
1922 59T 9Tz IT0 feioge] LT 288 00'8 9.0 el 6002 8002
1622 €9'T 1972 8T°0 €L°G 9T 89'8 9z'8 €80 Ev'L 8002 1002
SzeT ST $ 1172 $ 8T0 $ S5 ¢ vLT $ e $ 608 $ 9,0 $ €L $ 1002 9002
arey SHpaID arey UISUOISIM Ayunod JIAd PWSIa g orygeIid  9dIAIBS arey Tesk Tesx
xe] xe| xe] JO obeqgauuip |o0yos uola|ddy 1994 alseg uono’|0d Ana
18N arels SS019 arels eyseusay j0 Auo ‘09

anjeA passassy JO 000°T$ Jod

12141SId TOOHOS INIOC YHSYNIW/ALNNOD OOVIINNIM

1622 65T 9512 IT0 8Z'S zTT 296 1€8 €90 vl 9102 ST0Z
16°€2 IET 8z'ae IT0 ve's 1TT T€0T Ge'8 650 9L ST0Z v102
207z 9eT 1€°62 IT0 ov's 16T 1€°6 9v's €90 €8, v102 €102
vIve €T Sz IT0 LS 16T €6 62'8 690 092 €102 z10Z
£v'Ee 62T eLve IT0 29'S 8LT 0T'6 908 990 ov'L [4X0r4 1102
0Sve T 26°S2 8T0 96'S 98T 196 sz'8 980 6€°L 1102 0102
€222 ST 89°€2 IT0 vS'S LT ov'8 98, 9.0 (i 0102 6002
96°12 ST 19°€2 IT0 S9'S LT 118 00’8 9.0 vZL 6002 8002
8922 €9T e 8T0 €L'G 9T 62'8 9z'8 €80 el 8002 100z
orez $ ST $ 26€C $ 8T0 $ S8 ¢ vLT $ 9€8 ¢ 608 $ 9,0 $ €L $ 1002 9002
arey SHpaiD arey UISUOISIM Ayunod JIAd PWSId  orygeIid  9dIAIBS arey Tesk Tesx
xe| xe] xe| j0 obeqgauuip |00yds uola|ddy 19ea olseg uo1199]]10D Ana
19N o1e1S $s0I9 o1e1S uola|ddy j0 Aud ‘09

an[eA passassy 0 000'T$ J19d

1OI41SId TO0HOS VIYV NO13TddV/ALNNOD OOVIINNIM

SIea\ [edsid Ua] iseT

(panunUOD) SINFWNYIAOD ONIddVYTIIAO ANV LOIHIA - SALVY XVL ALYId0Hd
NO137ddV 40 ALID
L 3INpayds

Page 118



‘suonaIpsINl buixey ||e 01 spew SI uonNgUIU0d AJeJUN|oA Y "UuoeZIuenlIo [eulalel) e Se Jdwaxa Xel S| (Salde QT wnuixew) als 32140 sWoH (D)

‘Auadoud [euosiad Buipnpoul ‘Ajaanoadsal ‘008'S65'SOY'v'$ PUe 009 S8 T6. v'S 10 UoiTeneA passasse 900z pue GTOZ ‘T Arenuer [e101 s,A110 ay) uo paseq (g)

'SpJ09al S,10Ssassy AlD Jad (V)

Page 119

TviolL
v8'Y 00T'L6T'ETZ $ ) 00€'6¥0'0TE $
0T T€0 00G'0T.L'ET 3I01S |18y uewem
6 GE0 00€‘T29'ST juawdojana( aleisy [eay sanadold Jamoyuasig
8 1€0 00v'ce'9T s)|a4 Jaxewuaded/saulyoe [emsnpul solged YHOA/ OU| YUOA
€ €50 000'8€Z'€T "di0D Dayd
S 250 008'90.'22 Ge'0 00£°2€8'9T (o) DOUEINSU| SMOpPeSIN YLON/AUSALY |
L 6€0 00S‘TSE LT GE0 006'886'9T [210H (1910H A3jreA Jaded) sbuipjoH uole|ddy
9 0S50 00v'zee'ee 13740 00Z'/S8'6T s10npold Jaded YON (s1eded uois|ddy) -ou| ‘uoinddy
S0 00€'T8€'TZ semadold [euay 1yoekapue/d siuawiedy Ainxn apisiied
80 009'%9.1'22 [endsoH uola|ddy L dH
€90 00¥'80T'0E IUID [eJIPBN 19D ale) Aloreinquy uola|ddy yuoN
180 009'6T6'TY juswdojanaq areisy [eay doud uoibuisuayl/ Jamoyuasig/au| yueld
1 L0 000'€v8'ce 160 00L‘€EE'OY uswdojars( sleis [esy [e 10 saiadoid SIeluIM
2 850 006'€.¥'Ge 860 001'ST6'9Y saluadold [ejuay [e 12 1yBupn sewoy L
v 250 00€£'28.'22 86°0 006'Lt6'9Y $ uswdojenaq arels3 [esy sdysid [e 18 SueA3/ueWOH/3|1a13)d
Juey (a) EIIEIN () aneA (8) EIIEIN ) aneA ssaulsng Jo alnleN g
P9SSasSsSyY P9SSassy P9SSasSsyY P9sSsassy
[e1ol jo a|qexe] [e101 jo a|qexe]
Juadliad Juadliad
9002 ST0Z

101id SIesA SUIN pue JeaA 1ualin) ‘siakedxe] [edioulid
uolg|ddy jo A1D
8 8|Npayos



‘reak ay1 Buunp suoneiado pasead
Tey) sassauIsng Joj Saxe) Palda|iooun ayl yoeq abreyd Ajuo ued AnD ayl ‘gToz ul Buluuibag -1eaAk jusnbasgns sy ul suondipsunl asoys 01 oeq pabreyd si suondipsun|
Buiddepiano 01 sjgeingune saxel Juanbuiap ay) jo uoiiod ayl “Jeak sy Jo pus ay) Je saxel Auadoud [euosiad pa1dsljooun syuasaldal saxe) BuIPuBISINO JO JUNOWE By (v)

900 v.€'22 6'66 2/.1'S6E'8E 0'66 950'6%70'8€ ovT'8TY'8E ST0C
900 66.°TC 76°66 6ET'L16'LE 98°'86 ¥€5'99G°/¢€ 8£6'866'L€ ¥T0Z
.00 69T'L2 £6'66 2os'eee’Le 8/.°'86 1G8',08°9¢ T29'092'L€ €102
800 L0E'6C 2666 286°T8G'/€ 0586 126'/¥0°LE 682'TT9'/€ ¢10Z
S00 T/8'6T G666 GG9'v86°'9€ 2€'86 ¥6'28€'9¢€ 92S'700°L€ 1102
900 ToE'€T 76°66 LLE'TEE9E 8186 €T18'769'GE 8/9'75€'9E 0T0Z
.00 TOT've £6°'66 6.6'GCT'VE 1916 €V6'vSE'EE 080'0ST'VE 6002
900 2./2'1e 76°66 69G5°'98/'¢ 08,6 ¥52'G80'2¢E T¥8'208'2E 800¢
000 LT 00°00T 0.£'092'T€ 68,6 86T'T09°0E /8€'092'TE ,00¢
% S00 29GVT % G666 ¥65'v€'0€ $ % 866 €991/ '6¢ 9ST'65€'0€ 9002
AN 1UBLIND (v) SOXeL Ao Ie pa129||0D T 1Snbny ANST ICEIN
10 1U82Jad Se wanbuieg uaungd jo Jagwaoaq Jo se Ana7 J0 1UB2Jad uo |0y Jo xe| [elol uol1199||0D
saxe] 1uanbuijag Buipuelsino Jusdlad se Su01199]]10D lajsuel] o1 Jolid
Buipue1sino sSuo01199||0D [e1ol xe] [elo] Su01199]|10D

SNOILDITI0D ANV S3INTT XVL ALd3d0dd

SJesaA [edsi{ ua] 1se’]

NO1371ddV 40 ALID

6 dINpayds

Page 120



Schedule 10
City of Appleton
Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates

Outagamie Calumet Winnebago

City County County County

Direct Direct Direct Direct

Rate Rate Rate Rate Wisconsin
2006 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0 %
2007 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0
2008 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0
2009 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0
2010 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0
2011 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0
2012 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0
2013 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0
2014 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0
2015 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0

Note: Counties in Wisconsin have the option of levying a 0.5% sales tax but, to
date, none of the counties in which Appleton is located have chosen to do so.
Cities do not have the option of levying any sales tax.
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Fiscal
Year

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

Schedule 12
City of Appleton
General Obligation Debt

Percentage of

General Less Assets Total Actual Taxable

Obligation Restricted for Net Value of Per
Bonds @ Debt Service Debt Property ® Capita @
46,338,587 $  (4,987,410) $ 41,351,177 095 $ 574
43,670,325 (4,633,083) 39,037,242 0.85 541
48,311,298 (2,648,853) 45,662,445 0.97 632
47,460,343 (2,570,018) 44,890,325 0.94 620
40,697,339 (2,342,787) 38,354,552 0.79 528
33,668,047 (1,972,070) 31,695,977 0.66 436
33,305,000 (2,320,132) 30,984,868 0.67 426
27,730,000 (1,503,052) 26,226,948 0.57 359
30,110,000 (1,703,173) 28,406,827 0.60 387
31,535,000 (1,695,673) 29,839,327 0.62 405

(@ Includes general obligation debt for business-type activities (see table 11).
Details on the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the
financial statements.

(@) see Schedule 6 for property value data.
() See Schedule 16 for population data.
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BAKER TILLY

Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
Ten Terrace Ct, PO Box 7398
Madison, WI 53707-7398

tel 608 249 6622

fax 608 249 8532

bakertilly.com

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the Common Council

City of Appleton

Appleton, Wisconsin

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Appleton, Wisconsin as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Appleton’s basic
financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated May 27, 2016.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Appleton’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Appleton’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Appleton’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

&‘“’) an independent member of
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To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the Common Council
City of Appleton

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Appleton’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of
our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing

Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Bk Tlly vichro brawse, . f

Madison, Wisconsin
May 27, 2016
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR THE MAJOR FEDERAL AND THE MAJOR STATE PROGRAM
AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE;

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the Common Council

City of Appleton

Appleton, Wisconsin

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal and the Major State Program

We have audited the City of Appleton, Wisconsin’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the State Single Audit Guidelines that could have a direct
and material effect on the City of Appleton’s major federal and major state program for the year ended
December, 31, 2015. The City of Appleton’s major federal and major state programs are identified in the
summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’'s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal and state statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal and state awards applicable to its federal and state programs.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the City of Appleton’s major federal and major
state program based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America;
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards
(Uniform Guidance); and the State Single Audit Guidelines. Those standards, the Uniform Guidance, and the
State Single Audit Guidelines require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct
and material effect on a major federal or major state program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence about the City of Appleton’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

&‘“’) an independent member of
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To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the Common Council
City of Appleton

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal and
the major state program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Appleton’s
compliance.

Opinion on the Major Federal and the Major State Program

In our opinion, the City of Appleton complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal and major state
programs for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the City of Appleton is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over compliance with the types of requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of
compliance, we considered the City of Appleton’s internal control over compliance with the types of
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal or major state program to
determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on compliance for each major federal and major state program and to test and report on internal control
over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and the State Single Audit Guidelines, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Appleton’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
or state program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal or state program will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal or state program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist
that have not been identified.

Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of

internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance and the State Single Audit Guidelines. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Bk fgx_ Vichno biawde, (P

Madison, Wisconsin
May 27, 2016
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CITY OF APPLETON

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Passed
Federal Passed Through
CFDA Through Total to Other
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program Title Number Agency Expenditures Agencies
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Urban and Community Forestry Program 10.675 DNR $ 25,000 $ -
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Community Development Block Grant/Entitlement Program (CDBG)
Entitlement Program 14.218 Direct 470,646 264,909
Program Income 14.218 Direct 274,249 -
Total Community Development Block Grant/Entitlement Program (CDBG) 744,895 264,909
Emergency Solutions Grant Program (ESG) 14.231 DOA 269,963 257,175
Supportive Housing Program (SHP) 14.235 DOA 254,587 239,358
Total U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 1,269,445 761,442
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.607 Direct 9,292 -
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant 2013 16.738 Direct 11,611 11,611
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant 2015 16.738 Direct 12,273 1,495
Total Edward Byrne Justice Assistance Grant 23,884 13,106
Total U.S. Department of Justice 33,176 13,106
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Federal Transit Formula Grants 2014 20.507 Direct 317,583 -
Federal Transit Formula Grants 2015 20.507 Direct 2,095,426 -
Total Federal Transit Formula Grants 2,413,009 -
State Planning and Research 20.515 DOT 379 -
Section 5310 - Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities 20.513 Direct 68,315 -
State and Community Highway Safety
Speed Enforcement 2015 20.600 DOT 10,000 -
Bicycle Enforcement 2015 20.600 DOT 2,000 -
Pedestrian Enforcement 2015 20.600 DOT 2,000 -
Total State and Community Highway Safety 14,000 -
Total U.S. Department of Transportation 2,495,703 -
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
Refugee and Entrant Assistance 93.566 DCF 13,482 -
ARRA Immunizations and Vaccines 93.712 DHS 27,272 -
Preventative Health and Health Services Block Grant 93.991 DHS 7,139 -
Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grant 93.994 DHS 39,632 -
Hospital Preparedness Program (HPP) and Public Health Emergency
Preparedness (PHEP) Aligned Cooperative Agreement 93.074 DHS 59,569 -
Project Grants Cooperative Agreement for Tuberculosis for
Control Programs 93.116 DHS 25 -
Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 147,119 -
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY
Office of Justice Assistance
Assistance to Firefighters Grant Program - EMW - 2014 97.044 DOA 14,027 -
TOTAL FEDERAL AWARDS $ 3,984,470 $ 774,548

See accompanying notes to schedules of federal and state awards.
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CITY OF APPLETON

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF STATE AWARDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Passed
State Through
1.D. Total to Other
State Grantor/Program Title Number Expenditures Agencies
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Transit Operating Aids 395.104 $ 2,490,364 $
Paratransit Aids Through 85.205 395.104 108,584
Total Wisconsin Department of Transportation 2,598,948
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES
Lead Poisoning 435.157720 9,414
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY AFFAIRS
Regional Emergency Response Team 1/1/15-12/31/15 465.306 22,538
Radiological Field Team Services 465.306 24,999
Total Wisconsin Department of Military Affairs 47,537
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION
Uniform BEAT Patrol Officers 505.620 121,434
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
Law Enforcement Training Fund - Local Assistance Program 455,231 2,056

TOTAL STATE AWARDS

$ 2,779389 $

See accompanying notes to schedules of federal and state awards.
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CITY OF APPLETON

NOTES TO SCHEDULES OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AND STATE AWARDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

NOTE 1 — BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards (the “schedule”) includes the
federal and state award activity of the City of Appleton under programs of the federal and state
government for the year ended December 31, 2015. The information in this schedule is presented in
accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance) and the State Single Audit Guidelines. Because the schedule presents only a selected portion
of the operations of the City of Appleton, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position,
changes in net position or cash flows of the City of Appleton.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the schedule are reported on the accrual or modified accrual basis of
accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.
Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available.

The underlying accounting records for some grant programs are maintained on the modified accrual basis
of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e.,
both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures are recorded when the liability is
incurred. The accounting records for other grant programs are maintained on the accrual basis, i.e., when
the revenue has been earned and the liability is incurred.

NOTE 3 — PASS-THROUGH AGENCIES

The City of Appleton received federal awards from the following pass-through agencies:

DHS Department of Health Services

DCF Department of Children and Families
DOA Department of Administration

DOT Department of Transportation

DNR Department of Natural Resources

NOTE 4 — CARS REPORT DATES

The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards includes adjustments through the following
Community Aids Reporting System (CARS) reports:

Agency Number Date
449983 3-1-2016

NOTE 5 — INDIRECT COST RATE

The City of Appleton has elected to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate of the Uniform Guidance.
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CITY OF APPLETON

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

SECTION | — SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Type of auditors’ report issued: unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

> Material weakness identified? yes X no
> Significant deficiencies identified that
are not considered to be material
weaknesses? yes X none reported
Noncompliance material to basic financial
statements noted? yes X no
FEDERAL OR STATE AWARDS
Internal control over major programs:
Federal Programs State Programs
> Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no yes X ho
> Significant deficiencies identified that are
not considered to be material none none
weakness(es)? yes  x reported yes x reported
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs: unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to
be reported in accordance with section 516(a) of
the Uniform Guidance? yes X no
Federal Programs State Programs
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X yes no X yes no

Identification of major federal programs:

CFDA Number

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

20.507 Federal Transit Formula Grants
Federal State
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
type A and type B programs: $ 750,000 $ 250,000
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CITY OF APPLETON

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

SECTION | — SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS (cont.)

FEDERAL OR STATE AWARDS (cont.)
Identification of major state programs:

State Number Name of State Program

395.104 Transit Operating Aids

SECTION Il — FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

No findings were reported.

SECTION IIl — FEDERAL AND STATE FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

No findings were reported.
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CITY OF APPLETON

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

SECTION IV — OTHER ISSUES

1. Does the auditor’s report or the notes to the
financial statements include disclosure with
regard to substantial doubt as to the
auditee’s ability to continue as a going
concern? Yes X no

2. Does the audit report show audit issues (i.e.,
material non-compliance, non-material non-
compliance, questioned costs, material
weakness, significant deficiency,
management letter comment, excess
revenue or excess reserve) related to
grants/contracts with funding agencies that
require audits to be in accordance with the
State Single Audit Guidelines:

Department of Health Services Yes X no
Department of Administration Yes X no
Department of Transportation Yes X no
Department of Justice Yes X no
Department of Military Affairs Yes X no

3. Was a Management Letter or other
document conveying audit comments issued
as a result of this audit? Yes X no

4. Name and signature of partner /)M %’
L

Carla A. Gogin, CPA, Partner

5. Date of report May 27, 2016
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CITY OF APPLETON

SETTLEMENT OF DHS COST REIMBURSEMENT AWARD
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

DHS identification number
Award amount

Award period
Period of award within audit period

Expenditures reported to DHS for payment

Actual allowable cost of reward
Program expenses
Grants and other assistance to individuals in the US
Other salaries and wages
Other program expenses (supplies, training, etc.)
Total Program Expenses

Less: Program revenue and other offsets to costs*

Total Allowable Costs

Childhood Lead

Immunization

CARS profile 157720
9,414
1/1/15 - 12/31/15
1/1/15 - 12/31/15

CARS profile 155020
27,408
1/1/15 - 12/31/15
1/1/15 - 12/31/15

$ 9414 $ 27,272
$ - $ 2,642
9,287 17,008

127 7,622

9,414 27,272

$ 9414 $ 27,272

* - Other offsets to costs consist of revenues related to the cost of services provided by the City of Appleton to other

municipalities and counties for administration of the bioterrorism grants.
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Maternal Child Health Preventative Health Bioterrorism

CARS profile 159320 CARS profile 159220 CARS profile 155050 CARS profile 155015 CARS profile 155015

40,976 7,139 1,325 56,327 56,768
1/1/15 - 12/31/15 10/01/13-9/30/15 7/1/14 - 6/30/15 7/1/14 - 6/30/15 7/1/15-6/30/16 Total
1/1/15 - 12/31/15 1/1/15-9/30/15 1/1/15-6/30/15 1/1/15-6/30/15 7/1/15-12/31/15 Bioterrorism
39,632 $ 7139 $ 976 $ 42244 $ 28,384 $ 71,604
1,175 $ 243 $ - $ - % - $ -
36,972 - - 59,075 45,596 104,671
1,485 6,196 976 1,035 5,047 7,058
39,632 7,139 976 60,110 50,643 111,729
- - - (30,026) (22,134) (52,160)
39,632 $ 7139 $ 976 $ 30,084 $ 28,509 $ 59,569
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